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OUR MISSION

Healthcare with compassion for all

OUR VISION

To be the region’s leader by providing quality
healthcare services

OUR VALUES

Compassion, Commitment, Teamwork,
Quality, Respect and Accountability

OUR STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES

Physician partnership and enhanced
clinical quality

Provide seamless/easy access care
delivery

Financial strength/viability

Strategic growth







FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

PROFIT
ACHIEVED

Rs. 2,329

Million

CONTRIBUTION
TO NATIONAL
EXCHEQUER

Rs. 4,571

Million

DEBT:EQUITY
RATIO

11:89

6 Shifa International Hospitals Limited

TOTAL
ASSETS

Rs. 21,451

Million

SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY

Rs. 14,507

Million

EARNINGS
PER SHARE

Rs. 56.84




CASH
DIVIDEND

507

INCREASE
IN NET

REVENUE

18.77%

DIVIDEND
PAYOUT

15.6%
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Dr. Habib Ur Rahman

Chairman

Dr. Habib Ur Rahman is also serving as Director on the Boards of
following Shifa International Hospitals Group companies:

+ Shifa CARE (Private) Limited

- Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited

- Shifa Medical Center Islamabad (Private) Limited

- Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited

Dr. Habib Ur Rahman graduated from King Edward Medical
College. Hereceived hisinternal medicine training at D. C. General
Hospital, Howard University, Washington D.C. and Wayne State
University, Detroit, Michigan and Wright State University, Dayton
Ohio. He completed his fellowship of Cardiovascular Disease
from Mount Sinai Hospital, University of Connecticut, Hartford,
Connecticut. He is Board Certified by American Board of Internal
Medicine and also American Board of Cardiovascular Diseases.
He has extensive experience in cardiology as well as in education,
training and management. He has been Consultant Cardiologist
and Head of Cardiology at Graham Hospital, Canton, lllinois and
later at Byrd Regional Hospital at Leesville, Louisiana in USA.
In addition to teaching experience in Wright State University,
Connecticut he is presently member of the Senate of Shifa
Tameer-e-Millat University. He has been member of different
scientific councils and committees including Pakistan Lifesavers
Foundation, Pakistan Cardiac Society and Faculty of Cardiology,
College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan. He is among the
founding members of Shifa International Hospital and Shifa
Foundation.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque is an accomplished healthcare leader
with a rich background in healthcare management, quality
assurance, and corporate leadership. He currently serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of Shifa International Hospitals, a 500-
bed, JCl-accredited multispecialty facility.

Throughout his career, Dr. Zeeshan has made notable
contributions to the society at large. He actively contributes to
various international bodies, national clusters, and policymaking
forums, championing improved healthcare quality. His
involvement with Shifa Foundation and projects in collaboration
with the United Nations underscores his commitment to
societal betterment. Furthermore, he has been deeply engaged
with several government and non government organizations,

demonstrating his dedication to uplift communities.

Prior to his current role, Dr. Zeeshan served as the Chief Medical
Officer, where he consistently raised the healthcare standards,
provided strategic leadership, fostered a culture of excellence,
and ensured strict compliance with international standards and
regulations.

His global influence is also evident in his role as an International
Physician Surveyor and Team Lead for Joint Commission
International. With his expertise, he has conducted surveys in
nearly 50 countries, making a significant impact on healthcare
services and Patient safety worldwide.

Dr. Zeeshan earned his MBBS from Nishtar Medical College
Multan, Pakistan, in 2005. He later pursued an MD in 2009 and
a DCPS-Healthcare Systems Management degree in 2011. He is
recognized as a Fellow of the American College of Healthcare
Executives, a Fellow of the American Board of Quality Assurance
and Utilization Review Physicians, and holds the distinction of
being a Certified Professional in Healthcare Quality



Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi
Non-Executive Director

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi is serving as Director on the Boards of
following Shifa International Hospitals Group companies:

- Shifa Medical Center Islamabad (Private) Limited
- Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi is a founding member of Shifa International
Hospital and has been a board member since its inception.
He was appointed as Chief Executive of the company on 10th
October 2011 and remained the Chief Executive till March 30,
2023. He received his medical degree from King Edward Medical
College Lahore. Later he was trained in USA at Little Company
of Mary Hospital in Chicago and Flushing Hospital in New York
for Internal Medicine and later in Louisiana State University
for Cardiology. He is Board certified in Internal Medicine and
Cardiology from American Board of Internal Medicine and
Cardiology. He has an extensive experience of practice of
cardiology as well as administration and management. He
was Consultant Cardiologist and President Medical Staff at
Byrd Regional Hospital, Leesville, Louisiana for several years.
He has also served as President of local chapter of American
Heart Association and State Medical Society. He previously
has been fellow American College of Cardiology, American
Chest Physician and American Board of Quality Assurance and
Utilization Review for Physicians. He was actively involved in
the initial planning and founding stages of Shifa and later on in
the management of the Hospital and has been Medical Director
of Shifa International Hospitals Limited since its conception,
through planning and implementation until when he accepted
the position of Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Qazi retired from
the office of Chief Executive Officer on March 30, 2023 and is
now working as a Director of the Company. He is also member
BOG of Shifa Foundation, a non-profit organization involved in
healthcare for poor and medical education.

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad

Vice Chairman

Mr. Qasim Faroog Ahmad is also serving as Director on the Board of

- Shifa CARE (Private) Limited
+ SIHT (Private) Limited

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad brings young blood and new
dimension to the Board of Shifa International Hospitals. He did
his Bachelor of Science in Information Systems and Bachelors
of Arts in Economics from Stony Brook University, Stony
Brook NY. He furthered his education with a Master of Science
degree in Computer Science from Columbia University, New
York, in 2007. He has over 20 years of diverse experience in the
technology sector focusing on production systems engineering
with a strong background in software engineering. This includes
7 years of extensive experience working with high volume
financial and reporting applications for companies on Wall
Street such as Lehman Brothers and Barclays Capital. Current
major responsibilities include change management, incident
management, performance planning, capacity planning,
business continuity planning and disaster recovery, Sarbanes
Oxley compliance and vendor management for all Fund Systems
which includes the Front, Middle and Back Office applications.
His previous experiences as the lead developer for the NYC
Law Department include analysis, design, development and
implementation of different technical projects.
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Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad
Non-Executive Director

Dr. Samea Kausar Ahmad is also serving as Director on the Board
of:

- Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited
- Shifa Medical Center Islamabad (Private) Limited
- Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited

Dr. Samea is a graduate of Ayub Medical College, Abbottabad.
She joined the Board in 2011 and has been helpful in guiding the
Board and the administration towards the future direction of the
corporation. She has been serving as the Vice Chairperson of
Tameere-Millat Foundation (TMF) for the past 10 years. Greatly
inspired and influenced by the philanthropic work of her father,
Dr. Zaheer Ahmad, she was determined to carry on the vision
and legacy laid down by him. As Vice Chairperson, Dr. Samea
governs the running and management of over 50 educational
institutions in the TMF network, all across Pakistan. In addition,
Dr. Samea also serves as a member of the Senate of the federally
registered Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

Syed llyas Ahmed

Non-Executive Director

Syed llyas Ahmed has a long and illustrious career spanning over
45 years in healthcare management and its implementation. He
has served in different capacities; Secretary, Scientific Governing
Board and Head of Administration in Salahuddin University
Hospital, Tripoli, Libya. After returning to Pakistan, he joined
The Kidney Center, Karachi as its Chief Executive (1993 - 2000).
Later he proceeded to Islamabad in Shifa International Hospitals
Ltd and accepted the post of Chief Operating Officer (2001 -
2005). At present he is Chief Advisor Operations at Tabba Heart
Institute, Karachi. During his phenomenal professional tenure,
he successfully managed premier healthcare facilities, both in
Pakistan and abroad. His acumen includes but not limited to,
strategic planning, policies and procedures, budgeting and fiscal
control, human resource, public relations and quality assurance
management. He introduced ISO Quality Management System
in Pakistan for the first time in 1995 and is known as Baba-e-ISO
in quality conscious circles in Pakistan. Mr. Ahmed, during his
university days was a Badminton Champion and accomplished
Debater, Gymkhana Secretary and Magazine Editor of University
of Karachi (1968-72). He was President of Sind Pharmacy
Graduates Association (1970-72). He plays golf and has a refined
taste in literature and shows keen interest in a wide range of
aesthetic disciplines including culture and history.



Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari

Independent Director

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari is also serving as Director on the
Board of SIHT (Private) Limited.

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari graduated from the Punjab
University, Department of Pharmaceutical Science. He went
for his postgraduate studies at Columbia University, New York
City, USA and was granted a full talent scholarship. He has a very
rich and illustrious career spanning over forty years both State
side and upon his return to Pakistan. After the completion of
his studies, he joined Mt. Sinai Hospital and School of Medicine,
New York City for the internship and training program. He
served there in different administrative capacities for about
eighteen years. He returned Pakistan in 1988 and joined Shifa
International Hospitals Limited from its inception and was
assigned different roles such as Director Operations during the
construction phase and Chief Operative Officer and Chief of
Special Services once in operations. He was instrumental along
with the other members in the establishment of Shifa College
of Medicine in 1988 under the aegis of Shifa Foundation and
became its first Chief Operating Officer. After the establishment
of Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University in March 2012 he served at
different administrative positions at STMU. He is a member of
American Hospital Association and also the “Rho Chi” Honor
Society, Columbia University, New York City, USA. He also served
on the board of International School of Islamabad as a member
and then as the Board Chair for a few years. He also has the
honor and privilege of serving on the Board of Shifa International
Hospitals Limited, Islamabad.

Dr. loan Philippe Cleaton-Jones
Non-Executive Director

loan P. Cleaton-Jones is the Senior Director for Healthcare Delivery
at the William Davidson Institute at the University of Michigan, USA.
His work includes training and mentoring C-suite and other senior
healthcare executives in emerging markets to equip them with
tools for commercial success. He also advises financial institutions

investing in private healthcare in emerging markets.

loan also serves as Director on board of Grupo OSME, a privately
owned healthcare provider in Northern Mexico.

During his 30-year international career in healthcare, he has worked
on predominantly private sector healthcare projects and investments
in 35 countries on 5 continents, including 29 emerging markets. As an
institutional investor and transaction adviser, he has invested USD1.4
billion invested in emerging market private healthcare. He has been
an invited speaker on investing in emerging market healthcare at
numerous international conferences. He has also been an invited
guest lecturer at the University of Michigan's Schools of Business,
Medicine, and Public Health as well as Columbia University's School
of Public Health.

As an independent consultant and investor, loan advised a New
York hedge fund on strategic investments in biotechnology,
pharmaceuticals, medical devices and healthcare IT. Furthermore,
his strategic advisory roles with organizations such as a major U.S.
managed care company, the Inter-American Development Bank, IDB
Invest, the African Development Bank, and The Global Fund to Fight
AIDS, TB, and Malaria, highlight his versatility in addressing diverse
healthcare challenges.

He served as Principal Healthcare Specialist at the World Bank
Group's International Finance Corporation (IFC) where he spent
eleven years. Prior to IFC, he worked internationally as a healthcare-
focused management consultant with Shift Health in Canada, KPMG
in South Africa and Angle Technology in the UK. Earlier in his career,
he practiced medicine, mostly as an emergency room physician, at
hospitals in South Africa and the UK.

He holds an MBA from the University of Southampton, UK as well as
BSc and MBBCh degrees from the University of the Witwatersrand,
South Africa.
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Mr. Shah Naveed Saeed

Independent Director

Mr. Shah Naveed Saeed is a seasoned professional with over 30
years of experience in the fields of accounting, auditing, and
financial management. His extensive educational background
includes a range of prestigious qualifications: Chartered Global
Management Accountant from the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (2012), Certified Public Accountant from the
University of lllinois (1985), and Chartered Accountancy from
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (1980). He
also holds a certificate in Advanced Accounting & Auditing from
DePaul University, Chicago (1984)

Currently, Mr. Saeed serves as the Managing Partner at Naveed
Zafar Ashfaq Jaffery & Co., Chartered Accountants, located in
Islamabad. This firm is a member of Prime Global, an international
association of independent accounting firms.

Mr. Saeed's career includes a notable tenure with the World Bank,
where he worked as a Senior Financial Management Consultant
in the Pakistan Country Office for over 20 years. This role allowed
him to gain substantial experience in Public Financial Management
(PFM), contributing to various significant projects and reforms.

He has also served as a director on the board of Shifa International
Hospitals Limited from 29.03.2010 to 27.04.2018 and from
28.05.2018 to 14.05.2019.

He holds memberships in several prestigious professional bodies.
He is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan (ICAP) and a Chartered Global Management Accountant
affiliated with CIMA/AICPA. He has previously served on the Public
Sector and Technical Advisory Committees of ICAP and is a past
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and ISACA, USA.

Mr. Saeed has attended numerous training courses offered by
ICAP, AICPA, LUMS, and other international institutes. These
courses cover diverse areas such as financial management,
business process re-engineering, change management, risk-
based audits, forensic accounting, procurement audits, and
various international standards including IAS and IFRSs.

His core competencies are vast and varied. He possesses in-
depth knowledge of International Standards on Auditing (ISAs),
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), IPSASs,
INTOSAI Auditing Standards, and US Governmental Auditing
Standards. Mr. Saeed has developed Financial Management
Systems and Reporting Manuals for both public and private
sector entities. His expertise extends to designing and reviewing
accounting and costing systems, policy development, and

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

implementation, including
operating procedures.

risk management and standard

In his role, he has provided guidance to the heads of internal
audit for various clients, focusing on internal audit along with
information technology-related controls for the COSO framework
and application security. He has managed IT internal audits, the IT
controls environment, and IT facilities and equipment procurement
processes, providing recommendations for improvement.

Mr. Saeed is responsible for delivering comprehensive audit and
assurance services, including independent audits of international
non-profit entities, UNDP projects, and other multi-donor agency-
funded initiatives both in Pakistan and abroad. He has conducted
corporate fraud investigations for regulators and performed pre-
award assessments for prospective grant recipients under the
USAID Pakistan program.

Additionally, he has developed computerized models for
decommissioning cost provisioning and conducted related
studies for petroleum clients. As an engagement partner, he has
overseen independent audits of funds and grants provided by
multi-donor agencies.

His extensive experience in PFM includes working as an accredited
Financial Management Consultant with the World Bank since 1998.
He has been a part of the core team for the 'Tax Base Expansion’
study of Sindh Sales Tax on Services, including the preparation
of audit and HR manuals and IT assessments. Mr. Saeed has
evaluated PFM reforms and conducted PEFA assessments for
various government entities.

He has also served on the Pakistan CFAA committee, responsible
for reviewing and finalizing assessment reports. His expertise in
public sector accounting and auditing standards includes updating
gap analysis reports in compliance with IPSAS and INTOSAI.

Moreover, Mr. Saeed has provided financial advisory services,
including financial modeling and company formation. He has
conducted training programs on IFRS, IAS, and ISAs within his firm
and for various multinational clients, with a strong emphasis on
quality control. He has also served as an independent director
and chairman of the internal audit committee of a public listed
company in the healthcare sector.

Shah Naveed Saeed's rich professional journey, marked by
significant achievements and contributions, highlights his
profound expertise and dedication to the fields of accounting and
financial management.



Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan

Independent Director

Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan is a graduate of Khyber Medical
College, Peshawar. He completed his training in radiation
oncology in the United Kingdom and later worked there as a
senior registrar and as a lecturer at the University of Newcastle
upon Tyne. After working briefly as a radiation oncologist in
Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, he moved to Canada. There he worked for
over twelve years as a consultant radiation oncologist at the Allan
Blair Cancer Centre, Regina, and as an assistant professor in the
College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon.

He returned to Pakistan in 1998 with over twenty-five years of
experience overseas and joined Shifa International Hospital
during its formative years. At Shifa, in addition to working as a
radiation oncologist and as an assistant and associate professor
at Shifa College of Medicine, he held several other major
administrative positions. He served as a director on the board
of Shifa international Hospital for nine years and as a medical
director of the hospital for over six years. Shifa International
Hospital got its first accreditation with the Joint Commission
International USA during this time.

Dr Salim khan has also served as a director on the board of Shifa

Foundation for several years.

He retired from active medical practice in January 2020.

Mr. Taimoor Shah

Executive Director

Taimoor Shah is a seasoned healthcare and technology leader
with a robust background in engineering. Currently serving as the
Chief Operating Officer of Shifa International Hospitals Limited
and Director of SIHT (Pvt.) Limited (eShifa), Taimoor is at the
forefront of transforming healthcare delivery through innovation
and strategic leadership. His extensive experience, including
global consultancy with Joint Commission International (JCI),
enables him to merge technology and healthcare quality, driving
impactful results across diverse regions.

Taimoor's journey began in academia, where he served as
a Teaching Assistant in Computer Hardware Design at the
University of South Australia. His passion for innovation led him
to work as a Research Engineer, where he developed advanced
in-vivo imaging technologies. He further enhanced his technical
expertise with roles at Motorola Mobility and Sydac Pty Ltd,
specializing in software development and project management.

In 2010, Taimoor transitioned to the healthcare sector as a
Project Manager and Consultant at Lifelong Education, where
he led projects that improved hospital operations and ensured
ISO compliance. He joined Shifa International Hospitals in 2012
as Associate Director of Quality Assurance, playing a pivotal role
in the hospital's successful JCI accreditation and launching key
quality improvement initiatives.

By 2019, Taimoor had risen to Chief Operating Officer, overseeing
operations and spearheading technology-driven strategies that
align with business goals. As Executive Director of eShifa, he has
led the platform’'s growth, making it a leader in telehealth and
home healthcare services.

Taimoor holds a Master's in Engineering Management and a
Bachelor's in Engineering (Computer Systems). He is a Project
Management Professional (PMP), a Certified Professional in
Healthcare Quality, and a Fellow of the American College of
Healthcare Executives. His leadership extends to serving on the
Board of Governors at Shifa Foundation and additionally serving
as nominee director and chairman of Shifa Development Services
(Pvt.) Limited, a subsidiary company of Shifa International
Hospitals Limited.
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Despite continuing
economic pressures and a
healthcare environment that
remains complex, Shifa has
delivered consistent results.
Our ability to maintain
performance in such times
reflects the strength of our
systems and the dedication
of our people.




CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW

As | write to you once again, | do so with a profound sense
of gratitude and satisfaction. The year under review has
been a period of both challenges and achievements for
Shifa International Hospitals Limited. It has reminded us
once again that resilience, innovation, and an unwavering
commitment to quality are not just values we speak of -
they are the principles that define us.

Despite continuing economic pressures and a healthcare
environment that remains complex, Shifa has delivered
consistent results. Our ability to maintain performance
in such times reflects the strength of our systems and
the dedication of our people. | wish to acknowledge,
with deep appreciation, the tireless efforts of our
doctors, nurses, and support staff. Their compassion and
professionalism allow us to provide exceptional patient
care. They remain the bedrock of our reputation and the
true drivers of our success.

This year, we made important progress in the digitization
of healthcare services. Digital tools are transforming
the way we operate and the way patients experience
healthcare. From electronic medical records to diagnostic
support and operational efficiency, technology is helping
us enhance safety, reliability, and accessibility. The
adoption of digitization is not only modernizing patient
services but also preparing Shifa for the healthcare
landscape of the future.

At the same time, we remain fully committed to
protecting the interests of our shareholders and other
stakeholders. Every decision we make is guided by
prudence, responsibility, and a clear focus on long-
term value creation. By investing wisely and operating
efficiently, we continue to strengthen our position in
Pakistan's healthcare sector and safeguard the trust
placedin us.

Environmental responsibility also remains close to our
hearts. Climate change is both a national as well as a
global challenge, demanding urgent collective action. At
Shifa, we have been steadily adopting energy efficiency
and environmentally responsible practices across our
operations. These steps may appear small individually,
but together they help reduce risks, cut costs, and make
a meaningful contribution to the world we will leave for
future generations. We all are witnessing with heavy
hearts the environmental havoc across Pakistan. The
loss of lives, shelters, livelihoods, flora, and fauna is
heartbreaking, and a stark reminder of the urgent need
for national action to mitigate such threats in the future.

Looking ahead, we must also recognize the immense
opportunity that lies before us. With growing healthcare
expertise and human resource, Pakistan has the potential
to become a hub of medical tourism in the region. Our
doctors, facilities, and services can attract patients
from across borders who seek quality care at affordable
costs. At Shifa, we are already focusing on this area with
dedication. We believe the outcomes of these efforts will
be both encouraging and productive, contributing to the
economy while strengthening Pakistan's position as a
regional center for healthcare excellence.

And not the least, this year also saw our nation tested by
war with India. We bow our heads before Allah Almighty
for guiding Pakistan to stand firm and ultimately return as
a united and triumphant nation. The courage and resolve
of our people and forces remain a source of pride for
every Pakistani. As a healthcare institution, we reaffirm
our readiness to stand shoulder to shoulder with the
government and the armed forces in any emergency or
national service. Serving our people in times of need is
not only our duty but also an honor.

As we consider the future, | remain optimistic. Our strong
governance framework, a capable leadership team, and
the continued support of our community give us the
confidence to move forward with clarity and purpose. We
will continue to push boundaries, embrace innovation,
and strengthen our culture of excellence. Above all,
we will remain faithful to our mission of delivering
compassionate, world-class healthcare to the people of
Pakistan.

On behalf of the Board, | extend heartfelt thanks to
our shareholders, partners, consultants, employees,
patients, and their families. Your support is our greatest
source of strength. May Allah Kareem bless our efforts
and guide us in our mission to advance healthcare in the
region.

Long Live Pakistan!

IO N RN
DR. HABIB UR RAHMAN

Chairman

Islamabad
September 30, 2025
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This year has been one of
meaningful milestones.

Our financial performance,
as detailed in this report,
continues to show

steady and consistent
growth. The safeguarding
and strengthening of
shareholders’ equity remain
at the heart of our mission,
and the stability of our share
price is a visible reassurance
of this commitment.



CEO’S MESSAGE

It is with immense gratitude and humility that | present
this message as the Chief Executive Officer of Shifa
International Hospitals Limited. The Directors' Report and
Financial Statements for the year under review, which
follow, will provide you with the details of our performance.
What | wish to share here are my reflections on the year
gone by and the road that lies ahead.

This year has been one of meaningful milestones. Our
financial performance, as detailed in this report, continues
to show steady and consistent growth. The safeguarding
and strengthening of shareholders' equity remain at the
heart of our mission, and the stability of our share price is
a visible reassurance of this commitment. In a time when
markets have been volatile and uncertainty has been the
norm, "SHFA" has remained steady. This stability is not
accidental. It is the outcome of prudent management,
disciplined decision-making, and an unwavering dedication
to the trust our shareholders place in us.

The progress on Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad is not
only a soon-to-realize expansion in geography but also
in spirit. It represents our determination to take quality
healthcare across Pakistan, to extend the legacy of Shifa
beyond the capital, and to provide families in central
Punjab with the same excellence and compassion that
has become synonymous with our name. Expansions, to
me, are not merely additions of bricks and mortar; they are
reflections of our resolve to extend care, compassion, and
excellence to wider communities.

Likewise, on Shifa Medical Center Islamabad, we are in
the preparatory phase, laying the groundwork following
the approval of our esteemed shareholders for its full
acquisition. While thisisajourney that will unfold over time,
it does reflect continuity of our vision to strengthen Shifa's
footprint thoughtfully and sustainably. This initiative,
when realized, will not stand in isolation. It will be another
step in the continuum of Shifa's growth, positioning us for
long-term leadership in quality healthcare delivery.

Beyond the numbers, we are we are also reimagining how
we work. And how we think and act as an enterprise. Over
the past year specifically, we have laid the foundations
for a decision-making approach that is enterprise-wide,
integrated, and future-focused. This is not just about
efficiency, though efficiency is a natural outcome. It is
about ensuring that our resources are allocated wisely,
that our teams are empowered, and that our growth is
sustainable. It is about creating an organization where
ideas can travel across boundaries, where innovation is
embraced, and where every decision strengthens the
whole. This evolution is already visible in how we manage

our operations, how we design our strategies, and how we
anticipate the needs of the communities we serve.

The past year also reminded us of the unpredictability
of the world we live in. The conflict with India in May and
the devastating floods across our homeland in August
were sobering events, stark reminders of the fragility
that surrounds us. Yet, just as Pakistan emerged stronger
and prouder in the face of adversity, so too does Shifa
draw strength from challenges. These events have not
dampened our resolve. They have fortified it. They call
upon us to be more resilient, more resourceful, and more
determined to carry our mission forward. We believe
that just as adversity has been the mother of resilience
for our nation, so too can it be the driving force behind
our institutional strength. | feel both humbled and proud
that, in times of war at the borders or floods within our
homeland, we stood alongside the national institutions,
serving our nation and communities through our areas of
expertise.

At Shifa, we believe that our work is more than a
professional obligation. It is a trust, a responsibility, and
indeed a form of service in the path of Allah Subhanahu
Wa Ta'ala. The wisdom that has guided us in previous
years continues to inspire us - the call to grow, to improve,
and to never let two days be the same. Without quoting, |
remind myself and all of us of this timeless guidance. Our
journey must always be one of progress, reflection, and
renewal. Each sunrise must find us better, stronger, and
truer to our mission than the day before.

As | reflect on our journey, | am profoundly aware that
none of this would be possible without the dedication of
the Shifa family. To our caregivers, doctors, nurses, and
every staff member who serves with quiet devotion, you
are the heartbeat of this institution. To our patients and
their families, who entrust us with their health, we owe
our deepest gratitude. And to our shareholders, whose
faith and support empower every step we take, we renew
our commitment to safeguarding your trust and building
value for the long term.

In closing, | extend my heartfelt gratitude to all who walk
this journey with us. With the blessings of Allah Subhanahu
Wa Ta'ala, and the determination of our people, | am
confident that Shifa International Hospitals Limited will
continue to rise as a beacon of healthcare, compassion,
and excellence.

May Allah Subhanahu Wa Ta'ala guide us, protect us, and
bless us with continued strength. Amen!
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of your Company are pleased to present the Annual Report with the audited financial statements

of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2025.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

A brief financial analysis is presented as under:

For the year ended June 30,

(Rupees in ‘'000")

Operating Results 2025 2024 Change %
Revenue - net 27,967,661 23,563,840 18.7
Other income 402,822 190,123 111.9
Operating costs (23,737,514) (20,944 ,954) 13.3
Profit before levies and income tax 4134,716 2,256,177 83.3
Profit for the year 2,328,980 1,362,074 71.0
Earnings per share - Rupees 36.84 21.55 71.0

The Company delivered a robust performance
during the year under review, demonstrating strong
operational adaptability and disciplined strategic
execution. Revenue grew by 18.7 percent, while
net profit registered an impressive increase of 71.0
percent, leading to earnings per share of Rs. 36.84,
up from Rs. 21.55 in the prior year.

This remarkable growth in profitability was
underpinned by consistent top-line expansion,
disciplined cost management, and sound financial
oversight. Operating expenses grew at a moderated
pace revenue, indicating improved
operational leverage. In addition, finance costs
declined by 19.8 percent, primarily owing to the
timely servicing of financial obligations, which
further supported the bottom line. Other income
showed a healthy increase, contributing positively
to the overall financial performance.

relative to

This performance is a testament to the Company's
strong governance practices, operational discipline,
and successful implementation of strategic goals.
Backed by healthy liquidity and a solid capital
structure, the Company remains well-equipped to
continueits growth journey and generate sustainable
long-term value for its shareholders.

RETURN TO
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors has recommended final cash
dividend of Rs. 5 per share (50 percent) for the year
ended June 30, 2025.

CONTRIBUTION TO THE
NATIONAL EXCHEQUER

The Company's
exchequer during the year under review is as
following:

contribution to the national

Sr. No. Description (Rs.in 000"
1 Direct taxes 1,555,745
2 Indirect taxes 1,221,022
3 Tax deducted and
deposited from suppliers,
employees, etc. 1,794,720
Total 4,571,487
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES,
DEVELOPMENT AND
PERFORMANCE

During the reporting year, the Admission & Discharge
(A&D) and Corporate Billing Department (CBD)
continued to play a pivotal role in ensuring smooth
patient flow and timely service delivery across the
hospital. Building on the progress of previous years,
both departments worked to further streamline
processes, reduce bottlenecks, and ensure that
patients and their attendants experienced greater
convenience throughout their journey of care.

In line with earlier initiatives, special emphasis
was placed on leveraging technology and process
innovation to improve coordination and accuracy
in patient services. The gradual adoption of digital
tools, automation of workflows, and the introduction
helped
strengthen operational efficiency while ensuring that
services remained patient-centered.

of simplified communication channels

Continuing the spirit of last year, efforts were
also directed toward enhancing institutional
client services. The CBD maintained its focus on
transparent and timely settlement of accounts, while
also strengthening engagement with corporate
partners to ensure smoother financial interactions
and better client experience. These measures not

only foster institutional trust but also reinforce
the hospital's reputation as a reliable partner for
healthcare coverage.

As part of its forward-looking strategy, the
departments are aligning themselves with the
hospital’s broader transformation goals. The coming
year will emphasize the use of advanced technology
platforms, refined SOPs, and staff capacity-building
initiatives. This approach will allow for greater
accuracy, shorter turnaround times, and improved
service delivery for patients, attendants, and
corporate clients alike.

Overall, the performance during the year under
review reflects the hospital's ongoing commitment
to continuity of care, process excellence, and
patient satisfaction. By building on past progress
and embracing innovation, these functions remain
integral to sustaining the hospital's operational
strength and enhancing patient trust.

STRATEGIC PLANS FOR
THE NEXT FISCAL YEAR

Looking ahead, the hospital remains focused on
advancing technology and process improvements
to enhance the experiences of patients, attendants,
and institutional clients, while continuing to build
on broader organizational initiatives introduced in
prior years.




Digital Transformation
and Efficiency

Key initiatives in the coming vyear include the
introduction of secure digital payment modes such
as mobile wallets, online bank transfers, and POS-
based solutions. These will reduce cash handling,
shorten waiting times, and provide flexibility for
patients and attendants. In collaboration with the IT
Department, web-based portals will be developed
for e-invoicing, insurance claim submissions, and
reimbursement tracking, strengthening transparency
and responsiveness with institutional clients and
insurance partners.

Financial and Service Optimization

Panel rate reviews will continue in alignment with
market conditions and utilization trends to ensure
competitiveness  and sustainability.
Alongside this, process automation and cost
optimization will remain central priorities, enabling
better use of resources and improved efficiency
across departments.

financial

Patient Care and Clinical Expansion

Building on the hospital's earlier momentum, plans
include expanding access to specialty services,
extending consultant availability to evenings and

weekends, and streamlining admission and discharge
processes for greater patient convenience. Capacity
enhancements through additional inpatient beds and
redesigned outpatient spaces will further support
patient flow and service quality.

Strategic Growth and Outreach

Beyond the hospital premises, outreach OPD clinics
will be expanded to major cities within the hospital's
catchment area, allowing patients to benefit from
expert consultations closer to home while generating
referrals to the main facility. eShifa, our home health
and digital care partner, will continue to extend
access and continuity of care through telemedicine
and at-home services.

Commitment to Excellence

In line with the progress of recent years, the hospital
remains dedicated to investing in people, technology,
and quality initiatives. These efforts will ensure
that operational efficiency, patient experience, and
sustainable growth continue to move forward in
unison, reinforcing the hospital’s role as a trusted
provider of advanced healthcare in the region.







DESCRIPTION OF PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

Shifa International Hospitals Ltd. (SIH) operates in a dynamic healthcare environment where
internal and external risks may affect performance and sustainability. Key risks and mitigation
measures include:

Regulatory Compliance

The healthcare sector is heavily regulated. Non-compliance may cause penalties, financial
loss, or reputational harm. SIH maintains a dedicated compliance team, conducts regular
audits, and updates processes to ensure adherence to evolving regulations.

Operational Risks

Medical errors, equipment issues, and supply chain disruptions can compromise safety
and efficiency. SIH reduces these risks through clinical protocols, preventive equipment
maintenance, and contingency supply chain planning supported by strategic sourcing and
strong supplier relationships.

Financial Risks

Rising costs, delayed insurance payments, inflation, and limited capital access may strain
finances. SIH addresses these through cost controls, efficiency initiatives, financial planning,
and favorable negotiations with insurers to maintain stable cash flows.

Market and Competition

Healthcare competition demands innovation and adaptability. SIH invests in research, market
analysis, and service quality enhancements to strengthen its position and patient satisfaction.

Cybersecurity Risks

Digital reliance exposes SIH to cyber threats. The hospital safeguards data with next-
generation firewalls, strict access controls, data encryption, continuous monitoring, and a
trained incident response team.

Pandemic and Epidemic Risks

Outbreaks like COVID-19 increase costs and disrupt operations. SIH has preparedness plans,
PPE stockpiles, and telemedicine services to maintain continuity of care during crises.

Environmental and Geopolitical Risks

Natural disasters or unrest can damage infrastructure and supply chains. SIH conducts risk
assessments and disaster drills, maintains business continuity protocols, reinforces critical
systems, and coordinates with authorities for effective response.
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COMPANY'S RISK
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK AND
INTERNAL CONTROLS

SIH has a structured Risk Management Framework
to identify, assess, and mitigate risks affecting
operations, finances, and reputation.

The Internal Control System supports this framework
by ensuring efficiency, compliance, and accurate
financial reporting. Controls include clear policies,
approval hierarchies, internal audits, and system
monitoring.

SIH continuously reviews and strengthens these
practices to safeguard assets, enhance resilience,
and support sustainable growth.

EXPANSION ACTIVITIES
DURING THE YEAR

During the reporting vyear, Shifa
Hospitals Limited undertook extensive development
projects focused on enhancing clinical infrastructure
and diagnostic capabilities. These expansions aim to
elevate patient care, improve operational efficiency,
and align facilities with international standards.

International

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

Strengthening Critical Care with
New Medical ICU (B-3 Wing)

The previous Obs & Gynae wing was transformed
into a state-of-the-art 8-bed Medical ICU (including
3 ward and 5 private beds), reinforcing the hospital's
capacity to manage high-acuity patients with
advanced critical care services.

Launch of One-Stop Pleural
Clinic

A centralized clinic was established under the
Pulmonology Department to provide comprehensive

diagnosis and treatment of pleural disorders,
improving accessibility and care quality.

Oncology Diagnostics Upgrade
- PET-CT Imaging

A cutting-edge 40 PET-CT system with 128-slice CT
integration was installed, enhancing early cancer
detection, treatment monitoring, and follow-up.
This marks a major step in elevating the hospital’s
oncology services.

Dental Imaging and Operatory

Expansion

Installation of Cone Beam CT (CBCT) technology
replaced older OPG systems, offering superior 3D
imaging for dental and maxillofacial procedures. A



modern dental operatory was also added to elevate
procedural capabilities.

Radiology Advancement with
640-Slice CT Scanner

A high-end CT scanner was introduced, alongside
comprehensive renovations to patient areas and
supporting systems, ensuring an advanced and
patient-friendly diagnostic environment.

Expansion at Dar Ul Shifa (DUS)

A new 4-bed inpatient unit was commissioned to
manage overflow from the main campus, easing ER
and OPD patient transitions.

Dermatology Clinic Upgradation

The clinic was restructured for improved patient
flow and service delivery, including the addition of a
dedicated doctor's room.

Bone Marrow Transplant Unit
Enhancement

Two new BMT inpatient rooms were added to
accommodate increased demand, reducing wait
times and ensuring quality care.

ENT Clinic Expansion - Second
VRA Room

A second VRA (Visual Reinforcement Audiometry)
room was built to expand audiological testing
capacity, enhancing service availability for pediatric
and adult patients.

Daycare Anesthesia
Optimization

Restructuring of the Daycare Anesthesia Unit
included dedicated ECG, phlebotomy, and anesthesia
streamlining pre-procedure

assessment rooms,

evaluations and improving patient experience.
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THE IMPACT OF THE
COMPANY'S BUSINESS
ON THE ENVIRONMENT

Shifa Hospitals  Limited
committed to operating as a responsible healthcare
provider with a strong emphasis on environmental
stewardship, resource efficiency, and sustainable

International remains

development. The hospital has taken measurable
actions to reduce its environmental footprint and
align with global sustainability standards.

Membership in International
Sustainability Platform

SIH became a standalone associate member of
the International Hospital Federation's Geneva
Sustainability Centre, reinforcing its role as a regional
leader in climate-conscious healthcare. The Centre
equips healthcare organizations to create low-
carbon, equitable, and resilient systems, enabling
SIH to access advanced tools, knowledge, and
strategies.

Carbon Footprint Tracking (GHG
Emissions)

SIH has initiated comprehensive GHG emissions
calculations (Scope 1, 2, and 3) using the Climate
Impact Checkup Tool.

Scope 1: Emissions from combustion, hospital
vehicles, and onsite waste management.

Scope 2: Emissions from electricity usage.

Scope 3: Emissions from commuting, business

travel, and indirect services.

This effort will guide targeted carbon reduction
strategies.

Hospital Waste Management

In compliance with Hospital Waste Management
Rules, 2005 and WHO guidelines, SIH has
implemented a robust hazardous waste system.

30  ShifaInternational Hospitals Limited

In this regard, the organization has established a
comprehensive and advanced waste management
system that integrates globally recognized best
practices to minimize environmental impact, based
on its Hazardous Material and Waste Management
Policy, which is aligned with evidence-based
guidelines on healthcare waste management issued
by the WHO. Hazardous waste is treated through
high-temperature thermal oxidation, with emissions
analyzed on a quarterly basis. The byproduct
generated in the form of ash is disposed of in a
designated burial pit located in an uninhabited
area, in accordance with the Environmental and
Social Screening Report prepared at the time of its
construction

Hazardous Material Control

Pakistan's commitment to international
environmental agreements including the Minamata,
Rotterdam, Basel,
reflects its dedication to safeguarding human health
and the environment from hazardous substances
and waste. In alignment with these national
commitments, all hazardous materials at SIH are
labeled as per GHS, handled and disposed of under
MSDS guidelines, with a comprehensive inventory

maintained and staff regularly trained for safe use.

and Stockholm Conventions

Waste Minimization

Shifa International Hospitals Limited minimizes
waste through prevention, strict segregation, and
recycling, ensuring nonhazardous materials are
separated at source, stored safely, and processed
via approved vendors thus significantly reducing

landfill burden and environmental impact.

Energy Efficiency Initiatives

Alongside the PV Solar and Waste Heat Recovery
systems, SIH has advanced energy efficiency by
replacing tube lights with LEDs, installing VFDs for
smarter motor control, and optimizing elevator
operations hence significantly reducing consumption
and costs.



Water Conservation Measures

To promote sustainable water management, SIH has introduced measures to cut consumption and enable
reuse. Initiatives include sprinkler irrigation, recycling RO reject water for laundry, scrubbing, and irrigation,
and ongoing efforts to minimize reject volumes while optimizing treated high-salinity water for both potable
and non-potable use.

ENERGY CONSERVATION

Shifa International Hospitals (SIH) continues to prioritize sustainable energy practices to address Pakistan's
ongoing energy challenges. The hospital has implemented two major energy conservation initiatives:

Renewable Energy via Solar Power

SIH has installed an 895 kW (DC) photovoltaic solar system, operational since November 2022. This system
harnesses Islamabad’s high solar radiation potential to produce clean energy. In FY2024, it generated
approximately 1.15 million kWh of electricity, avoiding around 599.4 metric tons of CO, emissions. This initiative
significantly reduces reliance on fossil fuels and supports the hospital's long-term sustainability goals.

Waste Heat Recovery (WHR) Boilers

To utilize thermal energy from gas generators, SIH has deployed WHR boilers with a steam generation capacity
of 2,400 kg/hr. These boilers convert flue gas heat into steam, which is used in various hospital operations,
including laundry and kitchen services. This effort led to a further reduction of approximately 192.32 metric
tons of CO, emissions during the reporting period.

Together, these initiatives underscore SIH's commitment to environmental stewardship and resource
efficiency.
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ENVIRONMENTAL _ =° .
PROTECTION MEASURES

Shifa International Hospital (SIH) has implemented
a robust and strategic environmental protection
framework to align with sustainable healthcare
goals, legal compliance, and climate resilience. Key
initiatives include:

EHS&S Policy Framework

Arevised Environment, Health, Safety & Sustainability
(EHS&S) Policy underscores SIH's commitment
to sustainable operations, legal compliance,
infrastructure resilience, and climate awareness.

Environmental Sustainability
Program

In response to climate change, SIH launched a
structured sustainability program focusing on low-
carbon, resilient healthcare. It aligns with JCI and
SDG 13 goals, promoting energy efficiency, waste
reduction, and staff engagement across the hospital
governance structure.

Environmental Risk & Climate

Vulnerability Assessment

SIH  proactively  identifies  and
environmental risks such as floods, heatwaves,

prioritizes

and air quality deterioration through structured
assessments. Adaptive strategies are integrated
into disaster preparedness and emergency drills to
ensure operational continuity.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

Environmental Sustainability Plan

An annual plan outlines GHG emissions tracking,
carbon reduction, water and energy conservation,
and waste reuse. It includes performance indicators
and aligns with SDGs,

environmental accountability.

ENVIRONMENTAL
MONITORING & LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIH ensures compliance with national standards
through regular monitoring activities under the
SMART program:

ensuring continuous

« Stack Emissions - Monitored quarterly for all
combustion sources.

+  Water Quality - Potable, dialysis, and bottled
water are tested per relevant standards.

+ Legionella Monitoring - Conducted in cooling
towers to ensure HVAC safety.

+ Indoor Air Quality - Particle and microbial load
monitoring in sterile areas.

+ Noise Monitoring - Assessed in critical plant
locations.

« Ash Analysis - Mineral composition evaluated
using advanced techniques.

« In-house Monitoring - Tracks a broad spectrum of
environmental parameters.
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WATER REUSE &
CONSERVATION

Through advanced membrane-based treatment
systems, SIH recycles up to 10,000 liters of reject
water daily, totaling 3 million liters annually.
Boiler reject water is also repurposed for laundry,
incineration, and irrigation, saving over 3,400 cubic
meters. SIH's sprinkler system conserves 40 percent
more water than traditional methods, meeting
landscaping and horticultural needs with only 55
million liters annually and reducing energy use by
over 500 kWh.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY
AND HEALTH

Shifa International Hospital Limited upholds a strong
commitment to the health, safety, and wellbeing of
its staff, patients, contractors, and visitors. It has
implemented comprehensive systems and programs
to mitigate workplace hazards, promote a safe care
environment, and ensure operational continuity.

ISO 45001:2018 Certification

SIH's Occupational Health & Safety Management
System is certified under ISO 45001:2018. A
successful surveillance audit by SGS in April 2025
identified four Opportunities for Improvement (OFls)
and no non-conformities, confirming the hospital’s
ongoing compliance with international occupational
safety standards.

Hazard Vulnerability Analysis &
Risk Assessment (HVA & RA)

Annual and situational HVA & RA are conducted
by a multidisciplinary team to identify and manage
risks such as fire, chemical exposure, biohazards,
ergonomic hazards, and noise. Appropriate control

measures are implemented to ensure a safe
environment for patients, staff, and infrastructure.

Preconstruction & Infection

Control Risk Assessments
(PCRA & ICRA)

Before any construction, renovation, or maintenance,
PCRA and ICRA are conducted to assess potential
risks to patient care and environmental safety.
Mitigation plans cover infection control, air quality,
fire safety, noise, vibration, hazardous materials, and
emergency preparedness.

Medical Monitoring Program

To detect and prevent occupational illnesses, SIH
carries out annual medical checkups for staff,
especially those in direct and indirect patient
care roles. This includes vaccination protocols
and targeted testing, ensuring early detection
and response to health risks related to workplace
exposures.

Emergency & Disaster
Management

SIH operates a robust Hospital Incident Command
System (HICS) for coordinated emergency response.
Regular drills and tabletop exercises are held to test
preparedness. Notably, enterprise-wide HICS was
activated in May 2025 during a real war scenario to
ensure operational resilience.

Facility Management & Safety
(FMS) Training

Staff receive regular training on FMS protocols
through in-person sessions, online presentations,
and video modules. Awareness assessments are
conducted to evaluate knowledge retention and
ensure staff readiness in critical safety areas.
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Comprehensive Safety
Programs

SIH has implemented multiple safety programs to
safeguard people and infrastructure, supported
by dedicated manuals and policies. Key programs
include:

Fire Safety Management

Hazardous Material & Waste Management
Occupational Health & Safety

Disaster Management

Radiation, Laser, and Laboratory Safety

INFECTION PREVENTION
AND CONTROL

The Infection Prevention and Control (IPC)
Department  effectively monitored Healthcare-
Associated Infections (HAIls) across the 550-bed
tertiary care facility, maintaining HAI rates within
the benchmark of 5.2 per 1,000 device-days, except
for a temporary spike in August 2024. In response,
enhanced interventions included intensified hand
hygiene training, implementation of evidence-

based care bundles (CAUTI, CLABSI, VAP), updated
disinfection protocols, and
visualization.

real-time HAI data

Awareness and capacity-building efforts included
celebrating  Global Handwashing Day and
International Infection Prevention Week through
educational events, webinars, and recognition
initiatives. Staff capacity was strengthened via
international training collaborations with St. Jude
Children's Research Hospital and hands-on training
in Cairo, along with a completed IPC diploma by
team members.

Key quality improvement (Ql) projects were
undertakeninNICU, Emergency, MICU, and SICU units,
focusing on infection prevention, sepsis readiness,
and blood culture contamination reduction. The
department also initiated development of a digital
HAI surveillance and reporting system in collaboration
with MIS and contributed to the national Fleming
Fund AMR surveillance program.

Through proactive monitoring, training, stakeholder
engagement, and innovation, the IPC department
significantly enhanced patient safety and care quality
across the hospital.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
ACTIVITIES

Shifa Foundation, the CSR arm of Shifa International
Hospitals, actively engaged in a broad spectrum
of programs targeting health, education, nutrition,
WASH (Water, Sanitation & Hygiene), food security,
protection, and sustainable livelihoods. In FY
2024-2025, the Foundation reached millions across
60+ districts of Pakistan, contributing directly to
several UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
These interventions focused on improving health
access to clean water, educational
opportunities, and gender mainstreaming.

outcomes,
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Corporate Philanthropy

As a PCP and EAD-accredited nonprofit, Shifa
Foundation implemented high-impact philanthropic
activities which included:

Distribution of food packages and safe drinking
water.

Advanced medical treatment for underserved

populations.

Active engagement with universities and
expansion of a volunteer base to enhance
outreach.

Support for victims of natural disasters through

emergency health and hygiene response
programs.
These acts of corporate philanthropy were
fundamental to addressing urgent needs and

promoting social equity.

Community Investment and
Welfare Schemes

In 2024-25, SIH advanced its community impact
through education, skill development, and social
welfare programs through Shifa Foundation.
Shifa Center of Professional Excellence (SCOPE)
strengthened professional capacity via continuing
medical education, life support training, and research
initiatives. Shifa Foundation expanded its outreach,
benefiting thousands nationwide through donor-
supported projects and close coordination with
government bodies to ensure sustainable outcomes.
Strong collaborations with UNICEF, WFP, Nutrition
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authorities

local

and

International,
BISP further enhanced program delivery, earning
recognition for effective and impactful service to
communities.

including

Maternal & Newborn Nutrition

Program

8,317 pregnant women received MMS through
antenatal care integration.

SOPRAN Initiative

Reached 40,000 adolescent girls in 498 schools with
weekly iron and folic acid supplementation.

RURAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMS

In 2024-25, Shifa Foundation advanced
well-being through improved access to clean
water, sanitation, and food security. Water points
and sanitation facilities were constructed and
rehabilitated, complemented by health and hygiene
awareness sessions in Balochistan that strengthened
safe practices. In flood-affected Sindh, integrated
response efforts provided safe drinking water,
livelihood cash grants, and kitchen gardening
toolkits, while malnutrition screening and treatment
for children and PLWs promoted community health.
These initiatives not only addressed immediate
needs but also fostered resilience and sustainable
livelihoods.

rural
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WELFARE SPENDING
FOR UNDER PRIVILEGED
CLASSES

A significant portion of Shifa Foundation's programs
was directed towards improving the lives of the
underprivileged through:

Emergency primary care services reaching over
4,500 individuals.

Distribution of 140 clean delivery kits to support
maternal health.

Management of nutrition-related complications
through RUTF and SNF in under-resourced
provinces.

Provision of education and psychosocial support
to students affected by corporal punishment.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

Implementation of the Gender Policy 2025-2026
to promote gender-inclusive programming.

Mental health interventions based on data from
biomarker assessments in 235 students and
teachers.

CONSUMER
PROTECTION MEASURES

ShifalnternationalHospitalreaffirmeditscommitment
to ensuring the safety, trust, and convenience of its
patients, visitors, and staff by implementing several
targeted consumer protection initiatives during
the reporting period. These measures focused on
enhancing physical security, streamlining services,
and integrating advanced technologies for a secure
and patient-centered environment.



Key Security & Service
Enhancements

Deployment of SSG Commandos

10 highly trained SSG Commandos were inducted
to reinforce hospital security. Their expertise has
elevated the institution's readiness and response
capabilities, ensuring a safer environment across all
zones of the hospital.

Opening of New Visitor Parking at Gate 1

A new designated parking area was made operational
Gate 1, improving traffic flow, reducing
congestion, and enhancing convenience for patients
and visitors.

near

Expansion of Valet Services

Valet operations were significantly strengthened by
increasing staffing capacity. The team now manages
up to 350 vehicles per day (previously 200), providing
faster, more efficient parking services for patients
and visitors.

Licensed Weapons & SOP Implementation

The hospital security team has been equipped
with licensed weapons to improve armed response
capabilities. A detailed Standard Operating Procedure
was developed to govern

responsible weapon

handling, usage protocols, and compliance, ensuring
safety without compromise.

Ongoing and Future Projects

Al-Enabled CCTV Surveillance
System (In Progress)

An advanced Al-based software is being integrated
with the existing CCTV infrastructure. This system will
allow automatic recognition and alerting of flagged
individuals, enhancing real-time threat detection and
situational awareness.

Faisalabad Site - Security & Fire Safety
Systems (Planned)

A complete security setup, including CCTV, RFID
access control, walk-through gates, and fire detection
systems, is being installed to ensure a secure and
monitored environment at the Faisalabad project
site.

Medical Centre - Bahria Civic Centre
(Planned)

Similar safety infrastructure, comprising surveillance
cameras, access control, and fire safety systems, will
be deployed at the upcoming medical center in Bahria
Civic Centre to ensure compliance with institutional
safety standards.




BUSINESS ETHICS AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION
MEASURES

SIH is committed to upholding the highest standards
of business ethics and implementing rigorous anti-
corruption measures. Our comprehensive Code
of Conduct outlines the ethical principles and
standards expected of all employees, directors,
and stakeholders addressing, conflict of interest,
confidentiality and fair dealing.

Anti-Corruption Policy

SIH enforces a strict zero-tolerance policy towards
corruption and  bribery. Our Anti-Corruption
Policy specifies prohibited activities, reporting
mechanisms, and disciplinary actions for violations.
We encourage reporting of unethical behavior
through a confidential whistleblower mechanism,
ensuring protection against retaliation.

Employee Orientation and Third
Party Due Diligence

New employees receive thorough orientation on
the Code of Conduct to ensure they understand
our ethical standards and anti-corruption measures.
Additionally, we conduct comprehensive due

diligence on third-party partners, suppliers, and
contractors to ensure compliance with our ethical
standards.

Monitoring and Compliance

Robust monitoring and compliance mechanisms are
in place to detect and prevent unethical practices.
Regular audits and compliance checks are conducted
to ensure adherence to our policies and procedures
reinforcing our commitment to transparency,
integrity, and ethical conduct.

EMPLOYMENT OF
SPECIAL PERSONS

The Company is dedicated to providing equal
opportunities for differently abled
Currently, we have onboard 19 such staff members,
reflecting our commitment to non-discrimination,
inclusivity and equal employment opportunities for
all.

GENDER PAY GAP

The mean and median pay gap for women is 11% and
20% higher than that of men.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct
that requires all employees to maintain a work
environment featuring fairness, respect and integrity
and to comply with ethical practices. Provisions

individuals.




of the code include, but are not limited to, legal
compliance, restrain on political activities, soliciting
gifts, avoiding conflict of interest, non-discrimination
or harassment on the basis of gender, race, color,
age, etc., maintaining confidentiality of information,
complying with thelaws, rules vis-a-vis environmental
protection, etc. The Code of Conduct is applicable to
all the directors, officers, employees, consultants
and agents of the Company.

WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Company places the highest importance on
conducting its business with honesty, integrity,
transparency, and accountability. To
reinforce these values, a Whistleblowing Policy
has been introduced, enabling stakeholders to
detect, identify, and report unlawful activities,
mismanagement, misuse of authority, or any matter
inconsistent with Company policies. The policy is
designed to guide and encourage individuals to raise

openness,

concerns confidentially, with the assurance that they
will be protected from any form of victimization.

Through this framework, the Company reaffirms
its unwavering commitment to upholding ethical
practices and accountability in all its operations.

GRIEVANCE POLICY

The Company is committed to ensuring that all
employee grievances are heard and addressed
promptly. Employees are encouraged to raise
concerns with theirimmediate supervisors as the first
point of contact. Grievances from workers engaged
through third-party contracts are also given due
importance and relayed to the respective vendors
by the concerned area supervisors for resolution.
This reflects the Company's strong commitment
to fostering a fair, responsive, and supportive work
environment.




BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The total number of Directors of the Company are 11 as listed below:
a. Male: Ten (10)
b. Female: One (01)

The Board derives its powers and obligations from various provisions contained in the Memorandum & Articles
of Association of the Company, Companies Act, 2017 (“the Act"), the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the “Code") and other relevant laws. The Board met six (06) times during the
year ended June 30, 2025.

Currently the Board is comprised of three independent, six non-executive (including one female director) and

two executive directors, as follows:

Category Names

Independent Directors Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan
Shah Naveed Saeed
Non-Executive Directors Dr. Habib Ur Rahman

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad
Syed Ilyas Ahmed

Dr. loan Philippe Cleaton-Jones

Executive Directors Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Taimoor Shah

In compliance with the non-mandatory provisions contained in the Code regarding diversity in the Board,
the Company’s Board consists of six Medical Doctors, one IT Professional, two Pharmacists, a Healthcare
Management Professional and a Chartered Accountant.




BOARD AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Board Audit Committee (BAC) comprises of
three non-executive directors and one independent
director as under:

Shah Naveed Saeed
Chairman, Independent Director

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi
Member, Non-Executive Director

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad
Member, Non-Executive Director

Syed llyas Ahmed
Member, Non-Executive Director

Every member of the BAC possesses exceptional
qualifications. The BAC met five (05) times during the
year under review.

The BAC's Terms of Reference (ToRs) have been
developed in accordance with the guidelines outlined
in the Code, and the BAC operates in alignment
with these provisions. The ToRs encompass various
responsibilities, such as establishing systems to
protect Company assets, ensuring the maintenance
of sufficient accounting records, overseeing internal
controls and risk management, ensuring compliance
with regulatory and legal requirements, and reviewing
periodic financial statements, among other duties.
While this list of ToRs is comprehensive, the BAC is
also open to addressing any other issues or matters
as assigned by the Board to fulfill its ultimate goal of
safeguarding the Company's interests.

The Chairman of BAC conveys the committee's
observations and recommendations to the Board.
In addition to its regular meetings, the BAC held one
meeting with the External Auditors, excluding the
Head of Internal Audit and CFO, and another meeting
with the Head of Internal Audit, excluding the CFO
and External Auditors.

During the vyear, a significant change in the
composition of the BAC took place. Dr. Habib Ur
Rahman, Chairman of the Board, who had served as a
member of the BAC since 2003, concluded his tenure

on the Committee during the year under review. In
his place, Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi was nominated as
a member. The Board Audit Committee formally
recorded its deepest appreciation to Dr. Habib Ur
Rahman for his invaluable guidance, exceptional
professional insight, and dedicated service during his
long association with the Committee.

HUMAN RESOURCE
& REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

The Human Resource & Remuneration (HR & R)
Committee has the following members:

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Chairman, Independent Director

Dr. Habib Ur Rahman
Member, Non-Executive Director

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque
Member, Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi
Member, Non-Executive Director

Syed llyas Ahmed
Member, Non-Executive Director

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad
Member, Non-Executive Director

The Terms of Reference (ToRs) mandate that the
HR & R Committee's main focus is to evaluate
compensation packages necessary for attracting
and retaining executive directors and
personnel, in accordance with market standards,
regulatory requirements, and stakeholder interests.
Furthermore, a noteworthy provision stipulates
that a majority of the HR & R Committee members
must be non-executive directors, including at least
one independent director. Similarly, the Chairman
of the HR & R Committee is also required to be an
independent director.

senior

The HR & R Committee functions in accordance with
approved ToRs. The HR & R Committee met once
during the year under review.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE &
NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance & Nominations (CG & N)
Committee is composed of the following members:

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi
Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque
Member, Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad
Member, Non-Executive Director

Dr. loan P. Cleaton-Jones
Member, Non-Executive Director

The Terms of Reference for the CG & N Committee
have been established in alignment with the
provisions set forth in the Code. The Committee
is primarily tasked with evaluating the Board's
structure, size, and composition, among other key
responsibilities.

During the year under review the Committee did not
hold any meeting.

RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

Under the provisions of the Code, the Board also has
a Risk Management Committee (RMC). The RMC has
the following directors as members:

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad
Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Member, Independent Director

Mr. Taimoor Shah
Member, Executive Director

Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan
Member, Independent Director

RMC's ToRs require to undertake monitoring and
undertaking review of all material controls including
financial, operational & compliance and ascertain
that risk mitigation measures are robust.

During the year under review, one meeting of the
RMC was held.




FREQUENCY & ATTENDANCE OF BOARD & AUDIT

COMMITTEE MEETINGS

During the year under review, a total of six (06) meetings for the Board of Directors and five (05) meetings for
the BAC respectively were held through video link and in person. The attendance of the Directors is as under:

Name of Director

No. of Board Meetings

No. of Audit Committee

Attended Meetings Attended
Dr. Habib Ur Rahman* 6 1
Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque 6 N/A
Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi* 6 3
Mr. Qasim Faroog Ahmad 6 N/A
Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad 6 5
Syed Ilyas Ahmed 6 5
Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari 6 N/A
Dr. loan Philippe Cleaton-Jones 6 N/A
Shah Naveed Saeed 5 5
Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan 6 N/A
Mr. Taimoor Shah 6 N/A

* Dr. Habib Ur Rehman resigned as Member of the BAC. During his term he attended one meeting of the BAC. Subsequently Dr. Manzoor

H. Qazi was appointed as a member of the BAC.

DIRECTORS'
REMUNERATION

The Board of Directors of the Company approves
and fixes the remuneration of the Board members
in accordance with the Articles of Association of
the Company, the Act and the Code. The details of
aggregate amount of remuneration separately of
executive and non-executive directors, including
salary/fee, perquisites, benefits and performance
linked incentives etc. have been disclosed in note 37 of
Notes to the Unconsolidated Financial Statements.

BOARD EVALUATION

As per the requirements of the Code, the Board
annually conducts self-evaluation of its performance
which covers structure & characteristics of the Board,
roles & responsibilities, relationship with management
and hospital specific measures, etc.

The overall performance of the Board was determined
to be good on the basis of approved criteria.

SECURITY CLEARANCE
OF FOREIGN DIRECTOR

AForeign Director elected to the Board requires security
clearance from the Ministry of Interior, facilitated
through the Securities and Exchange Commission of
Pakistan (SECP). All necessary legal formalities and
requirements from the Company's end have been duly
met and fulfilled in this regard

TRADING OF SHARES

All direct or indirect trading and holdings of the
Company's shares by Directors, Chief Executive,
substantial shareholders, executives or their spouses
notified in writing to the Company Secretary along with
the price, number of shares and nature of transaction
were notified by the Company Secretary to the Board,
the SECP, where required, and the PSX. Pattern of
Shareholding as at June 30, 2025, annexed herewith,
disclose the holdings by Directors, Chief Executive,
substantial shareholders or their spouses.
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PATTERN OF
SHAREHOLDING

The total number of Company’'s shareholders as at
June 30, 2025 was 2,834 as against 2,431 on June 30,
2024. The pattern of shareholding as at June 30, 2025
is included in this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' TRAINING
PROGRAM

Ten out of eleven Directors (90.90%) have completed
the Directors’ Training Program (DTP) as laid down
under Regulation 19(1) of the Code.

The detail of the certified directors is as under:

Dr. Habib Ur Rahman

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad

Syed llyas Ahmed

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Mr. Shah Naveed Saeed

Dr. M. Salim Khan

Dr. loan P. Cleaton-Jones*

Mr. Taimoor Shah

* Dr. loan P. Cleaton-Jones has completed the Executive Education
Program in Corporate Governance from the Columbia Business
School at Columbia University, New York, USA

As per the criteria set under sub regulation 19 (2) of
the Code, Mr. Qasim Faroog Ahmed, has a minimum
education of 14 years and has remained a director on
the Board of the Company for over 15 years, thereby
being exempt from the DTP.

Moreover, the Company also arranged DTP for a male
& one female executive as required under the sub-
regulation 19 (3) (i) of the Code.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

CORPORATE BRIEFING
SESSION

The Pakistan Stock Exchange encourages sound
corporate governance practices and in compliance
with the mandatory requirement of holding corporate
briefing by listed companies a Corporate Briefing
Session was held through video link for the investors
and shareholders of the Company on November
25, 2024. A detailed presentation was given on the
Company's performance and financial results for the
financial year ended June 30, 2024 followed by a brief
on the Company'’s future plans by the management
of the Company. The management satisfactorily
answered all the questions and queries raised by the
participants during the session.

STATEMENT OF
DIRECTORS'
RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors hereby confirm compliance with the
Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework of the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan and
the Code for the following matters:

The Financial Statements, prepared by the
management of the Company, present fairly its
state of affairs, the results of its operations, cash
flows and changes in equity.

ii. Proper books of accounts of the Company have
been maintained as required by the Companies
Act, 2017.

iii. Appropriate accounting policies have been
consistently applied in preparation of the
Financial Statements and accounting estimates
are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.

iv.  International Accounting Standards, asapplicable
in Pakistan, have been followed in preparation of
Financial Statements.



v. The system of internal control is sound in
design and has been effectively implemented
and monitored.

vi. There has been no material departure from the
best practices of Corporate Governance, as
detailed in the Code.

vii. Thereare nosignificantdoubts upon Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

All the related party transactions have been
approved by the Board of Directors in accordance
with the Company's policy on the related party
transactions. The Company maintains a complete
record of all such transactions, along with the terms
and conditions. The disclosure of such related party
transactions has been given in note 36 of Notes to
the Unconsolidated Financial Statements.

MATERIAL CHANGES

There is no material changes and commitments
affecting the financial position of the Company
which have occurred between the end of the
financial year of the Company to which the financial
statement relates and the date of the report.

STATUTORY AUDITORS
OF THE COMPANY

The Board of Directors, as recommended by the
Audit Committee, has proposed the appointment of
M/s BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants as
Auditors of the Company for the year ending June
30, 2026.
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SUBSIDIARY / ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

As on June 30, 2025 the detail of the subsidiaries / associated undertakings of the Company along with
percentage shares held in each subsidiary/associated undertaking is as under:

Sr.No. Name of the Company Status Percentage
1 Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Pvt.) Limited Subsidiary 60
2 Shifa Medical Center Islamabad (Pvt.) Limited Subsidiary 56
3 Shifa Development Services (Pvt.) Limited Subsidiary 55
4 Shifa CARE (Pvt.) Limited Associate 50
5 SIHT (Pvt.) Limited Associate 453

Shifa National Hospital
Faisalabad (Pvt.) Limited (SNHF)

The Company,
Holdings (Pvt.) Limited, is currently undertaking the
construction of a state-of-the-art hospital facility in
Faisalabad. Based on a revised feasibility study, the

in collaboration with Interloop

Company has committed to invest Rs. 1.6 billion in
the Project to achieve the updated development
targets. As of the reporting date, an amount of
Rs. 1.056 billion has already been injected by the
Company, primarily to support the completion and
operationalization of Phase 1.

At present the erection of grey structure of both
IPD and OPD towers has been completed. Wiring,
plumbing and firefighting related works have been
started vertically and expected to be completed by
end of calendar year 2025. The Project continues
to move forward as per the planned schedule and
is expected to be operational within the targeted
timeline.

Shifa Medical Center Islamabad
(Pvt.) Limited (SMCI)

Pursuant to the share acquisition of Shifa Medical
Center Islamabad (SMCI) by the Company, as
approved by the shareholders in the Extraordinary
General Meeting held on June 5, 2025, a total
of 103,349,961 shares were transferred to Shifa
International Hospitals Limited (SIHL) subsequent
to the year end. As a result, SIHUs shareholding in
SMCl has increased to approximately 99 percent. The

Shifa International Hospitals Limited

next strategic initiative will be the merger of SMCI
into SIHL, which is currently under consideration and
will be undertaken in accordance with the applicable
legal and regulatory framework.

Shifa Development Services
(Pvt.) Limited (SDS)

Asofthereportingdate, the subsidiary hasno ongoing
projects. Furthermore, it continues to face significant
financial challenges, which cast uncertainty over its
ability to sustain operations in the future.

Shifa CARE (Pvt.) Limited (SCPL)

Currently, the SCPL has no ongoing projects.
Furthermore, it continues to face significant financial
challenges, due to which it may not be able to
continue its business.

SIHT (Pvt.) Limited (SIHT)

During the year the Company had paid Rs. 300 million
to purchase equity interest in SIHT (Private) Limited
(JCIA Accredited home health Company), from Shifa
Foundation, increasing the Company's ownership in
SIHT to 45.3 percent.

Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute
Islamabad (Pvt.) Limited

In line with the Company's strategy to optimize
operational efficiency and enhance group synergies,
Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute Islamabad (Private)
Limited (SNSI), a wholly owned subsidiary, has



~

L SHIFA

Shifa Neurosciences Institute ,« '

been merged into Shifa International Hospitals Limited with effect from March 25, 2025. The Scheme of
Amalgamation, along with the requisite documentation, was submitted to the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan (SECP), which formally acknowledged the submission. This strategic consolidation is
expected to streamline operations and support long-term growth objectives.

OPERATING & FINANCIAL DATA

Summary of key operating and financial data of last six years has been given on page no. 80.

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

The Company's official website can be accessed at www.shifa.com.pk
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CORPORATE RESTRUCTURING, BUSINESS EXPANSION,
ALONG WITH FUTURE PROSPECTS, RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Company continues to strengthen its foundations through measured expansion and operational excellence,
while remaining mindful of emerging risks and opportunities.

As part of our continued journey to strengthen and expand our healthcare footprint, the development of Shifa
National Hospital Faisalabad remains firmly on track, with operations planned to commence within the current fiscal
year. This marks another milestone in our commitment to bringing quality healthcare closer to communities across
the country. In parallel, the shareholders have approved the acquisition of Shifa Medical Center Islamabad, with
planning already underway to make it operational not later than couple of years, further consolidating our presence
in the capital.

Under our Peripheral Clinics Program, the clinic at Bahria Town Rawalpindi is in its final stages and is expected to
be operational shortly, thereby enhancing accessibility and convenience for patients in the localities of the H-8
hospital. In addition, we have successfully installed and made operational a PET Scan facility, enabling us to offer a
full spectrum of oncology services. This advancement not only enhances our clinical capabilities but is also expected
to contribute positively to patient outcomes and the Company's revenue streams.

On the operational front, the re-appropriation of IPD beds continues to be a regular practice, allowing us to
optimize space utilization and meet evolving patient demands efficiently. Furthermore, the Company has adopted
an enterprise model approach that sits well with our expansion strategy. By integrating operations, strengthening
digital systems, and fostering cross-functional alignment, this approach consolidates our efforts and amplifies their
overall impact across the organization. These strategic measures, both in expansion and optimization, reflect our
consistent focus on balancing growth with sustainable service delivery.

While prospects remain strong, we acknowledge certain risks and challenges. The proliferation of fake news poses
a reputational risk, which we are actively mitigating by strengthening our digital and online presence in a systematic
and planned manner. Alongside this, we remain committed to promoting ethical and responsible journalism that
highlights preventive healthcare and discourages sensationalism. On a macro level, while the current economic
indicators appear promising, external factors such as the recent cross-border conflict and the repatriation of Afghan
nationals may potentially influence patient volumes and overall progress.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited
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Despite these uncertainties, patient confidence in our services remains intact, as evidenced by our real-time feedback
mechanisms, and we are well-positioned to address challenges proactively. Our continued focus on patient-centric
growth, ethical practices, and operational excellence will guide us in navigating the dynamic environment ahead.

BRIEF NOTE ON FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the outlook for the Company remains robust. With the upcoming launch of Shifa National Hospital
Faisalabad, operationalization of Shifa Medical Center Islamabad within due course, and the expected opening of the
Bahria Town Peripheral Clinic, we are poised to significantly increase our reach and impact. The addition of advanced
diagnostic services such as PET Scan, coupled with the adoption of an enterprise approach - integrating operations,
advancing digital systems, and fostering cross-functional alignment - will further strengthen our ability to deliver
comprehensive, high-quality care.

While mindful of external risks and uncertainties, our resilience, adaptive strategies, and strong patient trust provide
a solid foundation for sustainable growth. We remain confident that the future will bring new opportunities to serve
the community with excellence, compassion, and innovation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Board earnestly appreciates the consultants, management and staff for their untiring efforts to deliver seamless
and consistent quality healthcare despite all the challenges. The Board is also thankful to the shareholders, bankers,
patients and regulators for their continued confidence and support of our operations.

On behalf of the Board

DR. HABIB UR RAHMAN DR. ZEESHAN BIN ISHTIAQUE
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
ISLAMABAD

September 06, 2025
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NOTICE OF THE 39TH
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 39th Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the members of Shifa
International Hospitals Limited (the “Company”) will be held at the Company’s registered
office (C-0 Auditorium) situated at Sector H-8/4, Islamabad, which may also be attended
through video-link (Zoom Application) on Saturday, October 25, 2025 at 1100 hours to
transact the following business:

Ordinary Business

1. To confirm the minutes of the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on June 05, 2025.

2. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements (consolidated and unconsolidated) of
the Company for the year ended June 30, 2025 together with the Directors' and Auditors' Report thereon.

3. To consider, approve and authorise the payment of final cash dividend of 50% i.e. Rs. 5 per share of Rs.
10/- each, as recommended by the Board of Directors.

4. To appoint auditors for the year ending June 30, 2026 and to fix their remuneration.

By Order of the Board
ISLAMABAD MUHAMMAD NAEEM
October 02, 2025 Company Secretary

Notes

i) Participation in the Annual General Meeting (AGM) through video link:
In order to attend the AGM through electronic facility, shareholders are requested to get themselves
registered by providing the requisite details at their earliest but not later than 48 hours before the time
of the AGM (i.e. by 1100 hours on October 23, 2025) through e-mail to be sent at muhammad.naeem@
shifa.com.pk

Shareholders are advised to provide the following particulars, along with the scanned copy of their CNIC
and that of their proxies, if so appointed. Moreover, in the case of a corporate member, the scanned
copy of the resolution of the Board of Directors/Power of Attorney with a specimen signature of the
nominee must also be provided.
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NOTICE OF THE 39TH
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

i)

N f Folio No./ CDC A t
ameo CNIC No. oo/ ceoun Mobile No** | Email Address**
Shareholder* No.

*Where applicable please also give the above particulars of the proxy-holder or nominee of the shareholder

**Shareholders are requested to provide their active mobile number and email address to ensure timely coommunication.

Members who are registered on or before October 23, 2025, after the necessary verification, will be
provided a Zoom video-link by the Company via return email. The login facility will be opened on the
date of AGM from 1055 hours till the end of the meeting.

Closure of Share Transfer Books:

The share transfer books of the Company will remain closed from October 17, 2025 to October 25, 2025
(both days inclusive). No transfer will be accepted for registration during this period. Transfers received
in order at the share registrar’s office of the Company i.e. M/s Corplink (Pvt.) Limited, Wings Arcade, 1-K,
Commercial, Model Town, Lahore, by the close of business on October 16, 2025 will be considered as
being in time for the purpose to attend and vote at the meeting.

Appointment of Proxy:

A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint another member as his/ her
proxy to attend and vote for him/her. Proxies in order to be effective must be received at the registered
office of the Company at Sector H-8/4, Islamabad, not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the
meeting. Proxy form is attached with the notice.

CDC Account holders will further have to follow the under mentioned guidelines as laid down in Circular
1 dated January 26, 2000 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan.

Guidelines for Central Depositary Company of Pakistan ('CDC’) Investor Account Holders
For appointing proxies

a. In case of individuals, the account holders or sub account holders whose registration details are
uploaded as per regulations, shall submit the proxy form as per the above requirements. The proxy
form shall be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and CNIC numbers shall be
mentioned on the proxy form. Copies of CNIC or the passport of the beneficial owners and the
proxy shall be furnished with the proxy form.

b. In case of corporate entities, the Board of Directors' resolution/ power of attorney with specimen
signature of the person nominated to represent and vote on behalf of the corporate entity, shall be
submitted (unless it has not been provided earlier) along with proxy form to the Company.

Payment of dividend through bank account of the shareholder:

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, shareholders are MANDATORILY
required to provide their International Bank Account Number (IBAN) to receive their cash dividend directly
in their bank accounts instead of dividend warrants. In this regard and in pursuance of the directives of
the SECP vide Circular No. 18 of 2017 dated August 01, 2017, shareholders are requested to submit
their written request (if not already provided) to the Company's registered address, giving particulars of
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their bank account. In the absence of shareholder’s valid bank account details by October 16, 2025, the
Company will be constrained to withhold dividend of such members.

CDC account holders are requested to submit their mandate instruction to the relevant member stock
exchange or to CDC if maintaining CDC investor account.

V) Submission of computerized national identity card (CNIC) /National Tax Number (NTN) for payment
of Final Cash Dividend:

Pursuant to the directive of the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan, CNIC numbers of
members are mandatorily required for the payment of dividend. Members are, therefore, requested
to submit a copy of their CNIC and/or NTN (if not already provided) to the Company to its registered
address/ Share Registrar.

Shareholders maintaining their shareholdings under Central Depositary System (CDS) are requested to
submit the above information directly to relevant Participant/CDC Investor Account Service.

vi)  Confirmation of “Filer” Status for Income Tax Withholding on Cash Dividend:

For cash dividend, the rates of deduction of income tax, under section 150 of the Income Tax Ordinance,
2001 are as follows:

a. | Rate of tax deduction for filer of income tax returns 15%

b. | Rate of tax deduction for non-filer of income tax returns 30%

The FBR vide its clarification letter No. | (54) Exp/2014-132872-R of 25 September, 2014 has clarified that
holders of shares held in joint names or joint accounts will be treated individually as filers or non-filers
and tax will be deducted according to the proportionate holding of each shareholder. Joint shareholders
should intimate the proportion of their respective joint holding to the share registrar latest by October
16, 2025, in the following form:

CDC Total Principle Shareholder Joint Shareholder
Account Folio No. Shar Name & Shareholding Name & Shareholding
Number ares CNIC Proportion CNIC Proportion

If no notification is received, each joint holder shall be assumed to have an equal number of shares.

The CNIC number / NTN detail is now mandatory and is required for checking the tax status as per the
Active Taxpayers List (ATL) issued by the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) from time to time.

vii) Exemption from deduction of Income Tax / Zakat:

Members seeking exemption from deduction of income tax or are eligible for deduction at a reduced
rate are requested to submit a valid tax withholding exemption certificate or necessary documentary
evidence for this purpose. Members desiring non-deduction of zakat are also requested to submit a valid
declaration for non-deduction of zakat.

CDC account holders are requested to submit their declaration for non-deduction of zakat to the relevant
member stock exchange or to CDC if maintaining CDC investor account.
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NOTICE OF THE 39TH
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

viii)

x)

74

Unclaimed Dividend/ shares U/s 244 of the Companies Act, 2017:

As per the provisions of Section 244 of the Companies Act, 2017, any shares issued or dividend declared
by the Company which have remained unclaimed/unpaid for a period of three years from the date on
which it was due and payable, are required to be deposited with the SECP for the credit of Federal
Government after issuance of notices to the shareholders to file their claim. Shareholders are requested
to ensure that their claims for unclaimed dividend and shares are lodged promptly. In case no claim
is lodged, the Company shall proceed to deposit the unclaimed/unpaid amount and shares with the
Federal Government pursuant to the provision under Section 244(2) of the Companies Act, 2017 as and
when notified by the SECP.

Transmission of Audited Financial Statements/Notices:

Members are hereby informed that Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide SRO
389(1)/2023 dated March 21, 2023 has allowed Companies for transmission of the annual balance sheet,
profit and loss account, auditor’s report and directors’ report, etc. (annual audited financial statements
or the annual report) to the members/ shareholders through QR-enabled code and web-link, instead of
transmitting the same through CD/ DVD/USB, the same was approved by the shareholdersin Company's
Annual General Meeting held on October 27, 2023.

The Annual Audited Financial Statements/Annual Report and the Notice of Annual General Meeting for
the year ended June 30, 2025, have been placed on the Company's Website, which can be accessed/
downloaded from the following link and QR code:

Website: https://www.shifa.com.pk/annual-report/

[=]

[=]
:f 3
[

&:

The Annual Audited Financial Statements / Annual Report along with the Notice of Annual General
Meeting are being emailed to the members having opted to receive such communication in electronic
format. Other members who wish to receive the Annual Report 2025 in electronic form are requested
to fill the standard request form (available on the Company's website https://www.shifa.com.pk//
wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Financial-Statements-Request-Form.pdf) and send it to the Company'’s
registered address.

For printed copy of the Annual Report of the Company any member can send request on a standard
request form which is available at Company's website (https://www.shifa.com.pk/wp-content/
uploads/2014/05/Request-Form-2018.pdf) duly signed along with copy of CNIC/PoA to the Company's
Share Registrar.

Members are also requested to intimate any change in their registered email addresses in a timely

manner, to ensure effective communication by the Company.

Change of Address:

Members are requested to notify any change in their registered addresses immediately.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited



xi)

xii)

xiii)

Xiv)

Video Conference Facility

In accordance with Section 132(2) of the Companies Act, 2017 if the Company receives consent from
members holding in aggregate 10% or more shareholding residing in a geographical location, other than
the registered office of the Company, to participate in the meeting through video conference at least 7
days prior to the date of AGM, the Company will arrange video conference facility in that city subject to
availability of such facility in that city.

To avail this facility please submit such request to the Company Secretary at:
Shifa International Hospitals Limited, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad

Statutory Code of Conduct at AGM

Section 215 of the Companies Act, 2017 and Regulation 55 of the Companies Regulations 2024, state
the Code of Conduct of Shareholders, as follows:

Shareholders are not permitted to exert influence or approach the management directly for decisions
which may lead to creation of hurdles in the smooth functioning of management. The law states that
Shareholders shall not bring material that may cause threat to participants or premises where the AGMis
being held, confine themselves to the agenda items covered in the notice of AGM and shall not conduct
themselves in a manner to disclose any political affiliation or offend religious susceptibility of other
members. Additionally, the Company is not permitted to distribute gifts in any form to its shareholders
in its meetings as per Section 185 of Companies Act, 2017.

Deposit of Physical Shares into Central Depositary

Pursuant to Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2017 and directive issued by SECP vide its letter No. CSD/
ED/Misc./2016-639-640 dated March 26, 2021, every existing listed company shall be required to replace
its physical shares with book-entry form in a manner as may be specified and from the date notified by
the SECP, within a period not exceeding four years from the commencement of the Acti.e. May 30, 2017.

In view of the aforesaid requirement, the shareholders having physical shares are requested to open
their CDC sub-account with any of the brokers or investors account directly with CDC to convert their
physical shares into book entry form as soon as possible.

Prohibition on grant of gifts to Shareholders

The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (the "SECP"), through its Circular 2 of 2018, dated
February 9, 2018 read with SRO 452(1) of 2025, has strictly prohibited companies from providing gifts or
incentives, in lieu of gifts (tokens / coupons / lunches / takeaway packages) in any form or manner, to
shareholders at or in connection with general meetings. Under Section 185 of the Act, any violation of
this directive is considered an offense, and companies failing to comply may face penalties.

For any query/information, the shareholders may contact the Company and/or the Share Registrar at
the following addresses/contact numbers:

Company'’s Registered Office Share Registrar’'s Office

M/s Shifa International Hospitals Limited M/s Corplink (Pvt.) Limited
Pitras Bukhari Road, Sector H-8/4, Wings Arcade, 1-K, Commercial,
Islamabad. Model Town, Lahore.

Phone # 051-8464227 Phone # 0423-5839182
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
WITH LISTED COMPANIES

(CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

1.

The total number of directors are Eleven (11) (including CEQO) as per the following:

a. Male: Ten (10)
b. Female: One (01)

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Category Names

Independent Directors* Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Mr. Shah Naveed Saeed

Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan

Non-Executive Directors Dr. Habib Ur Rahman (Chairman)

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad (Female Director)
Syed llyas Ahmed

Dr. loan Philippe Cleaton-Jones

Executive Directors Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Taimoor Shah (Chief Operating Officer)

*  The total number of elected directors of the Company are ten (10) and one third of the same is equal

to 3.33. As decimal digit is less than 0.50, therefore, the figure 3.33 has been rounded off to 3.

The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed
companies, including this Company.

The Company has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken
to disseminate it throughout the Company along with its supporting policies and procedures.

The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies
of the Company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the significant policies
along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the Company.

All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been taken
by the Board/shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these Regulations.

The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman. The Board has complied with the
requirements of the Act and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes
of meeting of the Board.

The Board has a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance
with the Act and these Regulations.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited



10.

11.

12.

As at June 30, 2025 Nine of the existing Board
members (including the CEQ) have completed
the Director's Training Program (DTP). Out of
the two remaining Directors, one has completed
the Executive Education Program in Corporate
Governance from the Columbia Business School
at Columbia University, New York, USA. The
other Director, as per the criteria set under sub
regulation 19 (2) of the Code, has a minimum
education of 14 years and has remained a
director on the Board of the Company for over
15 years, thereby being exempt from the DTP.
The Company also arranged DTP for a male and
female executive, during the year.

The Board had approved appointment of Chief
Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Head
of Internal Audit, as and when made, including
their remuneration and terms and conditions
of employment and complied with relevant
requirements of the Regulations.

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive
Officer duly endorsed the financial statements
before approval of the Board.

The Board has formed committees comprising
of members given below:

a) Audit Committee
Shah Naveed Saeed
Chairman

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi
Member

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad
Member

Syed llyas Ahmed
Member

b)

d)

HR & Remuneration Committee

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Chairman

Dr. Habib Ur Rahman
Member

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque
Member

Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi

Member

Syed llyas Ahmed
Member

Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad
Member

Corporate Governance & Nominations

Committee
Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi
Chairman

Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque
Member

Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad
Member

Dr. loan P. Cleaton-Jones
Member

Risk Management Committee
Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad
Chairman

Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari
Member

Mr. Taimoor Shah

Member

Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan
Member
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
WITH LISTED COMPANIES

(CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid
committees have been formed, documented
and advised to the committees for compliance.

14. The vyearly frequency of meetings of the
committees were as per following:

a. Audit Committee: 5

b. Human Resource and
Remuneration Committee: 1

c. Corporate Governance &
Nominations Committee: None

d. Risk Management Committee: 1

15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit
function.

16. The statutory auditors of the Company have
confirmedthattheyhavebeengivenasatisfactory
rating under the Quality Control Review program
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Pakistan and are registered with Audit Oversight

Yot

DR. ZEESHAN BIN ISHTIAQUE
Chief Executive Officer

ISLAMABAD
September 06, 2025

/8 ShifaInternational Hospitals Limited

17.

18.

Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners
are in compliance with International Federation
of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of
ethics as adopted by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the
partners of the firm involved in the audit are not
a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and
non-dependent children) of the Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal
Audit, Company Secretary or Director of the
Company.

The statutory auditors or the persons associated
with them have not been appointed to provide
other services except in accordance with the
Act, these Regulations or any other regulatory
requirement and the auditors have confirmed
that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this
regard.

We confirm that all requirements of regulations
3, 6,7 8,27 32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations
have been complied with.

Moy &;
DR. MANZOOR H. QAZI
Director






SIXYEARS AT A GLANCE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
PROFITABILITY
Operating profit margin % 16.0 1.4 12.2 12.2 93 10.5
Net profit margin % 8.3 5.8 6.0 7.2 4.9 4.2
Return on equity % 17.8 12.0 1.5 12.8 8.6 7.5
Return on assets % 209 14.7 13.0 1.5 79 8.4
Asset turnover Times 13 13 11 0.9 0.9 0.8
INVESTMENT
Market value per share (year end) Rs. 47513 146.61 122.49 17914 21915 233.36
Breakup value per share Rs. 226.32 188.50 17116 152.66 136.97 125.33
Earnings per share Rs. 36.84 21.55 18.69 18.39 11.07 8.18
Dividend - Cash (per share) Rs. 5.00 4.00 1.50 3.00 - -
Dividend - Bonus Shares % - - - - 2.00 -
Dividend yield / effective dividend rate % 11 2.7 12 1.7 - -
Market price to breakup value Times 2.1 0.8 0.7 1.2 1.6 1.9
Price earning ratio Times 12.9 6.8 6.6 9.7 19.8 28.5
Interest cover Times 127 6.1 52 5.2 37 2.7
Debt : equity Ratio 11:89 14:86 19:81 27:73 35:65 34:66
Current ratio Ratio 1.4 11 1.0 11 1.2 13
Quick ratio Ratio 1.2 09 0.8 0.9 11 11

HISTORICAL TRENDS

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Rupees in '000')
Authorised share capital 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 632,144 632,144 632,144 632,144 619,749 619,749
Share premium 2,738,888 2,738,888 2,738,888 2,738,888 2,751,283 2,751,283
Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 1,104,985 920,827 936,615 867,283 792,396 760,346
Unappropriated profit 9,830,602 7,624,157 6,511,963 5,411,656 4,325,259 3,636,170
Shareholders' equity 14,306,619 11,916,016 10,819,610 9,649,971 8,488,687 7,767,548
Non-current liabilities 1,649,211 1,496,057 1,750,801 2,310,214 3,317,760 3,962,551
Current liabilities 5,475,152 4,874,579 5,892,382 5,251,868 4,886,521 3,529,154
Total equity and liabilities 21,430,982 18,286,652 18,462,793 17,212,053 16,692,968 15,259,253
Property, plant and equipment 8,618,241 6,837,904 7,017,740 7,134,172 6,791,843 6,991,936
Intangible assets 43,052 40,780 41,834 53,365 31,343 57,414
Investment property - at cost 624,872 720,292 748,450 - - -
Long term investments - at cost 4,522,553 5,060,970 4,714,217 3,918,618 3,178,758 2,933,524
Long term deposits 105,003 113,937 91,616 85,324 96,260 111,740
Non-current assets 13,913,721 12,773,883 12,613,857 11,191,479 10,098,204 10,094,614
Current assets 7,517,261 5,512,769 5,848,936 5,699,621 5,996,707 4,669,661
Non-current assets held for sale - - - 320,953 598,057 494,978
Total assets 21,430,982 18,286,652 18,462,793 17,212,053 16,692,968 15,259,253
Revenue - net 27,967,661 23,563,840 19,721,425 16,197,551 14,219,718 12,151,762
Otherincome 402,822 190,123 617,015 637,429 107,479 637,219
Operating costs (23,737,514)  (20,944,954) (17,872,504) (14,791,977) (12,899,400) (11,480,652)
Expected credit losses (144,421) (111,778) (57,105) (69,069) (103,529) (32,278)
Operating profit 4,488,548 2,697,231 2,408,831 1,973,934 1,324,268 1,276,051
Finance costs (353,832) (441,054) (462,630) (382,432) (360,375) (478,598)
Income tax expense / levies (1,805,736) (894,103) (764,795) (428,953) (263,969) (292,262)
Profit for the year 2,328,980 1,362,074 1,181,406 1,162,549 699,924 505,191
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,307,612 1,899,249 2,409,213 1,601,920 1,549,681 321,405
Net cash used in investing activities (2,766,332) (794,676) (1,625,200) (992,875) (1,117,057) (1,180,120)
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (449,945) (1,165,160) (1,260,718) (1,517,527) 98,357 2,348,331
Changes in cash & cash equivalents (C&CE) 1,091,335 (60,587) (476,705) (908,482) 530,981 1,489,616
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,132,377 2,219,433 2,320,432 2,812,697 2,398,052 794,696
Cash & cash equivalents of amalgamated company 283,903 - - - - -
Effect of exchange rate change on C&CE 7,199 (26,469) 375,706 416,217 (116,336) 113,740
Cash & cash equivalents at end of year 3,514,814 2,132,377 2,219,433 2,320,432 2,812,697 2,398,052
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SIXYEARS AT A GLANCE
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HORIZONTAL & VERTICAL ANALYSIS

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets 8.9 13 12.7 10.8 - 15.5
Current assets 36.4 (5.7) 2.6 (5.0 28.4 61.5
Non-current asset held for sale - - (100) (46.3) 20.8 611

Total assets 17.2 (1.0) 7.3 3.1 9.4 27.8
Share capital and reserves 201 10.1 121 137 93 376
Non-current liabilities 10.2 (14.6) (24.2) (30.4) (16.3) 458
Current liabilities 12.3 (17.3) 12.2 7.5 38.5 (1.2)
Total equity and liabilities 17.2 (1.0) 73 3.1 9.4 27.8
UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS %

Revenue - net 18.7 19.5 21.8 13.9 17.0 34
Other income 111.9 (69.2) (3.2) 4931 (83.1) 1,338.7
Operating costs 13.3 17.2 20.8 14.7 12.4 79
Finance costs (19.8) (4.7) 21.0 6.1 (24.7) 403.3
Expected credit losses 29.2 957 (17.3) (33.3) 220.7 (372.3)
Profit before levies and income tax 83.3 15.9 22.3 65.1 20.9 (25.7)
Income tax expense / levies 102.0 16.9 78.3 62.5 (9.7) (1.2)
Profit for the year 71.0 15.3 1.6 66.1 38.5 (35.0)

VERTICAL ANALYSIS

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %

Non-current assets 64.9 69.9 68.3 65.0 60.5 66.2

Current assets 351 301 31.7 331 359 30.6

Non-current asset held for sale - - - 19 3.6 3.2

Total assets 100 100 100 100 100 100

Share capital and reserves 66.8 65.1 58.6 56.1 50.8 50.9

Non-current liabilities 77 8.2 9.5 13.4 19.9 26.0

Current liabilities 25.5 267 319 30.5 293 231

Total equity and liabilities 100 100 100 100 100 100

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS %

Revenue - net 100 100 100 100 100 100

Other income 1.4 0.8 3.1 39 0.8 52

Operating costs (84.9) (88.8) (90.6) (91.3) (20.8) (94.4)
Finance costs (1.3) (1.9) (2.3) (2.4) (2.5) (3.9)
Expected credit losses (0.5) (0.5) (0.3) (0.4) (0.7) (0.3)
Profit before levies and income tax 14.7 9.6 9.9 9.8 6.8 6.6

Income tax expense / levies (6.5) (3.8) (3.9) (2.6) (1.9) (2.4)
Profit for the year 8.2 5.8 6.0 72 4.9 4.2
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STATEMENT OF VALUE ADDITION

2025 2024

(Rupeesin % (Rupeesin %
‘000") ‘000")
Wealth Generated
Revenue - net 27,967,661 98.6 23,563,840 992
Other income 402,822 1.4 190,123 0.8

28,370,483 100 23,753,963 100

Wealth Distributed

Supplies and other operating costs 12,905,764 455 11,443,657 48.2

To Employees

Salaries, wages and benefits 8,869,196 31.2 7,800,352 32.8

To Government

Taxes 3,026,758 10.7 1,817,727 77

To Providers of Capital

Dividend to shareholders 316,072 1.1 252,858 1.1

Finance costs 145,775 0.5 249,397 1.0
461,847 1.6 502,255 2.

Retained in the Business
Depreciation, amortization and retained profits 3,106,918 11.0 2,189,972 9.2

28,370,483 100 23,753,963 100

455 48.2

Retained in
the Business

Supplies and Salaries, wages Dividend to Finance
other operating and benefits Taxes shareholders costs
costs
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Tel: 492 51 260 4461-5 3rd Floor,
Fax: +92 51 260 4468 Saeed Plaza,
www.bdo.com.pk 22-East Blue Area,

— Islamabad-44000.
Pakistan.

REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS ON THE STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE CONTAINED IN LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of
SHIFA INTERNATIONAL HOSPITALS LIMITED for the year ended June 30, 2025 in accordance with the
requirements of regulation 36 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company.
Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company'’s
compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance
with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company's personnel
and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements, we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting
and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not
required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls
or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company's corporate governance
procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation
of the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party
transactions and also ensure compliance with requirements of section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017. We
are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the related
party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. We have not
carried out any procedures to assess and determine the Company'’s process for identification of related parties
and that whether the related party transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of
Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company's compliance, in all material respects, with the
requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Company for the year ended June 30, 2025.

BEDBRIEFE

ISLAMABAD BDO EBRAHIM & CO
DATED: 16 SEP 2025 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
UDIN : CR202510060gxijARO8X Engagement Partner: Atif Riaz

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Tel: 492 51 260 4461-5 3rd Floor,
Fax: +92 51 260 4468 Saeed Plaza,
www.bdo.com.pk 22-East Blue Area,

— Islamabad-44000.
Pakistan.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
SHIFA INTERNATIONAL HOSPITALS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the annexed unconsolidated financial statements of SHIFA INTERNATIONAL HOSPITALS
LIMITED (the Company), which comprise the unconsolidated statement of financial position as at June 30,
2025, and the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and the unconsolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the unconsolidated financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained all the information
and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
unconsolidated statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity,
the unconsolidated statement of cash flows, together with the notes forming part thereof conform with
the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of the
state of the Company’s affairs as at June 30, 2025 and of the profit and comprehensive income, the changes
in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in
Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the unconsolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of unconsolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters are addressed in the context
of our audit of the unconsolidated financial statement as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Following are the key audit matters:

Sr. No.

Key audit matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

1.

Revenue Recognition

(Refer note 27 to the unconsolidated financial
statements)

Revenue consists of inpatient
outpatient revenue, pharmacy, cafeteria, rent of
building and other services.

revenue,

During the year ended June 30, 2025, the
Company recognised aggregate revenue of Rs.
27,967.661 million from rendering of services
to inpatients, outpatients, external pharmacy
outlets, cafeteria sales and operating leases to
related parties/ other parties.

We identified recognition of revenue as an
area of higher risk as it includes large number
of revenue transactions with a large number
of customers in various geographical locations
and revenue being one of the key performance
indicators of the Company. Accordingly, it was
considered as a key audit matter.

Our relation to

recognition, amongst others, included:

procedures in revenue

Understood and evaluated management
controls over revenue and verified their
validations;

+  Performedtestof controls and evaluation of
Information Technology General Controls
(ITGC) with the assistance of our IT expert
to assess the operating effectiveness
of controls related to the automation of
revenue recognition;

Verified that revenue has been recognised
with  the Company’s
accounting policy and the applicable
reporting framework;

in accordance

Performed verification of sample of
revenue transactions with underlying
documentation including invoices,

agreements, charge-sheets and other
relevant underlying documents;

Verified receipts from customers on sample
basis against the revenue booked during
the year;

Performed cut-off procedures on sample
basis to ensure revenue has been

recognised in the correct period;

Tested journal entries relating to revenue
recognised during the year based on
identified risk criteria; and

the
made in

appropriateness  of
disclosures the  financial
statements related to revenue as required
under the applicable reporting framework.

Assessed

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Sr. No. | Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

2. Expected credit loss allowance on trade debts | Our audit procedures in relation to expected
credit loss assessment of trade debts, amongst

(Refer note 22 to the unconsolidated financial others, included the following:

statements)
Understood the management's process
for estimating the ECL in relation to
trade debts. Assessed and evaluated the
assumptions used by the management
in determining impairment loss under the

Under IFRS 9, the Company is required to ECL model;
recognise expected credit loss allowance for
financial assets using Expected Credit Loss
(ECL) model. Determination of ECL provision
for trade debts requires significant judgment
and assumptions including consideration of |+ Reviewed the  appropriateness  of
factors such as historical credit loss experience, assumptions used for ECL computation
time value of money and forward-looking from relevant external and internal sources;
macroeconomic information etc. We have
considered the expected credit loss assessment
as a key audit matter due to the significance of
estimates and judgments involved.

The Company has recognised balance of an
expected credit loss allowance of Rs. 293.877
million on gross amount of trade debts of Rs.
1,755.333 million as at June 30, 2025.

Verified appropriateness of ageing, on
sample basis, by comparing individual
balances with underlying documentation;

Circularised balance confirmation for trade
debtors on sample basis and evaluated
responses received;

«  Verified subsequent clearance of balances
due as of June 30, 2025 on sample basis;
and

Assessed  the  appropriateness  of
disclosures  related to  impairment
assessment of trade debts as required
under the applicable reporting framework.

Information Other than the Unconsolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report but does not include the unconsolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the unconsolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the unconsolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
unconsolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

Managementis responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the unconsolidated financial statements
in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of unconsolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the unconsolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company'’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Unconsolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the unconsolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these unconsolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the unconsolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company'’s internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the unconsolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the unconsolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the unconsolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore, the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of
2017);

b) the unconsolidated statement of financial position, the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, the
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income, the unconsolidated statement of changes in
equity, the unconsolidated statement of cash flows together with the notes thereon have been drawn up
in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in agreement with the books of account
and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the purpose
of the Company's business; and

d) Zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIIl of 1980), was deducted by the
Company and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that Ordinance.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Atif Riaz.

ISLAMABAD z@%/ﬁ%%

DATED: 16 SEP 2025 BDO EBRAHIM & CO
UDIN : AR202510060Lvq8Jxr7c CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

2024
Note (Rupees in ‘000')
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Authorised share capital
100,000,000 (2024:100,000,000) ordinary
shares of Rs. 10 each 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 5 632,144 632,144
Capital reserves
Share premium 6 2,738,888 2,738,888
Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 7 1,104,985 920,827
Revenue reserves
Unappropriated profit 9,830,602 7,624157
14,306,619 11,916,016
NON - CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term financing - secured 8 853,419 579,756
Deferred liabilities 9 289,268 389,394
Lease liabilities 10 506,524 526,907
1,649,211 1,496,057
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 11 4,865,657 4,044,057
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 44,730
Markup accrued 12 7974 23,858
Taxation - net 13 104,501 -
Current portion of long term financing - secured 8 255190 495,195
Current portion of lease liabilities 10 192,895 266,739
5,475,152 4,874,579
21,430,982 18,286,652
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 14

The annexed notes from 1 to 48 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in ‘000’)

NON - CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 15 8,618,241 6,837,904
Intangible assets 16 43,052 40,780
Investment property - at cost 17 624,872 720,292
Long term investments - at cost 18 4,522,553 5,060,970
Long term deposits 19 105,003 113,937
13,913,721 12,773,883

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores, spare parts and loose tools 20 224161 243,579
Stock in trade 21 959,987 1,018,321
Trade debts 22 1,461,456 1,346,189
Loans and advances 23 138,025 157,457
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 24 196,244 185,398
Markup accrued 19,219 4102
Other financial assets 25 1,006,355 202,566
Taxation - net - 225,780
Cash and bank balances 26 3,511,814 2129377
7,517,261 5,512,769
21,430,982 18,286,652

Lo

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2024
Note (Rupees in '000')
Revenue - net 27 27,967,661 23,563,840
Otherincome 28 402,822 190,123
Operating costs 29 (23,737,514) (20,944 ,954)
Finance costs 30 (353,832) (441,054)
Expected credit losses 24.2 &411.3 (144,427) (111,778)
Profit before levies and income tax 4134,716 2,256,177
Levies 31 (6,923) (7,288)
Profit before income tax 4127793 2,248,889
Income tax expense 31 (1,798,813) (886,815)
Profit for the year 2,328,980 1,362,074
Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees) 32 36.84 21.55

The annexed notes from 1 to 48 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Boovict i oo W \;é‘

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000')
Profit for the year 2,328,980 1,362,074
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss:
Loss on remeasurement of staff gratuity fund
benefit plan (net of tax) 11.5.4 (50,820) (76,024)
Surplus on revaluation of land 15 181,216 -
130,396 (76,024)
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,459,376 1,286,050

The annexed notes from 1to 48 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

RN TS W \é‘

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Share Share Surplus on Un- Total
capital premium revaluation appropriated
of property, profit
plant and
equipment

(Rupees in ‘000")

Balance as at July 01, 2023 632,144 2,738,888 936,615 6,511,963 10,819,610
Total comprehensive income

Profit for the year - - - 1,362,074 1,362,074
Other comprehensive loss - net of tax - - - (76,024) (76,024)

1,286,050 1,286,050
Realisation of revaluation surplus on disposal of assets - - (4,284) 4,284

Transfer of revaluation surplus on property, plant and
equipment in respect of incremental depreciation /

amortisation - - (11,504) 11,504
Distribution to owners
Dividend - final 2023 @ Rs. 1.5 per share - - - (94,822) (94,822)
Dividend - interim 2024 @ Rs. 1.5 per share - - - (94,822) (94,822)
Balance as at June 30, 2024 632,144 2,738,888 920,827 7,624,157 11,916,016

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the year - - 2,328,980 2,328,980
Other comprehensive income / (loss) - net of tax - - 181,216 (50,820) 130,396

181,216 2,278,160 2,459,376

Transfer upon merger (refer note 1.1) - - 28,730 60,533 89,263
Realisation of revaluation surplus on disposal of assets - - (14,517) 14,517

Transfer of revaluation surplus on property, plant and

equipment in respect of incremental depreciation /

amortisation - - (11,271) 11,271
Distribution to owners

Dividend - final 2024 @ Rs. 2.5 per share - - - (158,036) (158,036)
Balance as at June 30, 2025 632,144 2,738,888 1,104,985 9,830,602 14,306,619

The annexed notes from 1 to 48 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.

Doty oo W <
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

(Rupees in '000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before levies and income tax 4134,716 2,256,177
Adjustment of non-cash income and expense 2,019,813 2,070,835
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 6,154,529 4,327,012
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in current assets:

Stores, spare parts and loose tools 16,746 33,556

Stock-in-trade 58,334 (59,368)

Trade debts (167,997) (73,340)

Loans and advances 19,432 (12,227)

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables (34,735) 85,381
Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:

Trade and other payables 483,989 (779,810)

375,769 (805,808)
Cash generated from operations 6,530,298 3,521,204
Finance costs paid (258,570) (395,644)
Income tax paid (1,555,738) (827,215)
Payment to SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust (215,360) (242,112)
Compensated absences paid (89,047) (72,684)
Payment to defined contribution plan (103,971) (84,300)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,307,612 1,899,249
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Addition to property, plant and equipment (PPE) (1,083,951) (616,043)
Addition to intangible assets (5,787) -
Addition to long term investments (1,159,104) (425,000)
(Investment) / encashment of other financial assets - net (750,296) 155,377
Proceeds from disposal of PPE 5,317 4,662
Proceeds on derecognition of investment - 2,265
Proceeds from disposal of investment property - 26,000
Markup received 170,255 64,889
Dividend received 50,926 16,975
Decrease / (increase) in long term deposits 6,308 (23,801)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,766,332) (794,676)
ANNUAL REPORT 2025




UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in ‘000")

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long term financing - repayments (504,047) (881,581)

Proceeds from long term financing 537,704 216,122

Payment of lease liabilities (329,771) (317,832)

Dividend paid (153,831) (181,869)

Net cash used in financing activities (449,945) (1,165160)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,091,335 (60,587)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,132,377 2,219,433
Cash and cash equivalents of amalgamated company 283,903 -
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash and cash equivalents 7199 (26,469)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 38 3,514,814 2,132,377

The annexed notes from 1 to 48 form an integral part of these unconsolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

1 STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Shifa International Hospitals Limited (the Company / SIHL) was incorporated in Pakistan on
September 29, 1987 as a private limited company under the Companies Ordinance, 1984
(repealed with the enactment of the Companies Act, 2017 on May 30, 2017) and converted
into a public limited company on October 12, 1989. The shares of the Company are quoted
on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. The registered office of the Company is situated at
Sector H-8/4, Islamabad.

The principal activity of the Company is to establish and run medical centers and hospitals
in Pakistan. The Company has established its first hospital in 1993 in H-8/4 Islamabad,
second hospital in 2011 in Faisalabad and another in 2014 in G-10/4 Islamabad. The
Company is also running medical centers, lab collection points and pharmacies in different
cities of Pakistan.

Geographical locations of business units of the Company are as follows:

H-8 Hospital, Pitras Bukhari Road, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad

Neuro Sciences Institute, Pitras Bukhari Road, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad
G-10 Hospital, G-10 Markaz, Islamabad

Shifa Medical Center, Gulberg Greens, Islamabad

Faisalabad Hospital, Main Jaranwala Road, Faisalabad

2024

Percentage share of total revenue given in note 27 is as follows:

Islamabad 7% 97 %
Faisalabad 3% 3%
100% 100%
1.1 Merger / amalgamation of Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute Islamabad (Private) Limited

(SNS Islamabad) with and into the Company

The board of directors of the Company and SNS Islamabad, in their respective meetings
held on February 22, 2025, and February 24, 2025, approved the merger / amalgamation
of SNS Islamabad with and into the Company in accordance with the provisions of section
284 of the Companies Act, 2017. The Company has filed scheme of amalgamation along
with requisite documentation to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
(SECP) on March 25, 2025, effective date of amalgamation, which has been acknowledged
by SECP onMay 9, 2025. The Company has adopted the predecessor method of accounting
for the merger of SNS Islamabad as per the S.R.O 52 (I) 2022 issued by SECP to account
for common control transactions. As it was business combination under common control
and therefore, scoped out of IFRS 3 '‘Business Combinations’.

Accordingly, on March 25, 2025, the Company recorded in its books the assets and liabilities
transferred from SNS Islamabad at their respective carrying values, after eliminating all
intercompany balances and transactions without paying any consideration. The difference
between the value of net assets acquired as a result of the merger and the cost of
investment was fully adjusted through recognition in accumulated profit and transfer to
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NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

the surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment. Accordingly, no amount
has been recognised as a "Merger reserve" in the financial statements. Furthermore, the
items appearing in the statement of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive
income of SNS Islamabad are incorporated prospectively from the effective date of merger
/ amalgamation into the financial statements of the Company. Consequently, these
financial statements do not reflect the results of SNS Islamabad for the period before
the merger transaction occurred and the corresponding amounts for the previous year
presented are not restated.

Following the amalgamation, the Company is pursuing title transfer of land through a
registered sale deed with the CDA. The initial suit filed by CDA was dismissed on January
29, 2024, and is now under appeal before the Islamabad High Court. The Company's
management, based on advice from legal counsel, remains confident of favorable
resolution in the aforementioned matter.

Detail of carrying amount of amalgamated SNS Islamabad's assets and liabilities as on
merger date are as follows:

(Rupees in '000")

Assets
Non-current assets
Property 1,024,115
Investment property 503,681
1,527,796
Current assets
Investment - at amortised cost 259,563
Markup accrued 110
Cash and bank balances 24,339
284,012
Total assets 1,811,808
Liabilities
Security deposit 20,278
Accrued liabilities 2,509
Taxation - net 2,237
25,024
Total liabilities 25,024
Net assets 1,786,784
Adjusted against cost of investment in amalgamated company 1,697,521
89,263
Accumulated profit recognised by the Company till date of merger 60,533
Transfer to surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 28,730

Merger reserve
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION
241 Statement of compliance

These unconsolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The
accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFASs) issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as are notified under the Companies
Act, 2017; and

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Where the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from
the IFRS or IFASs, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017
have been followed.

2.2 Basis of measurement

These unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain items as disclosed in relevant accounting policies.

In these unconsolidated financial statements, being the separate financial statements of
the Company, investment in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost rather than
on the basis of reporting results of the investee. Consolidated financial statements are
prepared separately.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These unconsolidated financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the
Company's functional currency.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of unconsolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
and reporting standards requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgment about carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.
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3.1

3.2

The areas where various assumptions and estimates are significant to the Company's
unconsolidated financial statements or where judgment was exercised in application of
accounting policies are as follows:

Notes 4.2, 4.3, 4.16.4 and 8 Estimate of fair value of financial liabilities at initial

recognition
Notes 4.4, 4.5, 9,13 and 31 Provision for taxation
Notes 4.6, 10 and 15 Right of use asset and corresponding lease liability
Notes 4.8, 11.4 and 11.5 Employee benefits
Notes 4.9, 410 and 14 Provisions and contingencies
Notes 4.11 and 15 Estimate of useful life of property, plant and equipment
Notes 4.12 and 16 Estimate of useful life of intangible assets
Note 4.14 Impairment of non-financial assets
Notes 4.15 and 18 Estimate of recoverable amount of investment in

subsidiaries and associates
Notes 4.16.2, 24.2 and 41.1.3 Expected credit loss allowance
Notes 4.17 and 20 Provision for slow moving stores, spares and loose tools

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO THE APPROVED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

New accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations that are effective for
the year ended June 30, 2025

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for the year ended
June 30, 2025. These standards, amendments and interpretations are either not relevant
to the Company's operations or did not have significant impact on the unconsolidated
financial statements other than certain additional disclosures.

New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective

Effective date
(annual periods
beginning on or

after)
Amendmends to IAS 21 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates' - Lack of Exchangeability January 01, 2025
Amendments to IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' -
Amendments regarding the classification and measurement of
financial instruments January 01, 2026
Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' - Amendments
regarding the classification and measurement of financial
instruments January 01, 2026
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Effective date
(annual periods
beginning on or

after)

[FRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 01, 2026
Certain annual improvements have also been made to a number of IFRSs and IASs.

IFRS 1 'First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards' has been
issued by IASB effective from July 01, 2009. However, it has not been adopted yet locally
by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRS 18 'Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements' has been issued by IASB
effective from January 01, 2027. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRS 19 'Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures' has been issued by IASB
effective from January 01, 2027. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRIC 12 'Service Concession Arrangement' has been issued by IASB effective from
January 01, 2008. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these unconsolidated financial statements.

41 Share capital and dividend

Dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it is declared. Movement in
reserves is recognised in the year in which it is approved.

4.2 Financing and finance cost

Financingisrecognised initially atfair value, less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, financing is stated at amortised cost with any difference between
cost and redemption value being recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit
or loss over the period of the financing on an effective interest basis. Finance cost is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

4.3 Government grants

Government grants are transfer of resources to an entity by a government entity in return
for compliance with certain past or future conditions related to the entity’s operating
activities e.g. a government subsidy.

Government grants are recognised at fair value, as deferred income, when there is
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Company will be able to
comply with the conditions associated with the grants.
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4.4

Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred, are recognised on a
systematic basis in the income for the year in which the finance cost is recognised and
reported net of grant in note 30.

A loan is initially recognised and subsequently measured in accordance with IFRS 9. IFRS
9 requires loans at below-market rates to be initially measured at their fair value - e.g. the
present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at a market-related interest
rate. The benefit that is the government grant is measured as the difference between the
fair value of the loan on initial recognition and the amount received, which is accounted
for according to the nature of the grant.

Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is recognised in
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in the unconsolidated statement of changes in equity and
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of tax after
taking into account applicable tax credits, rebates, losses and exemptions available, if any.

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using balance sheet liability method in respect of all
temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the unconsolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
differences reverse, based on tax rates that have been enacted. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and
assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity or on different tax entities but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

The Company takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by
appellate authorities. Instances where the Company's view differs from the view taken by
the income tax department at the assessment stage and where the Company considers
that its view on items of material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown
as contingent liabilities.
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45 Levies

Minimum tax, final tax and super tax not based on taxable profits are recognised as a levy in
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. The amount calculated on taxable income
using the notified tax rate is recognised as current income tax expense for the year in the
statement of profit or loss under the scope of IAS 12. Any excess of expected income tax
paid or payable for the year under the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 ("the Ordinance") over
the amount designated as current income tax for the year, is then recognised as a levy
falling under the scope of IFRIC 21/ IAS 37.

4.6 Leases
4.61 Right of use assets (ROUs)

The Company recognises right of use assets and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right of use assets is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right of use assets is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from
the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of use
assets or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right of use assets
are determined as those of similar assets or the lease term as specified in contract. In
addition, the right of use assets is periodically reduced by impairment loss, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The Company has not elected to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for
short-term leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low value assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.6.2 Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments
discounted using the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments in the
measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

- Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;
- Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

- The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and

- Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option.
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4.7

4.8

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right of use assets, oris recorded in unconsolidated statement
of profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right of use asset has been reduced to zero.

Trade and other payable

Liabilities for trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost, which is the fair value
of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services received, whether or not
billed to the Company.

Employee benefits
Defined benefit plan

The Company operates approved funded gratuity scheme for all its non management
employees who have completed the minimum qualifying period of service as defined in
the scheme. Provision is made annually to cover obligations under the scheme on the
basis of actuarial valuation and is charged to the unconsolidated statement of profit or
loss. The actuarial gain or loss at each evaluation date are charged to unconsolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

The amount recognised in the unconsolidated statement of financial position represents
the present value of defined benefit obligations as reduced by the fair value of plan assets.

Calculation of gratuity asset requires assumptions to be made of future outcomes which
mainly include increase in remuneration, expected long term return on plan assets and
the discount rate used to convert future cash flows to current values. Calculations are
sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions and determined by actuary.

Defined contribution plan

Adefined contribution planis a post-employment benefit plan where monthly contribution
equal to 1/12th of eligible salary is made by the Company in employees’ pension fund
account maintained with designated asset management company and recognised as
expense in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss as and when they become due.
Employees will be eligible for pension fund on the completion of minimum qualifying
period. On fulfilment of criteria accumulated contribution against qualifying period of
services from the date of joining classified as deferred liability and will be transferred to
employees' pension fund account.

Compensated absences

The Company provides for compensated absences of its employees on unavailed balance
of leaves in the period in which the leave is earned. Accrual to cover the obligations is
made using the current salary levels of the employees.
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49 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation as aresult of a past event, itis probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. However, provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted prospectively to reflect the current best estimates.

410 Contingencies

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Company has a possible obligation as a result of
past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company; or
the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that arises from past events,
but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufficient reliability.

The Company discloses significant contingent liabilities for the pending litigations and
claims against the Company based on its judgment and the advice of the legal advisors
for the estimated financial outcome. The actual outcome of these litigations and claims
can have an effect on the carrying amounts of the liabilities recognised at the reporting
date. However, based on the best judgment of the Company and its legal advisors, the
likely outcome of these litigations and claims is remote and there is no need to recognise
any liability at the reporting date.

411 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment except freehold and leasehold land and capital work in
progress are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, if
any. Leasehold land is stated at revalued amount being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated amortisation and impairment loss while
freehold land is stated at revalued amount being the fair value at the date of revaluation,
less any subsequent impairment loss, if any.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land is recognised in unconsolidated
statement of comprehensive income and presented as a separate component of equity as
"Revaluation surplus on property, plantand equipment”, exceptto the extent thatitreverses
a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. Any decrease
in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of land is charged to the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the
revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment relating to a previous revaluation
of that asset. The surplus on leasehold land to the extent of incremental depreciation
charged is transferred to unappropriated profit.
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412

Capital work in progress and stores held for capital expenditure are stated at cost less
impairment loss recognised, if any. All expenditures connected with specific assets
incurred during installation and construction period are carried under capital work in
progress. These are transferred to specific items of property, plant and equipment when
available for intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repair and maintenance costs that do not meet the recognition criteria are
charged to the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss as and when incurred.

Depreciation / amortisation is charged to the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss
commencing when the asset is ready for its intended use, applying the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life.

In respect of additions and disposals during the year, depreciation / amortisation is
charged when the asset is available for use and up to the month preceding the asset's
classified as held for sale or derecognised, whichever is earlier.

Assets are derecognised when disposed off or when no future economic benefits are
expected to flow from its use. Gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised on net basis in the
unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Company reviews the useful lives of property, plant and equipment on a regular basis.
Similarly revaluation of lands are made with sufficient regularity. Any change in estimates
in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property,
plant and equipment with a corresponding effect on the depreciation / amortisation
charge and impairment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss,
if any. Subsequent cost on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific assets to which it relates. All other
expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation is charged to the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite.
Amortisation on additions to intangible assets is charged from the month in which an
item is acquired or capitalised while no amortisation is charged for the month in which
the item is disposed off.

The Company reviews the useful lives of intangible assets on a regular basis. Any change
in estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of
intangibles with the corresponding effect on the amortisation charge and impairment.
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413 Investment property - at cost

Investment property, principally comprising of land, is held for long term capital
appreciation and is valued using the cost method i.e. at cost less impairment loss, if any.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment
property. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials
and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property
to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs, if any.

The gain or loss on disposal of investment property, represented by the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised as income
or expense in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

414 Impairment of non - financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that assets
except deferred tax assets and inventory may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
carrying amounts of such assets are reviewed to assess whether they are recorded in
excess of their recoverable amounts. Where carrying values exceed the respective
recoverable amounts, assets are written down to their recoverable amounts and the
resulting impairment loss is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss
except for the impairment loss on revalued assets, which is adjusted against the related
revaluation surplus to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the surplus on
revaluation of that asset. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use.

Where impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised recoverable amount but limited to the extent of the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation / amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss
is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

415 Investments

All purchases and sales of investments are recognised using settlement date accounting.
Settlement date is the date on which the investments are delivered to or by the Company.
All investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

4151 Investment in subsidiary

Investment in subsidiary is initially recognised at cost. At subsequent reporting date,
recoverable amounts are estimated to determine the extent of impairment loss, if any,
and carrying amount of investment is adjusted accordingly. Impairment loss is recognised
as expense in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Where impairment loss is
subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of investment are increased to its revised
recoverable amount, limited to the extent of initial cost of investment. Reversal of
impairment loss is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.
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415.2

416

The profit or loss of subsidiary is carried forward in their financial statements and is not
dealt within these unconsolidated financial statements except to the extent of dividend
declared by the subsidiaries. Gain or loss on disposal of investment is included in
unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. When the disposal of investment in subsidiary
results in loss of control such that it becomes an associate, the retained investment is
carried at cost.

Investment in associate

Investment in associate is initially recognised at cost. At subsequent reporting date, the
recoverable amounts are estimated to determine the extent of impairment loss, if any, and
carrying amount of investments are adjusted accordingly. Impairment loss is recognised
as expense in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Where impairment loss is
subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of investment is increased to the revised
recoverable amounts but limited to the extent of initial cost of investments. A reversal of
impairment loss is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. The profit
or loss of associate is carried forward in their financial statements and is not dealt within
these unconsolidated financial statements except to the extent of dividend declared by
the associate. Gain or loss on disposal of investments is included in the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets
Initial measurement

Afinancial asset is initially measured at fair value plus, foranitem notat FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition.

The Company classifies its financial assets into following three categories:
- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);

- fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and

- amortised cost.

Subsequent measurement
i) Debtinstrument at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest / markup income
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gain or loss and
impairment are recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Other
net gain or loss is recognised in the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gain orloss accumulated in the unconsolidated statement
of comprehensive income are reclassified to the unconsolidated statement of profit
or loss.

ii) Equity instrument at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as
income in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gain or loss is
recognised in the unconsolidated statement of comprehensive income and is never
reclassified to the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.
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iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gain or loss, including
any interest / markup and dividend income, are recognised in the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss.

iv) Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment loss. Interest /
markup income, foreign exchange gain or loss and impairment are recognised in the
unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

4161 Other financial assets

Investment in units of mutual funds are classified at fair value through profit or loss and is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently is measured at fair value determined using
the net assets value of the funds at each reporting date. Net gain or loss is recognised in
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investment in term deposit receipts is classified as amortised cost and is initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are included in the
carrying amount. Subsequently, these investments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment loss, if any.
Interest / markup income, loss and impairment are recognised in the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss.

416.2 Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL)
associated withitsfinancial assets carried atamortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

The Company applies the simplified approach for trade debts which requires expected life
time losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

The Company recognises life time ECL for trade debts, using the simplified approach.
The ECL on trade debts is estimated using a provision matrix based on the Company's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. Life time ECL against other receivables is
also recognised due to significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets' gross carrying amount at the reporting
date reduced by security deposit held. For other financial assets, the ECL is based on the
12 month ECL. The 12 month ECL is the portion of life time ECL that results from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
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416.3

416.4

416.5

417

The Company recognises an impairment loss in the unconsolidated statement of profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has
no reasonable expectations of recovering of a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Company individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and
amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery.

The Company writes off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activities.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will result in impairment gain.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or at fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL). A financial liability is classified at FVTPL if it is held for trading, itis a
derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
measured at fair value and net gain or loss, including any interest expense, are recognised
in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gain or loss is recognised in
the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or have expired or when the financial liabilities' cash flows have been substantially
modified.

Off-setting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
unconsolidated statement of financial position, if the Company has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts, and the Company either intends to settle on a
net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

Stores, spare parts and loose tools

These are valued at cost, determined on moving average cost basis or net realisable
value, whichever is lower. For items which are slow moving or identified as surplus to the
Company's requirement, a provision is made for excess of book value over estimated net
realisable value.
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The Company reviews the carrying amount of stores, spare parts and loose tools on
a regular basis. Any change in the estimates in future years might affect the carrying
amounts of the respective items of stores and spares with a corresponding affect on the
provision.

418 Stock in trade

Stock in trade is valued at lower of cost, determined on moving average basis or net
realisable value. The cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the stock items and
other cost incurred in bringing them to their present location and condition.

The Company reviews the carrying amount of stock in trade on a regular basis. Any change
in the estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items
of stock in trade with a corresponding affect on the provision.

419 Trade debts, loans, deposits, interest accrued and other receivables

These are classified at amortised cost and are initially recognised when they are originated
and measured at fair value of consideration receivable. These assets are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Past years experience of credit loss is used
to base the calculation of credit loss.

4.20 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cheques in hand, balances with banks
and highly liquid short term investments that are readily convertible to known amount of
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of change in value with maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition.

4.21 Foreign currencies

Transactions in currencies other than Pak Rupees are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate prevailing
onthereporting date. Gain or loss arising on retranslation isincluded in the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss.

4.22 Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the board of directors that makes strategic decisions.
The management has determined that the Company has a single reportable segment as
the board of directors view the Company's operations as one reportable segment.

4.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer.
Revenue from operations of the Company is recognised when the services are provided,
and thereby the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenue consists of inpatient revenue, outpatient revenue, pharmacy, cafeteria, rent of
building and other services. Company's contract performance obligations are fulfilled at
point in time when the services are provided to customer in case of inpatient, outpatient
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4.24

4.25

and other services and goods are delivered to customer in case of pharmacy and cafeteria
revenue. Revenue is recognised at that point in time, as the control has been transferred
to the customers.

Receivable is recognised when the services are provided and goods are delivered to
customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only
passage of time is required before the payment is due. The Company recognises contract
liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and
reports these amounts as 'advances from customers' in the unconsolidated statement of
financial position.

Interest income is accrued on time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the rent agreement.
Scrap sales and miscellaneous receipts are recognised on realised amounts.
Earnings per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary
shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either:

- Inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or

- Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market is accessible by the Company. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
best economic interest.

A fair value measurement of a non financial asset takes into account a market participant's
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.
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The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and
for which sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. The carrying values of
all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements approximate their fair
values.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the unconsolidated
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

- Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level of input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the unconsolidated financial statements at
fair value on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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5 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP CAPITAL
_ T 204 2024
Number (Rupees in '000)
Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each
61,974,886 61,974,886 issued for cash 619,749 619,749
Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each
1,239,497 1,239,497 issued as fully paid bonus shares 12,395 12,395
63,214,383 63,214,383 632,144 632,144

5.1

5.2

5.3
5.4

The Company has only one class of ordinary shares which carries no right to fixed income.
The shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with
regard to the Company's residual assets.

7,585,725 ordinary shares representing 12% shareholding in the Company are owned by
International Finance Corporation (IFC). IFC has the right to nominate one director at the
board of directors of the Company as long as IFC holds ordinary shares representing 5%
of total issued share capital of the Company. Further, the Company if intends to amend or
repeal the memorandum and articles of association, affects the rights of IFC on its shares
issuance of preference shares ranking senior to the equity securities held by IFC, incur any
financial debt to any shareholder, change the nature of the business of the Company etc.
shall seek consent of IFC.

The Company has no reserved shares for issuance under options and sales contracts.
Capital management

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to ensure the Company'’s ability
not only to continue as a going concern but also to meet its requirements for expansion
and enhancement of its business, maximise return of shareholders and optimise benefits
for other stakeholders to maintain an optimal capital structure and to reduce the cost
of capital. There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management

during the year.
2025 2024

Equity (Rupees in '000) 14,306,619 11,916,016

Debt including lease liabilities (Rupees in '000") 1,808,028 1,868,597

Debt to equity ratio ( Percentage) 11 14

In order to achieve the above objectives, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares through bonus or
right issue or sell assets to reduce debts or raise debts, if required.

SHARE PREMIUM

This comprises of share premium of Rs. 5, Rs. 250 and Rs. 229.29 per share received on
issue of 8,000,000, 4,024,100 and 7,436,986 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each in the years
1994, 2016 and 2020, respectively. Out of the above, the Company during the year ended
June 30, 2022 has issued bonus shares at the rate of 2% (total 1,239,497 bonus shares
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having face value of Rs. 10 each) as approved in Annual General Meeting held on October
28, 2021. The balance reserve cannot be utilised except for the purposes mentioned in
section 81 of the Companies Act, 2017.

2025 2024
(Rupees in '000)
7 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
Balance at beginning of the year 920,827 936,615
Revaluation surplus during the year 181,216 -
Transfer of revaluation surplus on property (note 1.1) 28,730 -
Realisation of revaluation surplus on disposal of assets (14,517) (4,284)
Transferred to unappropriated profit in respect of incremental
depreciation / amortisation charged during the year (11,277) (11,504)
Balance at end of the year 1,104,985 920,827
7.1 Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment in respect of leasehold and

freehold land is not available for distribution of dividend to the shareholders of the
Company in accordance with section 241 of the Companies Act, 2017.

2024
Note (Rupees in '000')
8 LONG TERM FINANCING - SECURED
From banking companies and non-banking
financial institutions

Syndicated Islamic Finance Facility 8.1 - 142,857
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-1 8.2 105,964 78,250
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-2 8.3 - 83,333
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-3 8.4 433,043 577,390
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-4 8.5 475,986 -
Islamic Refinance Facility to Combat COVID -19 (IRFCC) 8.6 28,003 69,647
Deferred income - Government grant 861 5,341
28,864 74,988
Islamic Refinance Facility to Combat COVID-19 (IRFCC) 8.7 13,249 22,245
Deferred income - Government grant 1,516 4,073
14,765 26,318
Refinance Facility to Combat COVID-19 (RFCC) 8.8 45,339 78,486
Deferred income - Government grant 4,648 13,329
49,987 91,815
1,108,609 1,074,951
Less: current portion 255,190 495195
853,419 579,756
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8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

This represented the syndicated islamic finance facility, arranged and lead by Meezan
Bank Limited, obtained on profit rate basis at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.85% per annum. The
facility with sanctioned limit of Rs. 2,000 million has been fully repaid on August 22, 2024.
The financing was secured by pari passu charge of Rs. 2,667 million on all present and
future Company's movable fixed assets and land / building located at H-8/4, Islamabad.
Meezan Bank Limited has the custody of original ownership documents of the Company's
land located at H-8/4 Islamabad.

This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
under Diminishing Musharakah basis from First Habib Modaraba of Rs. 161.90 million
(2024: Rs. 119.10 million). Principal amount is repayable in 60 equal monthly instalments
carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.70% (2024: 3 months KIBOR plus 0.70%)
per annum. The unavailed limit of this facility is nil (2024 nil). This also represented the
long term islamic finance facility obtained from Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited, carrying
profit rate basis at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.80% per annum. The facility with sanctioned
limit of Rs. 470.20 million has been fully repaid on September 30, 2024. The financing was
secured by first exclusive charge of Rs. 781.30 million against equipment / machinery.

This represented the long term islamic finance facility obtained from Meezan Bank Limited,
carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.85% per annum. The facility with sanctioned
limit of Rs. 500 million has been fully repaid on October 01, 2024. The financing was
secured by first pari passu charge of Rs. 667 million on all present and future fixed assets
of the Company.

This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained from
Bank Alfalah Limited of Rs. 577.40 million (2024: Rs. 577.40 million). Principal amount is
repayable in 16 equal quarterly instalments carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus
0.70% (2024: 3 months KIBOR plus 0.70%) per annum. The financing is initially secured
by a ranking charge of Rs. 800 million, which has been upgraded to a first exclusive charge
on the plant and machinery being financed under the Diminishing Musharakah facility to
be installed at the hospital located at H-8/4, Islamabad. The unavailed limit of this facility
is nil (2024 nil).

This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
from Meezan Bank Limited of Rs. 475.9 million (2024 nil). Principal amount is repayable
in 16 equal quarterly instalments carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.50% per
annum. The financing is secured by existing first pari passu charge of Rs. 800 million on
all present and future fixed assets of the Company. The unavailed limit of this facility is Rs.
12410 million (2024 nil).

This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
from Meezan Bank Limited of Rs. 200 million (2024: Rs. 200 million) for the purpose of
import / purchase of medical equipment / machinery to combat COVID-19 under State
Bank of Pakistan IRFCC scheme. Principal amount shall be repaid by January 27, 2026 in
18 equal quarterly instalments with no profit rate. The financing is secured by first pari
passu hypothecation charge of Rs. 267 million on all present and future fixed assets of
the Company (excluding land and building). The unavailed limit of this facility is nil (2024
nil). Since the financing under SBP refinance scheme carries no profit rate, the loan has
been recognised at present value using the Company's effective profit rate along with the
recognition of government grant.
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2025 2024

(Rupees in '000')

Balance at beginning of the year 5,341 13,313

Amortisation during the year (4,480) (7,972)

Balance at end of the year 861 5,341
8.7 This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained

from Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited of Rs. 45.90 million (2024: Rs. 45.90 million) for
the purpose of import / purchase of medical equipment / machinery to combat COVID-19
under State Bank of Pakistan IRFCC scheme. Principal amount shall be repaid in 9 equal
half yearly instalments with profit rate of 1% per annum. The facility is secured by exclusive
charge of Rs. 55 million over equipment / machinery against DM IRFCC. The unavailed
limit of this facility is nil (2024 nil). Since the financing under SBP refinance scheme carries
the profit rate below the market rate, the loan has been recognised at present value using
the Company's effective profit rate along with the recognition of government grant.

2025 2024

(Rupees in '000")

Balance at beginning of the year 4,073 7,447

Amortisation during the year (2,557) (3,374)

Balance at end of the year 1,516 4,073
8.8 This represents the outstanding balance of long term finance facility obtained from

United Bank Limited of Rs. 185.20 million (2024: Rs. 185.20 million). Principal amount
shall be repaid by September 14, 2026 in 18 equal quarterly instalments carrying profit
at 1% per annum. The financing is secured by first pari passu charge of Rs. 267 million
over fixed assets (excluding land and building) of the Company. The unavailed limit of
this facility is nil (2024 nil). Since the financing under SBP refinance scheme carries the
markup rate below the market rate, the loan has been recognised at present value using
the Company's effective profit rate along with the recognition of government grant.

2025 2024

(Rupees in '000'")

Balance at beginning of the year 13,329 27,830
Amortisation during the year (8,681) (14,501)
Balance at end of the year 4,648 13,329
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2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000')
9 DEFERRED LIABILITIES
Deferred taxation 9.1 244,422 354,960
Defined contribution plan 44 846 34,434
289,268 389,394
9.1 Deferred taxation:
Deferred tax liability 911 530,575 604,045
Deferred tax asset 9.1.2 (286,153) (249,085)
Net deferred tax liability 244,422 354,960
9.1.1 Deferred tax liability on taxable temporary
differences:
Accelerated depreciation / amortisation allowance 530,575 604,045
9.1.2 Deferred tax asset on deductible temporary
differences:
Right of use assets net of lease liabilities (57,984) (66,580)
Specific provisions (188,105) (130,739)
Retirement benefit obligation (40,064) (51,766)
(286,153) (249,085)
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9.1.3 Breakup and movement of deferred tax balances is as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities / (assets) Opening Statement of Other Closing
balance profit or loss comprehensive balance
income
(Rupees in '000')
2025
Effect of taxable temporary differences
Accelerated depreciation / amortisation
allowance 604,045 (73,470) 530,575
Effect of deductible temporary differences
Right of use assets net of lease liabilities (66,580) 8,596 (57,984)
Specific provisions (130,739) (57,366) - (188,105)
Retirement benefit obligation (51,766) 44193 (32,491) (40,064)
354,960 (78,047) (32,491) 244,422
2024
Effect of taxable temporary differences
Accelerated depreciation / amortisation
allowance 642,947 (38,902) 604,045
Effect of deductible temporary differences
Right of use assets net of lease liabilities (59,669) (6,911) (66,580)
Specific provisions (118,572) (12,167) - (130,739)
Retirement benefit obligation (66,133) 62,972 (48,605) (51,766)
398,573 4,992 (48,605) 354,960
9.1.4 Deferred tax assets and liabilities on temporary differences are measured at the rate of 39% (2024: 39%).
2024
Note (Rupees in '000'")
10 LEASE LIABILITIES
Balance at beginning of the year 793,646 727,642
Addition during the year 207,615 291,807
Interest expense during the year 30 111146 92,428
Termination during the year 101 (83,217) (399)
Payment during the year (329,771) (317,832)
Balance at end of the year 10.2 699,419 793,646
Less: current portion 192,895 266,739
506,524 526,907
10.1 Pursuant to the merger / amalgamation disclosed in note 1.1, the ROU asset amounting

to Rs. 49.80 million and the corresponding lease liability of Rs. 77.90 million, related to a
building leased from SNS Islamabad, have been derecognised. Consequently, a net gain

of Rs. 28.10 million has been recorded in other income (note 28).
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10.2 Lease liabilities are payable as follows:
Minimum Interest Present value
lease of minimum
payments lease
payments
(Rupees in '000")
2025
Less than one year 242,874 49979 192,895
Between one and five years 528,383 142,038 386,345
More than five years 218,502 98,323 120,179
989,759 290,340 699,419
2024
Less than one year 303,062 36,323 266,739
Between one and five years 585,023 189,059 395,964
More than five years 250177 119,234 130,943
1,138,262 344,616 793,646
Note (Rupees in '000')
10.3 Amounts recognised in the unconsolidated
statement of profit or loss
Interest expense on lease liabilities 30 111,146 92,428
Expense relating to short term / low value lease 29 26,218 15,754
137,364 108,182
11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Creditors 11.1 2,456,297 2,097,474
Accrued liabilities 749,818 616,962
Advances from customers - contract liability 1.2 422,014 384,383
Medical consultants' charges 726,226 476,006
Security deposits 11.3 144,573 132,451
Compensated absences 1.4 223,374 175,903
Defined contribution plan 31,027 16,185
Retention money 9,600 11,959
Shifa International Hospitals Limited (SIHL)
Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust (the Fund) 11.5 102,728 132,734
4,865,657 4,044,057
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(Rupees in '000")

111 This includes payable to related parties
(unsecured) as detailed below:
Tameer-e-Millat Foundation (TMF) 4,186 7,285
Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University (STMU) 42,798 31,566
46,984 38,851
11.2 Advances from customers - contract liability
Balance at beginning of the year 384,383 276,239
Revenue recognised during the year (71,099) (88,650)
Advance refund during the year (64,797) -
Advance received during the year 173,527 196,794
Balance at end of the year 422,014 384,383
11.3 This includes security deposits retained from employees of Rs. 54.44 million (2024: Rs.
47.53 million) held in separate bank account and balances obtained from customers of Rs.
90.14 million (2024: Rs. 84.92 million) that are utilisable for the purpose of the business in
accordance with agreement with customers.
2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
11.4 Compensated absences
Balance at beginning of the year 175,903 145,524
Provision made for the year 136,518 103,063
312,421 248,587
Payments made during the year (89,047) (72,684)
Balance at end of the year 11.41 223,374 175,903
11.4.1  Actuarial valuation of un-availed leaves has not been carried out since management
believes that the effect of actuarial valuation would not be material.
2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
11.5 The amount recognised in the unconsolidated
statement of financial position:
Present value of defined benefit obligation 11.5.1 769150 556,506
Fair value of plan assets 11.5.2 (666,422) (423,772)
102,728 132,734
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(Rupees in '000")

11.51 Movement in the present value of defined benefit

obligation:
Balance at beginning of the year 556,506 387,539
Interest cost 77,364 56,4472
Current service cost 98,635 72,974
Benefits paid (60,107) (78,839)
Benefits payable (3,895) (2,635)
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit obligation 100,647 121,025
Balance at end of the year 769150 556,506
11.5.2 Movement in the fair value of plan assets:
Balance at beginning of the year 423,772 217,966
Interest income on plan assets 73,956 48,772
Contributions 215,360 242112
Benefits paid (60,107) (78,839)
Benefits payable (3,895) (2,635)
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 17,336 (3,604)
Balance at end of the year 666,422 423,772
11.5.3  Charge for the year:
Current service cost 98,635 72,974
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 77,364 56,442
Interest income on plan assets (73,956) (48,772)
102,043 80,644

11.5.4 Remeasurements recognised in the
unconsolidated statement of comprehensive

income (OCI):
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit obligation 100,647 121,025
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income (17,336) 3,604
Remeasurement loss recognised in OCI 83,311 124,629
Deferred tax relating to remeasurement of staff

gratuity fund benefit plan (32,491) (48,605)

50,820 76,024
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Note (Rupees in '000")

11.5.5 Movement in liability recognised in

unconsolidated statement of financial position:

Balance at beginning of the year 132,734 169,573

Charge for the year 102,043 80,644

Remeasurement recognised in OCl during the year 83,311 124,629

Contributions during the year (215,360) (242112)

Balance at end of the year 102,728 132,734
11.5.6  Plan assets comprise of:

Term deposit receipts 559,671 306,190

Ordinary shares of SIHL 11.5.61 37,279 11,503

Cash and bank balances 89,616 122,328

Payable to outgoing members (20,144) (16,249)

666,422 423,772

11.5.6.1 Number of ordinary shares held by the Fund at year end were 78,461 shares (2024 78,461
shares) with market value of Rs. 475.13 (2024: Rs. 146.61) per share.

11.5.7  Latest actuarial valuation was carried out by an independent actuary on June 30, 2025

using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
2024

11.5.8 Principal actuarial assumptions used in the
actuarial valuation:

Discount rate used for interest cost in profit or loss 14.75% 16.25%
Discount rate used for year end obligation 11.75% 14.75%
Expected rate of salary growth
- Salary increase FY 2025 N/A 13.75%
- Salary increase FY 2026 onward 11.75% 13.75%
Mortality rate SLIC SLIC

2001-2005 2001-2005
set back 1 set back 1

year year
Withdrawal rates Age based  Age based
Retirement assumption Age 60 Age 60
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11.5.9 Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to assumptions set out
above. The following table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting period would have increased / decreased as a result of a
change in respective assumptions by one percent.
2025 2024
Defined benefit obligation Defined benefit obligation
Effect of 1% Effect of 1% Effect of 1% Effect of 1%
increase decrease increase decrease
(Rupees in '000")
Discount rate 714,039 833,098 519,684 598,872
Future salary increase 832,486 713,577 598,872 519,075
11.5.10 The average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at June 30, 2025 is 8 years
(2024: 7 years).
11.5.11 The expected expenses for the next year amount to Rs. 141.06 million.
11.5.12 Risks associated with the scheme

Final salary risk

The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what we
assumed. Since the benefit is calculated on the final salary (which will closely reflect
inflation and other macroeconomic factors), the benefit amount increases as salary
increases.

Demographic risks
a) Mortality risk

The risk that the actual mortality experience is different than the assumed mortality.
This effect is more pronounced in schemes where the age and service distribution is on
the higher side.

b) Withdrawal risk

The risk of actual withdrawals experience is different from assumed withdrawal
probability. The significance of the withdrawal risk varies with the age, service and the
entitled benefits of the beneficiary.

c) Investment risk

The risk of the investment under performing and being not sufficient to meet the
liabilities.
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
12 MARKUP ACCRUED
Long term financing 7974 23,858
13 TAXATION - NET
Tax refundable at beginning of the year (225,780) (287,675)
Income tax paid / deducted at source during the year (1,553,502) (827,215)
(1,779,282)  (1,114,890)
Income tax expense / levies 31 1,883,783 889,110
Tax payable / (refund) at end of the year 104,501 (225,780)
14 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
141 Contingencies

1411 The guarantees issued by bank in favour of Sui Northern Gas Pipelines Limited (SNGPL)
and Imtiaz Group (SMC-Private) Limited of aggregate sum of Rs. 36.60 million (2024
Rs. 33.10 million) on behalf of the Company in its ordinary course of business.

14.1.2 The Company is facing claims and penalties amounting to Rs. 5.9 million (2024: Rs.
22.25 million). Against these claims the Company has made payments under protest
amounting to Rs. 2.4 million (2024: Rs. 1.4 million). In compliance with the directions
of the Islamabad High Court (IHC), the Company has furnished a bank guarantee for Rs.
0.5 million (2024: Rs. 1.5 million) and, submitted a pay order of Rs. 2 million to the IHC.
These claims and penalties originated from ongoing legal proceedings and complaints
currently under litigation before the Islamabad, Peshawar and Lahore High Courts and
the Supreme Court of Pakistan.

Furthermore, onJune 06,2012, the Competition Commission of Pakistan (CCP) imposed
a penalty of Rs. 20 million against each Gulf Cooperation Council's (GCC) Approved
Medical Center (GAMC), including the Company, on the allegations of engaging in non-
competitive practices involving territorial division and equal allocation of customers
among GAMCs. The Company, in conjunction with other GAMCs, is actively contesting
this matter which is presently pending adjudication before the Competition Appellate
Tribunal (CAT) and the Supreme Court of Pakistan.

Subsequently, the CAT has adjudicated the matter and through order dated August
11, 2025, reduced the penalty from Rs. 20 million to Rs. 2 million. The Company, in
conjunction with other GAMCs, will contest the order of the CAT by preferring an appeal
before the Supreme Court of Pakistan.

Following the CAT's order, the CCP, without serving any notice on the Company and
in deviation from the procedure prescribed under the Competition Act, 2010, initiated
coercive recovery proceedings. On August 12, 2025, the CCP proceeded to attach the
Company's accounts and recovered an aggregate amount of Rs. 4.01 million, i.e. twice
the penalty determined by the CAT. Consequently, the Company is in the process of
filing a writ petition before the IHC seeking, inter alia, a declaration that the recovery is
illegal and the refund of the unlawfully recovered amount of Rs. 4.01 million.
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14.1.3

141.4
14.1.41

14.1.4.2

14.1.4.3

The Company's management, based on advice from respective legal counsels, remains
confident of favorable resolutions in the aforementioned matters.

During the year, the Company has received a demand notice from the Capital
Development Authority (CDA) regarding the payment of regularisation charges. As per
the notice dated March 21, 2025, CDA has demanded payment of Rs. 790.76 million
as regularisation charges, out of which Rs. 384.92 million has already been paid by the
Company. The balance amount of Rs. 405.84 million is being contested vehemently as
the same is beyond the scope of legal charges / rates invoked at the time of demand.
The Company intends to pursue rigorously and avail all appropriate legal remedy before
competent forum. The Company has also expressed its protest in clear terms to the
CDA against said excessive demand. No provision has been made in these financial
statements as the Company's management as per advice of the legal counsel, is
confident that a favorable outcome will be achieved.

Contingencies related to income tax and sales tax are as follows:

The tax authorities amended the assessments for the tax years 2012 to 2016, 2019, 2021
and 2023 under section 122(5A) of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance).
They raised total tax demands of Rs. 648.70 million against these years. The Company,
being aggrieved, appealed these amended assessments before the Commissioner
Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)] or the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR), as
applicable, on various dates from September 2018 to February 2025. These appeals are
currently pending adjudication.

The tax authorities imposed taxes of Rs. 109.60 million, Rs. 178.40 million, Rs. 27.40
million, and Rs. 29.20 million under section 161/205 of the Ordinance for the tax years
2016, 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively, based on alleged non-deduction of tax on
payments. The Company, being aggrieved, appealed these assessments before the
CIR(A). Regarding the tax year 2012, the CIR(A) deleted the assessment, while for the
tax years 2013 and 2016, the assessment was set aside, and for the tax year 2014, the
assessment was confirmed. The Company, still aggrieved, filed appeals for the tax years
2013, 2014, and 2016 before the ATIR. The appeals for the tax years 2013 and 2016
were filed on November 26, 2019 and June 06, 2023 respectively, and they are currently
pending adjudication. Additionally, the ATIR has set aside the assessment for the tax
year 2014 for denovo consideration.

The tax authorities amended the assessments for the tax years 2012 to 2018 under
section 122(1)/(5) of the Ordinance. They raised an aggregate tax demand of Rs. 2,537.10
million. Being aggrieved, the Company appealed these assessments before the CIR(A)
except tax year 2018. The CIR(A) annulled all the assessment orders from October 15,
2018 to October 23, 2018 resulting in the deletion of the tax demands. Dissatisfied with
the CIR(A)'s decision, the tax department filed an appeal before the ATIR fromn November
15, 2018 to November 27, 2019. These appeals are currently pending adjudication. For
the tax year 2018, the Company appealed the assessment before the ATIR on July 24,
2024.
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141.4.4  The tax authorities imposed sales tax under section 11 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990, on the
alleged non-payment of sales tax on sales of scrap, fixed assets, and cafeteria services
for the tax years 2016 to 2020, raising total tax demands of Rs. 225.20 million for these
years. Upon appeal, the ATIR through orders from February 16, 2021 to July 30, 2024
deleted the sales tax charged on cafeteria services and fixed assets but confirmed the
salestaxonscrap. Furthermore, forthe taxyears 2016 and 2020, the department has filed
sales tax references before the High Court, which are currently pending adjudication.

14.1.4.5 In the case of amalgamated entity, SNS Islamabad, the tax authorities amended the
assessment for tax year 2021 under section 122(5A) of the Ordinance, through an
order dated August 31, 2022, creating a demand of Rs. 8.50 million by disallowing a
refund adjustment from tax year 2020. The CIR(A) annulled the order on February 10,
2023. However, a fresh notice for reassessment was issued on May 27, 2025, and a
revised order was passed on the same grounds, alleging the refund of Rs. 8.50 million
as unverified. Being aggrieved, the Company filed an appeal before CIR(A) on July 24,
2025 which is pending adjudication.

Management is confident that the above disallowances and levies do not hold merit
and the related amounts have been lawfully claimed in the income and sales tax returns
as per the applicable tax laws and these matters will ultimately be decided in favour of
the Company. Accordingly, no provision has been made in respect of above in these

unconsolidated financial statements.
2025 2024
(Rupees in '000')

14.2 Commitments
14.2.1 Capital expenditure contracted 160,117 294,233
14.2.2 Letter of credit - 521,187
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15.1 The Company's leasehold and freehold lands were revalued as at June 30, 2025, by an
independent valuer on a fair market value basis.

15.2 Had there been no revaluation, the carrying value would have been as under:
Cost Accumulated Carrying
amortisation value

(Rupees in '000")

Freehold land

June 30, 2024 14,483 - 14,483

Leasehold land

June 30, 2024 197,646 13,805 183,841
15.3 Particulars of Company's freehold and leasehold land are as follows:
Location Nature Area

Shifa Cooperative Housing Society,

Islamabad Expressway - Sqg. yds Freehold land 1003 1003
SIHL H-8/4, Islamabad * - Kanal Leasehold land 87.8 87.8
Neuro Sciences Institute H-8/4,

Islamabad * - Sqg. yds Leasehold land 7100 -

*The covered area includes multi-storey buildings.

15.4 Property, plant and equipment include items with aggregate cost of Rs. 3,484.01 million
(2024: Rs. 3,165.68 million) representing fully depreciated assets that are still in use of the
Company.

15.5 Property, plant and equipment of the Company are encumbered under an aggregate
charge of Rs. 7,665.59 million (2024 Rs. 8,116.83 million) in favor of lenders under various
financing arrangements as disclosed in note 8.

15.6 The Forced Sale Value (FSV) of the revalued leasehold and freehold land has been assessed
atRs. 1,627.93 million (2024: Rs. 716.78 million) and Rs. 51 million (2024: Rs. 32.53 million)
respectively.
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
15.7 Capital work in progress
Civil work 212,638 243,714
Installation of equipment 251,719 92,875
464,357 336,589
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Softwares in use 16.1 37,265 1,405
Software under development / deployment 16.2 5,787 39,375
43,052 40,780
161 Softwares in use
Cost
Balance at beginning of the year 109,400 109,400
Addition during the year 39,375 -
Balance at end of the year 148,775 109,400
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at beginning of the year 107,995 106,941
Charged during the year 3,515 1,054
Balance at end of the year 111,510 107,995
Carrying value 37,265 1,405
16.2 Software under development / deployment
Balance at beginning of the year 39,375 39,375
Addition during the year 16.2.1 5,787 -
Capitalised during the year (39,375) -
Balance at end of the year 5,787 39,375
Annual amortisation rate (percentage) 25 25
16.2.1  This represents advance paid for implementation of Oracle Fusion software.

132

Shifa International Hospitals Limited




NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY - AT COST
Balance at beginning of the year 720,292 748,450
Disposed off during the year (95,420) (28,158)
Balance at end of the year 171 624,872 720,292
171 This represents freehold land comprising of 11 plots at Shifa Cooperative Housing Society,

Islamabad Expressway (SCHS), 48K-3M-182 Sqgft at Chak No. 4, near Sargodha Road,
Faisalabad of which 20K-14M-181 Sgft are subject to possession proceedings and 105.02
kanal at Motorway, Mouza Noon, Islamabad. An independent valuation was conducted
to determine the fair value of the investment property. The prices were assessed through
a market survey of comparable properties in the vicinity. The fair value was based on
the independent valuer's professional judgment, using openly available information and
inquiries made in the market. Valuation was carried out by an independent valuer who
holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in
the location and category of the investment property being valued. The fair value and
forced sale value of the land located at SCHS, Sargodha Road Faisalabad and Motorway,
Mouza Noon, Islamabad are Rs. 430 million, Rs. 146.24 million, Rs. 315.06 million (2024
Rs. 360.12 million, Rs. 136.89 million, Rs. 425.02 million) and Rs. 365.50 million, Rs.
116.99 million, Rs. 252.05 million (2024: Rs. 288.09 million, Rs. 109.51 million, Rs. 340.02
million) respectively.

During the previous year, the Company was informed by its former property dealer about
the sale of 49 kanal of land located at Mouza Noon, Islamabad; however, the Company
was provided with the sale proceeds of only 10.83 kanal. Further, in coordination with
land revenue authorities based on the Company's verification of land title against official
record through an independent source, the authorities, in their latest assessment to
date, have confirmed the Company's ownership of 105.02 kanal, of which 6.5 kanal
remain under review. Accordingly, the sales proceeds of 36.7 kanal land were recorded in
other receivables. The matter is being pursued, and the final outcome of the assessment
will form the basis for determining the appropriate course of action.
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
18 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS - AT COST
In subsidiary companies (unquoted):
Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited
(SDSPL) 18.2 9,966 9,966
Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute Islamabad
(Private) Limited (SNS Islamabad) 18.3 - 1,697,521
Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private)
Limited (SNH Faisalabad) 18.4 2,137,373 1,582,279
Shifa Medical Centre Islamabad (Private)
Limited (SMC Islamabad) 18.5 1,660,180 1,356,170
In associated companies (unquoted):
Shifa CARE (Private) Limited (SCPL) 18.6 45,001 45,001
SIHT (Private) Limited (SIHT) 18.7 725,000 425,000
4,577,520 5115,937
Less: Impairment loss
Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited (SDSPL) 9,966 9,966
Shifa CARE (Private) Limited (SCPL) 45,001 45,001
54,967 54,967
4,522,553 5,060,970
18.1 Per share breakup values of these investments are given below:
(Rupees)
Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited (SDSPL) (8.70) (8.02)
Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute Islamabad
(Private) Limited (SNS Islamabad) - 10.54
Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited
(SNH Faisalabad) 11.16 11.06
Shifa Medical Centre Islamabad (Private) Limited
(SMC Islamabad) 13.29 12.90
Shifa Care (Private) Limited (SCPL) (0.60) 0.16
SIHT (Private) Limited 68.63 54.34
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18.2 This represents investment in 1,650,000 (2024 1,650,000) fully paid ordinary shares of
Rs. 10 each of SDSPL. The above investment in ordinary shares represents 55% (2024
55%) shareholding in SDSPL held by the Company. During the last year the investment
has been fully impaired in view of financial difficulties faced by SDSPL due to which it
might not be able to continue its business.

18.3 Prior to the merger as disclosed in note 1.1, the Company held 169,752,100 fully paid
ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each, representing 100% of SNS Islamabad's share capital.
Post-merger, the investment of Rs. 1,697.52 million has been fully adjusted against SNS
Islamabad's net assets.

18.4 This represents investment in 213,737,338 (2024: 158,227,912) fully paid ordinary shares
of Rs. 10 each of SNH Faisalabad. The above investment in ordinary shares represents
60% (2024: 61%) shareholding in SNH Faisalabad held by the Company.

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
18.5 Investment in equity shares 18.51 1,356,170 1,356,170
Advance paid for acquisition of shares 18.5.2 304,010 -
1,660,180 1,356,170

18.51 This represents investment in 135,617,001 (2024: 135,617,001) fully paid ordinary shares
of Rs. 10 each of SMC Islamabad. The above investment in ordinary shares represents
56% (2024: 56%) shareholding in SMC Islamabad held by the Company.

18.5.2  This represents the first instalment paid to Interloop Holdings (Private) Limited (ILHPL)
under a tripartite Share Purchase Agreement (SPA) dated July 10, 2025 for the acquisition
of 96,572,500 shares (40% equity interest) in SMC Islamabad, with total consideration
of Rs. 1,520.05 million payable in five quarterly instalments. Subsequent to year-end,
the referred shares were transferred to the Company in accordance with the SPA,
secured through four post-dated cheques issued by the Company and a pending share
pledge agreement over SNH Faisalabad shares worth Rs. 1,216.04 million, owned by the
Company.

In addition to above Rs. 106.68 million was paid post year-end to minority shareholders for
a 2.81% stake, increasing the Company's ownership in SMC Islamabad to approximately
99%.

The above acquisition was approved by shareholders in the Extraordinary General
Meeting held on June 5, 2025.

18.6 This represents investment in 4,500,050 (2024 4,500,050) fully paid ordinary shares of
Rs. 10 each of SCPL. The above investment in ordinary shares represents 50% (2024
50%) shareholding in SCPL held by the Company. During the last year, the investment
has been fully impaired in view of the financial difficulties faced by SCPL due to which it
might not be able to continue its business.
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Summary of results of SCPL are as under:

2025

2024

(Rupees in '000')

Summarised statement of financial position

Non-current assets

Current assets 2,609 2,921

Current liabilities (7,997) (1,437)
Net assets (5,388) 1,484
Reconciliation to carrying amount

Opening net assets 1,484 90,157
Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,872) (88,673)
Closing net assets (5,388) 1,484
Company's share in carrying value of net assets (2,694) 742

Company's share in total comprehensive loss (3,436) (44,336)
Summarised statement of profit or loss and

comprehensive income

Revenue for the year - gross - -

Depreciation and amortisation (174) (4,008)
Finance cost - (256)
Provision for taxation - -

Loss for the year (6,872) (88,673)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,872) (88,673)

18.6.1
18.7

The above information is based on management financial statements of SCPL.

In line with the decision of board of directors of the Company in its meeting held on
April 12, 2023, on September 23, 2023, the Company entered into a tripartite Shares
Purchase Agreement (SPA) with Shifa Foundation and its wholly owned subsidiary SIHT
(Private) Limited (SIHT) for acquiring 50% shareholding in SIHT from Shifa Foundation.

The SPA provides that the paid up share capital of SIHT shall be increased from Rs. 100.10
million to Rs. 500.10 million representing 5,001,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 100 each over
the arrangement period. The SPA further provides that the referred acquisition of equity
interest in SIHT to be made in 9 quarterly instalments shall be completed by September
30, 2025. Accordingly, by the end of the current year a sum of Rs. 300 million (2024: Rs.
425 million) has been paid to Shifa Foundation to acquire further 937,680 shares (2024

1,328,397 shares).
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At year end the Company has investment in 2,266,077 (2024: 1,328,397) fully
paid ordinary shares of Rs. 100 each of SIHT representing 45.30% (2024: 29.50%)

shareholding.

Summary of results of SIHT are as under:

2025

2024

(Rupees in '000)

Summarised statement of financial position

Non-current assets 181,806 179,734
Current assets 415,707 285,698
Non-current liabilities (88,558) (100,482)
Current liabilities (165,714) (120,376)
Net assets 343,241 244 574
Reconciliation to carrying amount
Opening net assets 244,574 (84,443)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 48,668 (20,983)
Equity 50,000 350,000
Closing net assets 343,242 244,574
Company's share in carrying value of net assets 72,941 42,073
Company's share in total comprehensive income / (loss) 16,112 (955)
Summarised statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income
Revenue for the year - gross 717,519 597,996
Depreciation and amortisation (39,814) (45,827)
Finance cost (13182) (17,398)
Provision for taxation (15,646) (10,065)
Profit / (loss) for the year 48,668 (20,983)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 48,668 (20,983)
18.7.1 The above information is based on initialled financial statements of SIHT.
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19 LONG TERM DEPOSITS
This represents security deposits given to various institutions / persons and are
refundable on termination of relevant services / arrangements. These are unsecured and
considered good.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
20 STORES, SPARE PARTS AND LOOSE TOOLS
Stores 229,584 252,158
Spare parts 13,710 7,806
Loose tools 1,303 1,380
244 597 261,344
Less: provision for slow moving items 201 20,436 17,765
224161 243,579
201 Movement of provision for slow moving items
Balance at beginning of the year 17,765 19,657
Charged / (reversal) during the year 2,671 (1,892)
Balance at end of the year 20,436 17,765
21 STOCK IN TRADE
This represents medicines being carried at moving average cost.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")
22 TRADE DEBTS
Unsecured - considered good
Related party - Shifa Foundation 221 14,422 7137
Others 1,740,911 1,580,199
1,755,333 1,587,336
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (ECL)  41.1.3 293,877 241147
1,461,456 1,346,189
221 Maximum amount due from Shifa Foundation at the end of any month during the year

was Rs. 24.58 million (2024: Rs. 15.80 million).
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
23 LOANS AND ADVANCES
Secured - considered good
Executives 12,281 10,641
Other employees 16,420 23,239
23.1 28,701 33,880
Unsecured - consultants 7123 13,870
Unsecured - suppliers / contractors 102,201 109,707
109,324 123,577
138,025 157,457
231 These advances are secured against employee terminal benefits.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
24 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES
Unsecured - considered good
Short term prepayments 52,998 48,561
Security deposit (refer note 1.1) - 20,278
Other receivables 241 311,254 192,876
364,252 261,715
Less: allowance for expected credit losses
against other receivables 242 168,008 76,317
196,244 185,398
241 This includes Rs. 59.90 million (2024: Rs. 30.33 million) due from SIHT (Private) Limited.
Maximum amount due from SIHT (Private) Limited at the end of any month during the
year was Rs. 148.88 million (2024: Rs. 133.80 million).
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
24.2 Allowance for expected credit losses against
other receivables (unrelated parties)
Balance at beginning of the year 76,317 57,812
Charged during the year 24.2.1 91,691 18,505
Balance at end of the year 168,008 76,317

ANNUAL REPORT2025 139



NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

24.2.1  This represents an amount whose recovery is considered doubtful.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
25 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investment in Term Deposit Receipt - at
amortised cost 251 3,000 3,000
Investment in Mutual Fund - at fair value
through profit or loss 25.2 1,003,355 199,566
1,006,355 202,566
251 This represents term deposit receipt (TDR) having face value of Rs. 3 million (2024: Rs.
3 million) with three months maturity. Profit payable on monthly basis at the weighted
average rate of 11.17% (2024: 18.98%).
25.2 Thisrepresentsinvestmentin 2,175,860 (2024:1,973,327) and 76,983,043 (2024 nil) units
of UBL Al-Ameen Islamic Cash Fund and NBP Islamic Money Market Fund, respectively.
Fair value of the investment was determined using quoted repurchase price at year end.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash at bank in:
Current accounts:
Local currency 570,771 396,855
Foreign currency 365,160 913,410
935,931 1,310,265
Saving accounts:
Local currency 2,561,048 792,779
Foreign currency 284 278
261 2,561,332 793,057
26.2 3,497,263 2,103,322
Cash in hand 14,551 26,055
3,511,814 2,129,377
261 Balances with saving accounts earned profit / mark-up at weighted average rate of
13.43% per annum (2024: 16.52% per annum).
26.2 Balances with banks includes Rs. 144.58 million (2024: Rs. 132.45 million) in respect of

security deposits (note 11.3).
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
27 REVENUE - NET
Inpatients 17,581,470 14,796,234
Outpatients 9,780,501 8,194,000
Other services 271 810,716 773,422
28,172,687 23,763,656
Less: discount 112,414 116,591
Less: sales tax 92,612 83,225
205,026 199,816
27,967,661 23,563,840
271 This represents revenue from external pharmacy outlets, cafeteria sales and operating
leases to related parties / other parties.
27.2 The revenue-net is excluding of physician share of Rs. 2,910.43 million (2024: Rs. 1,930.07
million).
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
28 OTHER INCOME
Income from financial assets:
Profit on bank balances 185,262 66,914
Dividend income from mutual fund -
investments at fair value through profit or loss 27,690 35,844
Un-realised gain on investments at fair value
through profit or loss 25,803 14,180
Dividend income from subsidiary 281 50,926 16,975
289,681 133,913
Income from other than financial assets:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 2,500 2,664
Exchange gainonforeign currency translation 7199 -
Sale of scrap - net of sales tax 13,147 23,222
Miscellaneous 28.2 90,295 30,324
113,141 56,210
402,822 190,123
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28.1 This represents the dividend at the rate of Re. 0.30 (2024: Re. 0.10) per share received
from former subsidiary, SNS Islamabad.

28.2 Thisincludes an amount of Rs. 28.27 million (2024 nil) [net of sales tax] received from DAI
Pakistan (Private) Limited under the Fleming Fund Country Grant - Pakistan, to support
the implementation of the Clinical Engagement Program for Antimicrobial Resistance
(AMR) related interventions. Further, all relevant expenses of this project have been

recorded under the respective operating expense heads.
2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
29 OPERATING COSTS

Salaries, wages and benefits 291 8,869,196 7,800,352
Medicines consumed 29.2 6,700,403 6,083,422
Supplies consumed 3,023,211 2,429,431
Utilities 1,352,916 1,327,372
Depreciation / amortisation 15 1,090,495 1,079,702
Repairs and maintenance 1,251,342 1,123,554
Rates and taxes 29.3 395,357 23,832
Cleaning and washing 271,309 271,911
Printing and stationery 198,154 223,406
Fee, subscription and membership 142,784 141,466
Travelling and conveyance 60,432 47785
Communication 59,956 70,189
Advertising and sales promotion 41,358 50,956
Legal and professional 39,511 32,400
Rent 26,218 15,754
Insurance 23,327 20,704
Property, plant and equipment written off 29.4 75,709 7168
Loss on disposal of investment property 7,340 2,708
Auditors' remuneration 29.5 4,498 4,218
Amortisation on intangible assets 16 3,515 1,054
Charged / (reversal) of provision for

slow moving stores 2,671 (1,892)
Impairment loss on long term investments- at cost - 54,967
Exchangeloss on foreign currency translation - 26,469
Loss on derecognition of investment - 21,015
Miscellaneous 97,812 87,011

23,737,514 20,944,954
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29.1 This includes charge for employee gratuity of Rs. 102.04 million (2024 Rs. 80.64 million),
defined contribution plan (pension) of Rs. 129.23 million (2024: Rs. 109.03 million),
compensated absences of Rs. 136.52 million (2024: Rs. 103.06 million) and bonus of Rs.
302.79 million (2024: Rs. 170.73 million).

29.2 This includes stock-in-trade amounting to Rs. 6.44 million (2024 nil) written off during
the year.

29.3 This includes an amount of Rs. 384.92 million paid to the Capital Development Authority
(CDA) for building regularisation charges (note 14.1.3).

29.4 This represents property, plant and equipment written off that were determined to be
irreparable after carrying out detailed reassessment / physical verification exercise by the
management.

2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")

29.5 Auditors' remuneration
Annual audit fee 1,881 1,710
Half yearly review fee 990 900
Statutory certifications 745 850
Out of pocket expenses 340 239

3,956 3,699
Sales tax 542 519
4,498 4,218

30 FINANCE COSTS
Markup on long term loans - secured 145,775 249,397
Interest on lease liabilities 10 111,146 92,428
Credit card payment collection and bank charges 96,911 99,229

353,832 441,054

31 INCOME TAX EXPENSE / LEVIES

Current tax
- for the year 1,736,264 889,110
- prior year 147,519 -
13 & 31.1 1,883,783 889110
Deferred tax (expense) / income (78,047) 4,993
1,805,736 894,103

311

Reconciliation between current tax charged under the Ordinance with current tax

recognised in the unconsolidated statement of profit or loss, is as follows:
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")

Current tax liability for the year as per the Ordinance
Portion of current tax liability as per tax law,

representing income tax under IAS 12 1,876,860 881,822
Portion of current tax liability as per tax law,

representing levy in term of requirement of

IFRIC 21 / 1AS 37 31.2 6,923 7,288

1,883,783 889110

31.2 This represents portion of final tax paid as per the Ordinance, representing levy in terms
of requirements of IFRIC 21 / IAS 37.
2025 2024
31.3 Reconciliation of tax charge for the year:
Profit before levies and income tax (Rupees in '000") 4134716 2,256,177
Income tax expense / levies (Rupees in '000") 1,805,736 894,103
Effective tax rate (Percentage) 43.67 39.63
Reconciliation of effective tax rate (percentage)
Applicable tax rate 29.00 29.00
Add: super tax 10.00 10.00
Add: net tax effects of amounts that are inadmissible for
tax purposes / others 20.75 27.16
Less: net tax effect of amounts that are deductible for
tax purposes / others 16.08 26.53
Average effective tax rate charged onincome 43.67 39.63
32 EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED
Profit for the year (Rupees in '000'") 2,328,980 1,362,074
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year (Number in '000") 63,214 63,214
Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees) 36.84 21.55
32.1 There is no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share of the Company.
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33 CAPACITY UTILISATION

The actual inpatient available bed days, occupied bed days and room occupancy ratio of
the Company are given below:

2024 2024 2024
Available bed days Occupied bed days Occupancy ratio
H-8 Hospital Islamabad 180,196 183,301 114,543 113,642 63.57% 62.00%
Faisalabad Hospital 20,805 20,630 6,957 7,583 33.44% 36.76%
33.1 Reported utilisation is a result of pattern of patient turnover under different specialties.

34 UNAVAILED CREDIT FACILITIES

Unavailed credit facilities at year end other than those disclosed in note 8 of the

unconsolidated financial statements are as under:
2025 2024
(Rupees in'000")

Letter of credit 193,485 200,000
Diminishing musharakah 310,482 240,561
ljarah financing 51,709 51,709
Running musharakah 500,000 500,000
Letter of guarantee 30,368 32,416

1,086,044 1,024,686

Number
35 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Number of employees 5,627 5,329
Average number of employees 5,490 5,296

ANNUALREPORT2025 145



NOTES TO THE UNCONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

36 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

The related parties comprise of subsidiaries, associates, directors, major shareholders,
key management personnel, SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust and the entities over
which directors are able to exercise influence.

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. The Company
considers its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, company secretary, directors
and departmental heads to be its key management personnel. There are no transactions
with key management personnel other than their terms of employment / entitlement.

Related party transactions are based on arm's length between the parties as per pricing
policy approved by the board of directors of the SIHL. Transactions and balances with the

related parties are given below:
2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
Shifa Foundation:
Transactions
Revenue from medical and other services earned
by the Company 24,062 13,997
Rent expense paid by and reimbursed to the Company 1,373 1,215
Acquisition of 937,680 (2024 1,328,397) ordinary
shares of SIHT (Private) Limited 300,000 425,000
Balance
Receivable - unsecured at the year end 14,422 7137
Tameer-e-Millat Foundation:
Transactions
Supplies provided to the Company 81,787 102,662
Other services provided to the Company 361 28,755 35,904
Rental services received / earned by the Company 14,418 6,353
Balance
Payable - unsecured at the year end 4,186 7,285
Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University:
Transactions
Revenue from medical and other services
earned by the Company 26,063 28,402
Revenue from rent earned by the Company 4,256 3,869
Other services provided to the Company 361 84,924 113,015
Expenses paid and reimbursed to the Company 20,487 21,160
Expenses paid and reimbursed by the Company 29,788 33,410
Balance
Payable - unsecured at the year end 42,798 31,566
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")

SIHT (Private) Limited:
Transactions

Revenue from medical services earned

by the Company 770,121 568,496

Expenses paid by and reimbursed to the Company 4,534 5724

Other services provided to the Company 361 3,544 26,267
Balance

Receivable - unsecured at the year end 59,898 30,329
Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited:
Transactions

Revenue from rent earned by the Company - 1,096

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end - -

Shifa Cooperative Housing Society Limited:

Transactions
Plot maintenance charges paid by the Company 2,571 3112

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end -

Shifa Medical Centre Islamabad (Private) Limited:

Transactions
Corporate shared services provided by the Company - 5131

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end - -

Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited:

Transactions

Investment made by the Company in
55,509,426 (2024 nil) ordinary shares 555,094 -

Corporate shared services provided
by the Company - 5131

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end - -
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")

Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute Islamabad
(Private) Limited:

Transactions
Rent paid by the Company 93,690 117,390
Dividend income received by the Company 50,926 16,975

Balance
Receivable - unsecured at the year end - 20,278

Shifa International DWC - LLC:

Transactions
Patient referral services provided to the Company - 14,677

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end - -

Shifa CARE (Private) Limited:

Transactions

Corporate shared services provided
by the Company - 1,924

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end -

International Finance Corporation:

Transactions
Dividend paid by the Company 18,964 22,757

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at the year end - -

SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust:

Transactions
Payments made by the Company 215,360 242,112
Dividend paid by the Company 196 235

Balance
Payable - unsecured at the year end 102,728 132,734

Remuneration including benefits and
perquisites of key management personnel 36.2 523,268 389,359

361 This represents services of nursing education, employees’ children education and
media services.
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36.2 This includes employee retirement benefits amounting to Rs. 19.09 million (2024: Rs.
14.68 million).
36.3 Following is the list of related parties and their shareholding for the year ended June
30, 2025;
Percentage of
Company's RP’'s
Sr # Name of related party (RP) Basis of relationship shareholding  shareholding in
in RP the Company
1 Shifa Foundation Common Directorship N/A* 6.57%
2 Tameer-e-Millat Foundation Common Directorship N/A 12.44%
3 SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust Benefit Plan N/A 0.12%
4 Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University Common Directorship N/A 0.27%
5 Shifa Development Services (Private) Subsidiary & Common
Limited Directorship 55% Nil
6 Shifa Cooperative Housing Society Common Directorship
Limited N/A Nil
7 Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Subsidiary & Common
Limited Directorship 60% Nil
8 Shifa Medical Centre Islamabad (Private) ~ Subsidiary & Common
Limited Directorship 56% Nil
9 Shifa CARE (Private) Limited Associate & Common
Directorship 50% Nil
10 SIHT (Private) Limited Associate & Common
Directorship 45.3% Nil
11 International Finance Corporation (IFC) Associate Nil 12.00%
12 Ahmed E.H. Jaffer Foundation Common Directorship N/A Nil
*N/A stands for not applicable.
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
40 ADJUSTMENT OF NON-CASH INCOME

AND EXPENSE
Depreciation / amortisation 29 1,090,495 1,079,702
Amortisation on intangible assets 29 3,515 1,054
Expected credit losses 242 &411.3 144,421 111,778
Property, plant and equipment written off 29 75,709 7168
Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment 28 (2,500) (2,664)
Loss on disposal of investment property 29 7,340 2,708
Gain on termination of right of use assets (29,371) (75)
Provision for compensated absences 29 136,518 103,063
Provision for defined contribution plan 29 129,225 109,027
Provision for bonus for employees 29 302,795 170,730
Provision for gratuity 29 102,043 80,644
Charged / (reversal) of provision for slow

moving stores 29 2,671 (1,892)
Gain on investments and bank deposits 28 (289,681) (133,913)
Impairment loss on long term investment - 54,967
Impairment loss on derecognition of investment - 21,015
(Gain) / loss on foreign currency translation 28 &29 (7,199) 26,469
Finance costs 30 353,832 441,054

2,019,813 2,070,835
41 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk

Risk management framework

The Board meets frequently throughout the year for developing and monitoring the
Company's risk management policies. The Company’s risk management policies are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
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the Company’s activities. The Company, through its standards and procedures, aims
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Company's risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the
risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.

411 Credit risk
Credit risk represents the financial loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if
counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted. The Company does not have
significant exposure to any individual counter-party. To reduce exposure to credit risk,
the Company has developed a formal approval process whereby credit limits are applied
to its customers. The management also regularly monitors the credit exposure towards
the customers and makes allowance for ECL for those credit exposure. Furthermore, the
Company has credit control in place to ensure that services are rendered to customers
with an appropriate credit history.

4111 Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2025 2024
(Rupees in '000")
Long term deposits 105,003 113,937
Trade debts 1,461,456 1,346,189
Deposits and other receivables 143,246 136,837
Markup accrued 19,219 4102
Other financial assets 1,006,355 202,566
Bank balances 3,497,263 2,103,322
6,232,542 3,906,953

The Companyisexposedto creditrisk fromits operatingand shortterminvestingactivities.
The Company's credit risk exposures are categorised under the following headings:

411.2  Counterparties

The Company conducts transactions with the following major types of counterparties:
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Trade debts

Trade debts are essentially due from government companies / institutions, private
companies (panel companies) and individuals to whom the Company is providing medical
services. Normally the services are rendered to the panel companies on agreed rates and
limits from whom the Company does not expect any inability to meet their obligations.
The Company manages credit risk in trade debts by limiting significant exposure to the
customers not having good credit history. Furthermore, the Company has credit controlin
place to ensure that services are rendered to customers with an appropriate credit history
and makes allowance for ECL against those balances considered doubtful of recovery.

Bank balances and investments

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in liquid securities and
maintaining bank accounts only with counterparties that have a high credit ratings and
therefore management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade debts at the reporting date by type of

customer was:
2025 2024

(Rupees in '000")

Government companies 1,004,186 845,715
Private companies 396,193 444 325
Individuals 340,532 290,159
Related parties 14,422 7137

1,755,333 1,587,336

411.3 Impairment losses

The ageing of trade debts at the reporting date was:

2025 2024

Gross debts Allowance Grossdebts Allowance

for ECL for ECL
(Rupees in ‘000’')
Not past due 592,897 4,566 498,244 3178
1-2 months 463,688 13,068 357,017 12,967
3 -4 months 139,545 7,889 218,635 30,316
5-7 months 123,122 17,642 148,772 24,285
8 - 12 months 110,930 46,906 98,670 31,039
Above 12 months 325,151 203,806 265,998 139,362
1,755,333 293,877 1,587,336 241147
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The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade debts during the year
was as follows:

2025 2024
Note (Rupees in ‘000’')
Balance at beginning of the year 241147 226,563
Expected credit losses 52,730 93,273
Bad debts written off - (78,689)
Balance at end of the year 22 293,877 241147
411.4 The ageing of Shifa Foundation (SF) and SIHT (Private) Limited at the reporting date was:
2025 2024
Gross debts  Allowance Gross debts Allowance
/ Other for ECL / Other for ECL
receivables receivables
Note (Rupees in '000")
Shifa Foundation
1 -6 months 22 14,422 - 7137 -
SIHT (Private) Limited
1 -3 months 241 59,898 - 30,329 -

4115 The Company maintained balances of Rs. 3,497.26 million (2024: Rs. 2,103.32 million) with
Banks and Rs. 1,003.36 million (2024: Rs. 199.57 million) with Asset Management Companies
as at June 30, 2025. Management has assessed the credit quality of the counterparties as
satisfactory. Geographical analysis and credit rating information is given below:

Credit Rating Rating 2024

Banks / financial institutions Agency Shortterm  Long term (Rupees in ‘000')
Pakistan:
Habib Bank Limited JCR-VIS Al+ AAA 637,091 1,041,268
Meezan Bank Limited JCR-VIS Al+ AAA 281,707 500,202
Al - Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited ~ JCR - VIS Al AA- 1,970,854 284,198
United Bank Limited (UBL) JCR-VIS Al+ AAA 21,062 57,686
MCB Bank Limited PACRA Al+ AAA 19,260 13,854
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan

Limited JCR - VIS Al+ AA 83,241 13,603
Askari Bank Limited PACRA Al+ AA+ 14 14
Faysal Bank Limited JCR-VIS Al+ AA+ 37,032 53,778
Bank Alfalah Limited PACRA Al+ AAA 48,196 6,030
Bank Al Habib Limited PACRA Al+ AAA 384,791 122,398
National Bank of Pakistan (NBP)  JCR - VIS Al+ AAA 13,890 9,592
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited PACRA Al+ AA+ 126 -
UBL - Al Ameen Islamic Cash Fund ~ JCR - VIS - AA+(f) 220,283 199,566
NBP Islamic Money Market Fund ~ PACRA - AA(f) 783,072 -
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41.2  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due. The Company'’s approach to manage liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible,
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meetits liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Company's reputation. For this purpose the Company has credit facilities as mentioned
in notes 8 and 34 to the financial statements. Further liquidity position of the Company
is monitored by the Board through budgets, cash flow projections and comparison with
actual results.
Following is the maturity analysis of financial liabilities:

Carrying Six Six to One to Twoto  Above five

amount months twelve two years five years years

or less months
(Rupees in ‘000")

2025
Long term financing- secured 1,108,609 136,369 118,795 276,752 546,986 29,707
Deferred liabilities 44,846 - = 44,846 - ;
Trade and other payables 3,932,341 3,932,341 - - - -
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 48,935 - - - -
Mark up accrued 7974 7974 - - - -

5142,705 4,125,619 118,795 321,598 546,986 29,707
2024
Long term financing-secured 1,074,951 361,803 133,392 243,370 336,386 -
Deferred liabilities 34,434 - 34,434 - -
Trade and other payables 3,516,285 3,516,285 - - - -
Unclaimed dividend 44,730 44,730 - - - -
Mark up accrued 23,858 23,858 - - - -

4,694,258 3,946,676 133,392 277,804 336,386 -
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities is given in note 10.

41.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, markup
rates and equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
The Company is exposed to currency, mark up rate and market price risk.
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41.31 Foreign currency risk
Exposure to foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exist due to transactions
with foreign undertakings and cash in foreign currency bank account. The Company's
exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:

2024

(Amount in ‘000')

Euro UsSD Euro USD
Bank balances - 1,289 - 3,285
Letter of credit - - (555) (1,460)
1,289 (555) 1,825

2024

(Rupees in '000)

Bank balances - 365,444 - 913,689
Letter of credit - - (165,397)  (406,837)

365,444 (165,397) 506,852

Following are significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate Closing rate
2025 2024 2025 2024
(Rupees)
USD 1 - Buying 27914 283.02 283.53 278.15
USD 1 - Selling 279.57 283.45 283.97 278.59
Euro 1 - Buying - 306.25 - 297.45
Euro 1 - Selling - 306.72 - 297.92

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

A 10 percent variation of PKR against USD at June 30 would have effected equity and profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular markup rates, remains constant.

Change in Foreign Exchange Effect on Effect on
Rates Profit Equity
B 2025 | % (Rupees in '000')
Foreign currencies +10% 22,292 22,292
Foreign currencies -10% (22,292) (22,292)
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Change in Foreign Exchange Effect on Effect on
Rates Profit Equity
2024 % (Rupees in '000)
Foreign currencies +10% 20,829 20,829
Foreign currencies -10% (20,829) (20,829)

41.3.2 Markup rate risk

The markup rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changesin marketinterest rates. Majority of the interest
rate exposure arises from long term financing, short term investments and deposits with
banks which are variable rate financial instruments. At the reporting date the markup rate
profile of the Company’s markup-bearing financial instruments are:

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
Financial assets
Investment - at amortised cost 251 3,000 3,000
Bank balances 26 2,561,332 793,057
2,564,332 796,057
Financial liabilities
Financing - secured 8 (1,108,609) (1,074,951)
1,455,723 (278,894)

The effective markup rates for the financial assets and liabilities are mentioned in respective
notes to the financial statements.

Markup rate sensitivity analysis

If markup rates had been 50 basis points higher / lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Company's profit for the year ended June 30, 2025 would decrease / increase
by Rs. 0.40 million (2024: Rs. 1.11 million). This is mainly attributable to the Company’s
exposure to markup rates on its variable rate borrowings.

41.3.3 Price risk

The Company's price risk arises from investments in units as disclosed in note 25.2
which are designated at fair value through profit or loss, however, in accordance with the
investment strategy the performance of units is actively monitored and they are managed
on a fair value basis.

Price risk sensitivity analysis

If the fair value of mutual fund investments at the year end had fluctuated by 1% higher or
lower, with all other variables held constant, the profit for the year would have been higher
or lower by Rs. 6.12 million (2024: Rs. 1.22 million), primarily due to changes in the fair
value of investments.
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41.4  Financial instrument by category
Amortised Fair value Total
cost through
profit or loss
o (Rupees in'000)

Financial assets
Maturity upto one year
Trade debts 1,461,456 - 1,461,456
Deposits and other receivables 143,246 - 143,246
Markup accrued 19,219 - 19,219
Other financial assets 3,000 1,003,355 1,006,355
Cash and bank balances 3,511,814 - 3,511,814
Maturity after one year
Long term deposits 105,003 - 105,003

5,243,738 1,003,355 6,247,093
Financial liabilities
Maturity upto one year
Trade and other payables 3,932,341 - 3,932,341
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 - 48,935
Markup accrued 7,974 - 7974
Current portion of long term

financing - secured 255190 - 255,190

Current portion of lease liabilities 192,895 - 192,895
Maturity after one year
Long term financing - secured 853,419 - 853,419
Deferred liabilities 44 846 - 44 846
Lease liabilities 506,524 - 506,524

5,842,124 - 5,842,124
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Amortised Fair value Total
cost through
profit or loss

2024 (Rupees in ‘000’)
Financial assets
Maturity upto one year
Trade debts 1,346,189 - 1,346,189
Deposits and other receivables 136,837 - 136,837
Markup accrued 4102 - 4102
Other financial assets 3,000 199,566 202,566
Cash and bank balances 2129377 - 2129377
Maturity after one year
Long term deposits 113,937 - 113,937

3,733,442 199,566 3,933,008
Financial liabilities
Maturity upto one year
Trade and other payables 3,516,285 - 3,516,285
Unclaimed dividend 44730 - 44730
Markup accrued 23,858 - 23,858
Current portion of long term

financing - secured 495195 - 495195

Current portion of lease liabilities 266,739 - 266,739
Maturity after one year
Long term financing - secured 579,756 - 579,756
Deferred liabilities 34,434 - 34,434
Lease liabilities 526,907 - 526,907

5,487,904 - 5,487,904
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41.5 Fair value
Fair value versus carrying amounts
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown
in the unconsolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
2025 2024
Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value
value value
(Rupees in ‘000’)

Assets carried at amortised cost
Long term deposits 105,003 105,003 113,937 113,937
Trade debts 1,461,456 1,461,456 1,346,189 1,346,189
Deposits and other receivables 143,246 143,246 136,837 136,837
Markup accrued 19,219 19,219 4102 4102
Other financial assets 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
Cash and bank balances 3,511,814 3,511,814 2,129,377 2,129,377

5,243,738 5,243,738 3,733,442 3,733,442
Assets carried at fair value
Other financial assets 1,003,355 1,003,355 199,566 199,566
Liabilities carried at amortised cost
Long term financing - secured 853,419 853,419 579,756 579,756
Deferred Liabilities 44 846 44,846 34,434 34,434
Lease liabilities 506,524 506,524 526,907 526,907
Trade and other payables 3,932,341 3,932,341 3,516,285 3,516,285
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 48,935 44,730 44,730
Markup accrued 7974 7,974 23,858 23,858
Current portion of long term

financing - secured 255,190 255190 495,195 495,195

Current portion of lease liabilities 192,895 192,895 266,739 266,739

5,842124 5,842124 5,487,904 5,487,904
The basis for determining fair values is as follows:
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based
on the government yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit spread.
For instruments carried at amortised cost, since the majority of the interest bearing
investments are variable rate based instruments, there is no difference in carrying amount
and the fair value. Further, for fixed rate instruments, since there is no significant difference
in market rate and the rate of instrument and therefore most of the fixed rate instruments
are short term in nature, fair value significantly approximates to carrying value.
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42 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
Other financial assets

Fair value of investment in mutual funds (note 25.2) has been determined using quoted
repurchase price at reporting date and categorised under level 1 of fair value hierarchy.

Fair value of land

Lands owned by the Company are valued by independent valuer to determine the fair
values of lands as at reporting date. The fair value of lands subject to revaluation model
fall under level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfer amongst the levels during the year. Further, there were no changes
in the valuation techniques during the year.

43 DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT FOR COMPANIES NOT ENGAGED IN SHARIAH NON-
PERMISSBILE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Following information has been disclosed as required under amended part | clause VIl of
Fourth Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 as amended via S.R.O 1278(1)/2024 dated

August 15, 2024
2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")

Financing as per islamic mode
Long term financing (including current portion) 8 1,058,622 983136
Short term shariah compliant investments
Investment in Mutual Fund - at fair value

through profit or loss 25 1,003,355 199,566
Shariah compliant bank balances
Bank balances 26 2,442 121 607,812
Shariah compliant revenue
Revenue - net 27 27,967,661 23,563,840
Dividend earned on shariah compliant
investments
Dividend income from mutual fund - investments

at fair value through profit or loss 28 27,690 35,844
Dividend income from subsidiary 28 50,926 16,975
Profit earned from shariah compliant bank
balances
Profit on bank balances 28 177,098 40,389
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")

Exchange gain earned from actual currency
Exchange gain / (loss) 28 &29 7199 (26,469)
Profit paid on islamic mode of financing
Long term financing 30 145,023 248179
Source and detailed breakup of other income
Shariah compliant
Un-realised gain on investments at fair value

through profit or loss 28 25,803 14,180
Others 28 332,195 148,193
Non-Shariah compliant
Profit on bank balances 28 8,164 26,525
Others 28 36,660 1,225

Relationship with sharia compliant financial institutions / takaful operators

Name Relationship

Al-Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited Funded facility and Bank balance

Meezan Bank Limited Funded / Non-funded facility and
Bank balance

Habib Bank Limited Funded / Non-funded facility and
Bank balance

Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited Bank balance

Faysal Bank Limited Bank balance

Bank Alfalah Limited Funded facility and Bank balance

First Habib Modaraba Funded facility

EFU General Insurance Limited Takaful

Jubilee General Insurance Company Limited Takaful

44 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of single reportable segment.
All revenue of the Company is earned in Pakistan. All non-current assets of the Company
at June 30, 2025 are located in Pakistan. There is no other segment with more than 10%
of total revenue of the Company for the year.
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45 NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The board of directors of the Company in its meeting held on September 06, 2025
has proposed a final cash dividend for the year ended June 30, 2025 @ Rs. 5 per share,
amounting to Rs. 316.07 million for approval of the members in the Annual General
Meeting to be held on October 25, 2025. The unconsolidated financial statements for
the year ended June 30, 2025 do not include the effect of the final dividend which will be
accounted for in the year in which it is approved.

46 CORRESPONDING FIGURES

Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified, wherever considered
necessary, for better presentation. However, following reclassification has been made
during the year.

2024
Description Note (Rupees in'000")
Reclassification from Stock in trade to Stores, spare parts
and loose tools 20 & 21 23,545

47 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These unconsolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors of the Company on September 06, 2025.

48 GENERAL

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest one thousand Pak Rupees unless otherwise
stated.

vt p oo W \é‘

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Tel: 492 51 260 4461-5 3rd Floor,
Fax: +92 51 260 4468 Saeed Plaza,
www.bdo.com.pk 22-East Blue Area,

— Islamabad-44000.
Pakistan.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
SHIFA INTERNATIONAL HOSPITALS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements of Shifa International Hospitals Limited
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at June 30, 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable
in Pakistan.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Pakistan.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters are addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statement as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Following are the key audit matters:

Sr. No.

Key audit matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

1.

Revenue Recognition

(Refer note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The Group's revenue consists of inpatient
outpatient
cafeteria, rent of building and other services.

revenue, revenue, pharmacy,

During the year ended June 30, 2025, the Group
recognised aggregate revenue of Rs. 27,967.661
million from rendering of services to inpatients,
outpatients, external outlets,
cafeteria sales and operating leases to related
parties/ other parties.

pharmacy

We identified recognition of revenue as an
area of higher risk as it includes large number
of revenue transactions with a large number
of customers in various geographical locations
and revenue being one of the key performance
indicators of the Group. Accordingly, it was
considered as a key audit matter.

Our procedures in relation to revenue

recognition, amongst others, included:

«  Understood and evaluated management
controls over revenue and verified their
validations;

Performed test of controls and evaluation of
Information Technology General Controls
(ITGC) with the assistance of our IT expert
to assess the operating effectiveness
of controls related to the automation of
revenue recognition;

«  Verified that revenue has been recognised
in accordance with the Group's accounting

policy and the applicable reporting
framework;

Performed verification of sample of
revenue transactions with underlying
documentation including invoices,
agreements, charge-sheets and other

relevant underlying documents;

Verified receipts from customers on sample
basis against the revenue booked during
the year;

Performed cut-off procedures on sample
basis has been
recognised in the correct period;

to ensure revenue

Tested journal entries relating to revenue
recognised during the year based on
identified risk criteria; and

« Assessed the  appropriateness  of
disclosures made in the financial
statements related to revenue as required

under the applicable reporting framework.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Sr. No.

Key audit matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Expected credit loss allowance on trade debts

(Refer note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The Group has recognised balance of an
expected credit loss allowance of Rs. 295.676
million on gross amount of trade debts of Rs.
1,757.132 million as at June 30, 2025.

Under IFRS 9, the Group is required to recognise
expected credit loss allowance for financial
assets using Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model.
Determination of ECL provision for trade debts
requires significant judgment and assumptions
including consideration of factors such as
historical credit loss experience, time value of
money and forward-looking macroeconomic
information etc. We have considered the
expected credit loss assessment as a key audit
matter due to the significance of estimates and
judgments involved.

Our audit procedures in relation to expected
credit loss assessment of trade debts, amongst
others, included the following:

« Understood the management's process for
estimating the ECL in relation to trade debts.
Assessed and evaluated the assumptions
used by the management in determining
impairment loss under the ECL model;

- \Verified appropriateness of ageing, on
sample basis, by comparing individual
balances with underlying documentation;

Reviewed  the  appropriateness  of
assumptions used for ECL computation
from relevant external and internal sources;

« Circularised balance confirmation for trade
debtors on sample basis and evaluated
responses received;

Verified subsequent clearance of balances
due as of June 30, 2025 on sample basis;
and

Assessed the appropriateness of disclosures
related to impairment assessment of trade
debts as required under the applicable
reporting framework.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore, the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Atif Riaz.

ISLAMABAD 5‘3’&7@&’/5/4”7%

DATED: 16 SEP 2025 BDO EBRAHIM & CO
UDIN : AR202510060m7yJx%IUa CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

BDO Ebrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BDO Ebrahim & Co., a Pakistan registered partnership firm, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,
and forms part of the International BDO network of independent member firms.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024
Note (Rupees in ‘000')
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Authorised share capital
100,000,000 (2024:100,000,000) ordinary
shares of Rs. 10 each 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued, subscribed and paid up capital 5 632,144 632,144
Capital reserves
Share premium 6 2,738,888 2,738,888
Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 7 2,355,123 2,021,310
Revenue reserves
Unappropriated profit 9,203,864 7118,684
14,930,019 12,511,026
NON - CONTROLLING INTEREST 8 2,967,066 2,470,891
NON - CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term financing - secured 9 853,419 579,756
Deferred liabilities 10 289,268 389,394
Lease liabilities 11 506,524 483,396
1,649,211 1,452,546
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 12 4,895,138 4.168,270
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 44,730
Markup accrued 13 7974 23,858
Taxation - net 14 62,833 -
Current portion of long term financing - secured 9 255190 495,195
Current portion of lease liabilities 11 192,895 146,911
5,462,965 4,878,964
25,009,261 21,313,427
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 15

The annexed notes 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in ‘000’)
NON - CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 16 14,992,071 13,860,258
Intangible assets 17 42,701 39,375
Investment property - at cost 18 624,872 720,292
Long term investments 19 740,157 424,045
Long term advances to suppliers and contractors 20 324174 -
Long term deposits 21 117,961 126,050
16,841,936 15,170,020
CURRENT ASSETS
Stores, spare parts and loose tools 22 224161 243,579
Stock in trade 23 959,987 1,018,321
Trade debts 24 1,461,456 1,346,189
Loans and advances 25 451,924 454 495
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 26 213,445 175,459
Markup accrued 19,219 4,383
Other financial assets 27 1,075,513 484,991
Taxation - net - 258,787
Cash and bank balances 28 3,761,620 2,157,203
8,167,325 6,143,407
25,009,261 21,313,427
\:él
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
Revenue - net 29 27,967,661 23,553,578
Other income 30 383,202 233,279
Operating costs 31 (23,813,756) (20,981,597)
Finance costs 32 (345,724) (421,091)
Expected credit losses 262 &43.1.3 (141,016) (116,289)
Share of profit / (loss) of associates 19 16,112 (4,506)
Profit before levies and income tax 4,066,479 2,263,374
Levies 33 (7,717) (15,224)
Profit before income tax 4,058,762 2,248,150
Income tax expense 33 (1,826,928) (918,524)
Profit for the year - continuing operations 2,231,834 1,329,626
Profit for the year - discontinued operations - net of tax - 2,466
Profit for the year 2,231,834 1,332,092
Attributable to:
Equity holders of SIHL
Continuing operations 2,257,919 1,368,030
Discontinued operations - 2,466
2,257,919 1,370,496
Non-controlling interest
Continuing operations (26,085) (38,404)
Discontinued operations = -
(26,085) (38,404)
2,231,834 1,332,092
Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees)
Continuing operations 35.72 21.64
Discontinued operations - 0.04
34 35.72 21.68

The annexed notes 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
Profit for the year 2,231,834 1,332,092
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Loss on remeasurement of staff gratuity
fund benefit plan (net of tax) 12.5.4 (50,820) (76,024)
Surplus on revaluation of land 16 506,447 20,321
455,627 (55,703)
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,687,461 1,276,389
Attributable to:
Equity holders of SIHL
Continuing operations 2,577,029 1,303,420
Discontinued operations - 2,466
2,577,029 1,305,886
Non-controlling interest
Continuing operations 110,432 (29,497)
Discontinued operations - -
110,432 (29,497)
2,687,461 1,276,389

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Share Share Surplus on Un - Non - Total
capital premium revaluation  appropriated  controlling
of property, profit interest
plant and (NCI)
equipment

(Rupees in '000')

Balance as at July 01, 2023 632,144 2,738,888 2,032,194 5,991,558 2,500,388 13,895172

Total comprehensive income

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - 1,370,496 (38,404) 1,332,092
Other comprehensive income / (loss) - net of tax - - 11,414 (76,024) 8,907 (55,703)

- - 11,414 1,294,472 (29,497) 1,276,389
Realisation of revaluation surplus on disposal of assets - - (4,284) 4,284 -

Transfer of revaluation surplus on property, plant and
equipment in respect of incremental depreciation /
amortisation - - (18,014) 18,014 - -

Distribution to owners

Dividend - final 2023 @ Rs. 1.5 per share - - - (94,822) - (94,822)
Dividend - interim 2024 @ Rs. 1.5 per share - - - (94,822) - (94,822)
Balance as at June 30, 2024 632,144 2,738,888 2,021,310 7,118,684 2,470,891 14,981,917

Total comprehensive income

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - 2,257,919 (26,085) 2,231,834

Other comprehensive income / (loss) - net of tax - - 369,930 (50,820) 136,517 455,627
- - 369,930 2,207,099 110,432 2,687,461

Realisation of revaluation surplus on disposal of assets - - (14,517) 14,517 - -

Transfer of revaluation surplus on property, plant and
equipment in respect of incremental depreciation /

amortisation - - (21,600) 21,600 - -
NCl recognised during the year - - - - 385,743 385,743
Distribution to owners
Dividend - final 2024 @ Rs. 2.5 per share - - - (158,036) - (158,036)
Balance as at June 30, 2025 632,144 2,738,888 2,355,123 9,203,864 2,967,066 17,897,085

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000’)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before levies and income tax - continuing operations 4,066,479 2,263,374
Profit before levies and income tax - discontinued operations - 2,466
Adjustment of non-cash income and expense 47 2,004,281 1,970,762
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 6,070,760 4,236,602
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in current assets:

Stores, spare parts and loose tools 16,746 33,556

Stock in trade 58,334 (59,368)

Trade debts (167,997) (73,340)

Loans and advances 2,571 (19,594)

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables (41,598) 105,166

Discontinued operations - (37,148)
Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:

Trade and other payables 395,174 (807,279)

263,230 (858,007)
Cash generated from operations 6,333,990 3,378,595
Finance costs paid (258,807) (395,670)
Income tax paid (1,591,071) (866,606)
Payment to SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust (215,360) (242,112)
Compensated absences paid (89,047) (72,684)
Payment to defined contribution plan (103,971) (84,300)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,075,734 1,717,223
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Addition to property, plant and equipment (PPE) (1,581,347) (646,079)
Addition to intangible assets (5,787) -
Addition to long term investments (300,000) (425,000)
(Investment) / encashment of other financial assets - net (710,537) 241,331
Proceeds from disposal of PPE 5,317 18,826
Proceeds from derecognition of investment - 2,265
Proceeds from disposal of investment property - 26,000
Markup received 224,479 100,145
Increase in advances to suppliers and contractors (324,174) -
Decrease / (increase) in long term deposits 5,463 (23,200)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,686,586) (705,712)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in ‘000")

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Non-controlling interest 385,743 -
Long term financing - repayments (504,047) (881,581)
Proceeds from long term financing 537,704 216122
Payment of lease liabilities (236,081) (200,524)
Dividend paid (153,831) (181,869)
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities 29,488 (1,047,852)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,418,636 (36,341)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,383,305 2,446115
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 7199 (26,469)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 40 3,809,140 2,383,305

The annexed notes from 1 to 50 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

1 STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Shifa International Hospitals Limited (“the Group”) comprises of Shifa International
Hospitals Limited (SIHL / parent company) and its subsidiaries, Shifa Development
Services (Private) Limited, Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited and Shifa
Medical Center Islamabad (Private) Limited.

SIHL was incorporated in Pakistan on September 29, 1987 as a private limited company
under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (repealed with the enactment of the Companies
Act, 2017 on May 30, 2017) and converted into a public limited company on October
12, 1989. The shares of the SIHL are quoted on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. The
registered office of the SIHL is situated at Sector H-8/4, Islamabad. The principal activity
of SIHL is to establish and run medical centers and hospitals in Pakistan. The SIHL has
established its first hospital in 1993 in H-8/4 Islamabad, second hospital in 2011 in
Faisalabad and another in 2014 in G-10/4 Islamabad. The SIHL is also running medical
centers, lab collection points and pharmacies in different cities of Pakistan.

Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited (SDSPL) was incorporated in Pakistan on
December 18, 2014. The principal activity of SDSPL is to provide consulting services
relating to healthcare facility, medical staff, human resource, architectural designing,
procurement, hospital quality and project management services. The registered office
of SDSPL is situated at Shifa International Hospitals Limited, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad.
During the last year, the investment has been fully impaired in view of financial difficulties
faced by SDSPL due to which it might not be able to continue its business.

Shifa National Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited (SNH Faisalabad) was incorporated in
Pakistan on February 28, 2019. The principal line of business of the SNH Faisalabad is to
establish, run, control, manage and operate tertiary / quaternary care hospitals including
diagnostic centers, clinics, laboratories, operation theaters, dental clinics, healthcare
centers and provide all healthcare and surgical related facilities of different diseases,
inpatient and outpatient services and treatment of viral, bacterial and chronic diseases
and all other related services thereof, subject to permission from relevant authorities,
if required. The registered office of the SNH Faisalabad is situated at Shifa International
Hospitals Limited, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad.

Shifa Medical Center Islamabad (Private) Limited (SMC Islamabad) was incorporated in
Pakistan on February 28, 2019. The principal line of business of the SMC Islamabad is
to establish, run, control, manage and operate facilities providing ambulatory services
including day care surgeries, diagnostic centers, clinics, laboratories, operation theaters,
dental clinics, healthcare centers and provide healthcare and surgical related facilities
of different various, inpatient and outpatient services and treatment of viral, bacterial
and chronic diseases and all other related services thereof, subject to permission from
relevant authorities, if required. The registered office of the SMC Islamabad is situated at
Shifa International Hospitals Limited, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad.

The shareholders of the SIHL in the Extraordinary General Meeting dated June 05, 2025
have approved the purchase of 105,814,336 ordinary shares having face value of Rs. 10/-
per share held in SMC Islamabad from all the other existing shareholders (the "Minority
Shareholders") of SMC Islamabad for an aggregate amount of approximately Rs. 1,666
million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Geographical locations of business units of the Group are as follows:

H-8 Hospital, Pitras Bukhari Road, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad

Neuro Sciences Institute, Pitras Bukhari Road, Sector H-8/4, Islamabad
G-10 Hospital, G-10 Markaz, Islamabad

Shifa Medical Center, Gulberg Greens, Islamabad

SMCIl Hospital, F-11, Islamabad

Faisalabad Hospital, Main Jaranwala Road, Faisalabad

SNHF Hospital, Sheikhupura Road, Faisalabad

BT o

Percentage share of total revenue given in note 29 is as follows:

Islamabad 97% 97%
Faisalabad 3% 3%
100% 100%

1.1

182

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared based upon
initialled accounts for Shifa Medical Center Islamabad (Private) Limited, Shifa National
Hospital Faisalabad (Private) Limited and Shifa Development Services (Private) Limited,
as at June 30, 2025.

Merger / amalgamation of Shifa Neuro Sciences Institute Islamabad (Private) Limited
(SNS Islamabad) with and into the SIHL

The board of directors of the SIHL and SNS Islamabad, in their respective meetings held
on February 22, 2025, and February 24, 2025, approved the merger / amalgamation of
SNS Islamabad with and into the SIHL in accordance with the provisions of section 284
of the Companies Act, 2017. The SIHL has filed a scheme of amalgamation along with
requisite documentation to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP)
on March 25, 2025 (effective date of amalgamation), which has been acknowledged by
SECP on May 9, 2025. Accordingly, SNS Islamabad stands merged into the SIHL with
effect from March 25, 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance
with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting
and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Islamic Financial Accounting Standards
(IFASs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan as are notified
under the Companies Act, 2017; and

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2.2

2.3

2.4

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from
the IFRS or IFASs, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017
have been followed.

Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain items as disclosed in relevant accounting policies.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the
Group's functional currency.

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
and reporting standards requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgment about
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.

The areas where various assumptions and estimates are significant to the Group's
consolidated financial statements or where judgment was exercised in application of
accounting policies are as follows:

Notes 4.1 and 19 Estimate of recoverable amount of investment in
associated company

Notes 4.3,4.4,417.4and 9 Estimate of fair value of financial liabilities at initial recognition

Notes 4.5, 4.6,10, 14 and 33  Provision for taxation

Notes 4.7, 11 and 16 Right of use assets and corresponding lease liability

Notes 4.9,12.4 and 12.5 Employee benefits

Notes 4.10, 4.11 and 15 Provisions and contingencies

Notes 4.12 and 16 Estimate of useful life of property, plant and equipment

Notes 4.13 and 17 Estimate of useful life of intangible assets

Note 4.15 Impairment of non-financial assets

Notes 4.17.2,26.2and 43.1.3  Expected credit loss allowance

Notes 4.18 and 22 Provision for slow moving stores, spares and loose tools
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

3.1

3.2

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO THE APPROVED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

New accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations that are effective for
the year ended June 30, 2025

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for the year
ended June 30, 2025. These standards, amendments and interpretations are either not
relevant to the Group's operations or did not have significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements other than certain additional disclosures.

New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective

Effective date
(annual reporting
periods beginning

on or after)

Amendments to IAS 21 'The Effects of Changesin Foreign Exchange
Rates' - Lack of Exchangeability January 01, 2025

Amendments to IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' -
Amendments regarding the classification and measurement of
financial instruments January 01, 2026

Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' - Amendments
regarding the classification and measurement of financial
instruments January 01, 2026

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 01, 2026
Certain annual improvements have also been made to a number of IFRSs and IASs.

IFRS 1 'First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards' has been
issued by IASB effective from July 01, 2009. However, it has not been adopted yet locally
by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRS 18 'Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements' has been issued by IASB
effective from January 01, 2027. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRS 19 'Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures' has been issued by IASB
effective from January 01, 2027. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangement has been issued by IASB effective from January
01, 2008. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan (SECP).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements unless otherwise stated.

41 Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements includes the financial statements of Shifa
International Hospitals Limited and its subsidiaries, SDSPL 55% owned (2024: 55%
owned), SMC Islamabad 56% owned (2024: 56% owned), SNH Faisalabad 60% owned
(2024 61% owned) and SNS Islamabad (2024: 100% owned) which has been merged
into parent company as disclosed in note 1.1.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are derecognised from the date the control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition by
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the
non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

Associates (equity accounted investee)

Entities over which the Group has significant influence directly or indirectly (through
subsidiaries) but not control and which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures of the
members of the Group, are associates and are accounted for under the equity method
of accounting (equity accounted investees). These investments are initially recognised
at cost. The consolidated financial statements include the associates’ share of profit or
loss and movements in other comprehensive income, after adjustments, if any, to align
the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

4.2

4.3

4.4

commences until the date it ceases. Share of post acquisition profit / loss of associates is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Distributions received from associates reduce the carrying
amount of investment.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee,
the carrying amount of that investment (including any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate) is reduced to nil and
the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

Non controlling interest (NCI)

NCl is measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at
the date of acquisition.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary, and any related NCl and other components of equity. Any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any interest retained
in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when the control is lost.

Share capital and dividend

Dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it is declared. Movement in
reserves is recognised in the year in which it is approved.

Financing and finance cost

Financing is recognised initially at fair value, less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent toinitial recognition, financing is stated at amortised cost with any difference
between cost and redemption value being recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss over the period of the financing on an effective interest basis. Finance cost
is recognised as an expense in the period in which these are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are transfer of resources to an entity by a government entity in return
for compliance with certain past or future conditions related to the entity’s operating
activities e.g. a government subsidy.

Government grants are recognised at fair value, as deferred income, when there is
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will be able to comply
with the conditions associated with the grants.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred, are recognised on a systematic
basis in the income for the year in which the finance cost is recognised and finance cost
is reported net of grant in note 32.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

A loan is initially recognised and subsequently measured in accordance with IFRS 9. IFRS
9 requires loans at below-market rates to be initially measured at their fair value. e.g. the
present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at a market-related interest
rate. The benefit that is the government grant is measured as the difference between the
fair value of the loan on initial recognition and the amount received, which is accounted
for according to the nature of the grant.

4.5 Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises of current and deferred tax. Taxation is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of tax after
taking into account applicable tax credits, rebates, losses and exemptions available, if
any.

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using balance sheet liability method in respect of all
temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
differences reverse, based on tax rates that have been enacted. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and
assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity or on different tax entities but they intend to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

The Group takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by appellate
authorities. Instances where the Group's view differs from the view taken by the income
tax department at the assessment stage and where the Group considers that its view on
items of material nature is in accordance with law, the amounts are shown as contingent
liabilities.

Deferred tax asset of Rs. 111.93 million (2024 Rs. 86.48 million) on deductible temporary
difference of Rs. 384.95 million (2024: Rs. 298.20 million) has not been recorded in
respect of subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

4.6

4.7
4.71

4.7.2

Levies

Minimum tax, final tax and super tax not based on taxable profits are recognised as a
levy in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The amount calculated on taxable
income using the notified tax rate is recognised as current income tax expense for the
year in consolidated statement of profit or loss under the scope of IAS 12. Any excess of
expected income tax paid or payable for the year under the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001
("the Ordinance") over the amount designated as current income tax for the year, is then
recognised as a levy falling under the scope of IFRIC 21 / I1AS 37.

Leases
Right of use assets (ROUs)

The SIHL recognises right of use assets and a lease liability at the lease commencement
date. The right of use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right of use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method
from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of
use assets or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right of use assets
are determined as those of similar assets or the lease term as specified in contract. In
addition, the right of use assets is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The Group has not elected to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments
discounted using the SIHL's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments in the
measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

- Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;
- Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

- The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and

- Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option.
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It
is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, if there is a change in the SIHLs estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the SIHL changes its assessment of
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made
to the carrying amount of the right of use assets, or is recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right of use assets has been
reduced to zero.

4.8 Trade and other payables

Liabilities for trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost, which is the fair
value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services received, whether
or not billed to the Group.

4.9 Employee benefits
Defined benefit plan

The SIHL operates approved funded gratuity scheme for all its non management
employees who have completed the minimum qualifying period of service as defined in
the scheme. Provision is made annually to cover obligations under the scheme on the
basis of actuarial valuation and is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The actuarial gain or loss at each evaluation date is charged to consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents
the present value of defined benefit obligations as reduced by the fair value of plan assets.

Calculation of gratuity asset requires assumptions to be made of future outcomes which
mainly include increase in remuneration, expected long term return on plan assets and
the discount rate used to convert future cash flows to current values. Calculations are
sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions and determined by actuary.

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan where monthly
contribution equal to 1/12th of eligible salary are made by the SIHL in employees' pension
fund account maintained with designated asset management company and recognised
as expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as and when they become due.
Employees will be eligible for pension fund on the completion of minimum qualifying
period. On fulfilment of criteria, accumulated contribution against qualifying period of
services from the date of joining classified as deferred liability and will be transferred to
employees' pension fund account.

Compensated absences

The Group provides for compensated absences of its employees on unavailed balance of
leaves in the period in which the leave is earned. Accrual to cover the obligations is made
using the current salary levels of the employees.
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411
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
asaresult of a pastevent, itis probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made. However, provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
prospectively to reflect the current best estimates.

Contingencies

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Group has a possible obligation as a result of
past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence,
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that arises from past events, but
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufficient reliability.

The Group discloses significant contingent liabilities for the pending litigations and
claims against the Group based on its judgment and the advice of the legal advisors
for the estimated financial outcome. The actual outcome of these litigations and claims
can have an effect on the carrying amounts of the liabilities recognised at the reporting
date. However, based on the best judgment of the Group and its legal advisors, the likely
outcome of these litigations and claims is remote and there is no need to recognise any
liability at the reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment except freehold and leasehold land and capital work in
progress are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value,
if any. Leasehold land is stated at revalued amount being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated amortisation and impairment losses while
freehold land is stated at revalued amount being the fair value at the date of revaluation,
less any subsequent impairment losses, if any.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land is recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and presented as a separate component of equity
as "Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment”, except to the extent that
it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged.
Any decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of land is charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any,
held in the revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. The surplus on leasehold land to the extent of incremental
depreciation charged is transferred to unappropriated profit.
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Capital work in progress and stores held for capital expenditure are stated at cost less
impairment loss recognised, if any. All expenditures connected with specific assets
incurred during installation and construction period are carried under capital work in
progress. These are transferred to specific items of property, plant and equipment when
available for intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance costs that do not meet the recognition criteria are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as and when incurred.

Depreciation / amortisation is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
commencing when the asset is ready for its intended use, applying the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life.

In respect of additions and disposals during the year, depreciation / amortisation is
charged when the asset is available for use and up to the month preceding the asset's
classified as held for sale or derecognised, whichever is earlier.

Assets are derecognised when disposed off or when no future economic benefits are
expected to flow from its use. Gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised on net basis in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group reviews the useful lives of property, plant and equipment on a regular basis.
Similarly revaluation of land is made with sufficient regularity. Any change in estimates in
future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property, plant
and equipment with a corresponding effect on the depreciation / amortisation charge
and impairment.

413 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses, if any. Subsequent cost on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific assets to which it relates. All other
expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite.
Amortisation on additions to intangible assets is charged from the month in which an
item is acquired or capitalised while no amortisation is charged for the month in which
the item is disposed off.

The Group reviews the useful lives of intangible assets on a regular basis. Any change in
estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of
intangibles with the corresponding effect on the amortisation charge and impairment.
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Investment property - at cost

Investment property, principally comprising of land, is held for long term capital
appreciation and is valued using the cost method i.e. at cost less impairment losses, if
any.

Costincludes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment
property. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials
and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property
to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs, if any.

The gain or loss on disposal of investment property, represented by the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised as income
or expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of non - financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that assets
except deferred tax assets and inventory may be impaired. If such indication exists, the
carrying amounts of such assets are reviewed to assess whether they are recorded in
excess of their recoverable amounts. Where carrying values exceed the respective
recoverable amounts, assets are written down to their recoverable amounts and the
resulting impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
except for the impairment loss on revalued assets, which is adjusted against the related
revaluation surplus to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the surplus
on revaluation of that asset. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use.

Where impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised recoverable amount but limited to the extent of the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation / amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investments

All purchases and sales of investments are recognised using settlement date accounting.
Settlement date is the date on which that investments are delivered to or by the Group. Al
investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets
Initial measurement

Afinancial assetisinitially measured at fair value plus, foranitem notat FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition.
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The Group classifies its financial assets into following three categories:
- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI);

- fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and

- amortised cost.

Subsequent measurement
i) Debt instrument at FVOCI

Theseassetsare subsequently measured at fairvalue. Interest/ markup income calculated
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains or losses and impairment
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Other net gains or losses
are recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On de-recognition,
gains or losses accumulated in consolidated statement of comprehensive income are
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ii) Equity instrument at FVOCI

Theseassetsare subsequently measured atfair value. Dividends are recognised asincome
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains or losses are recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains or losses, including any
interest / markup or dividend income, are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

iv) Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest / markup income,
foreign exchange gains or losses and impairment are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

4171 Other financial assets

Investment in units of mutual funds are classified at fair value through profit or loss and
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently is measured at fair value determined
using the net assets value of the funds at each reporting date. Net gain or loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investments in term deposit receipts are classified as amortised cost and are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are
included in the carrying amount. Subsequently these investments are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses, if any. Interest/markup income, losses and impairment are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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417.2

417.3

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on aforward-looking basis the expected creditlosses (ECL) associated
with its financial asset carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

The Group applies the simplified approach for trade debts which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

The Group recognises life time ECL for trade debts, using the simplified approach. The
ECL on trade debts are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. Life time expected credit losses against
other receivables are also recognised due to significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amounts
at the reporting date reduced by security deposit held. For other financial assets, the
ECL is based on the 12 month ECL. The 12 month ECL is the portion of lifetime ECL
that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering of a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and
amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery.

The Group writes off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activities.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will result in impairment gain.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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417.4 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or at fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL). A financial liability is classified at FVTPL if it is classified as held
for trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial
liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any
interest expense, are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled or have expired or when the financial liabilities’ cash flows have been
substantially modified.

4175  Off-setting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the netamountis reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position, if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts, and the Group either intends to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

418 Stores, spare parts and loose tools

These are valued at cost, determined on moving average cost basis or net realisable
value, whichever is lower. For items which are slow moving or identified as surplus to
the SIHL's requirement, a provision is made for excess of book value over estimated net
realisable value.

The SIHL reviews the carrying amount of stores, spare parts and loose tools on a regular
basis. Any change in the estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of
the respective items of stores and spares with a corresponding affect on the provision.

419 Stock in trade

Stock in trade is valued at lower of cost, determined on moving average basis or net
realisable value. The cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the stock items and
other cost incurred in bringing them to their present location and condition.

The SIHL reviews the carrying amount of stock in trade on a regular basis. Any change in
the estimates in future years might effect the carrying amounts of the respective items
of stock in trade with a corresponding affect on the provision.
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4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

Trade debts, loans, deposits, interest accrued and other receivables

These are classified at amortised cost and are initially recognised when they are originated
and measured at fair value of consideration receivable. These assets are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Past years experience of credit loss is
used to base the calculation of credit loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand, cheques in hand, balances with
banks and highly liquid short term investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of change in value with
maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in currencies other than Pak Rupees are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of transactions. At each reporting date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate prevailing
on the reporting date. Gain or loss arising on retranslation is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Operating segment

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the board of directors that makes strategic decisions.
The Group's management has determined that the Group has a single reportable segment
as the board of directors views the Group's operations as one reportable segment.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer.
Revenue from operations of the Group are recognised when the services are provided,
and thereby the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenue consists of inpatient revenue, outpatient revenue, pharmacy, cafeteria, rent of
building and other services. Group's contract performance obligations are fulfilled at point
in time when the services are provided to customer in case of inpatient, outpatient and
other services and goods are delivered to customer in case of pharmacy and cafeteria
revenue. Revenue is recognised at that point in time, as the control has been transferred
to the customers.

Receivable is recognised when the services are provided and goods are delivered to
customers as thisis the pointin time that the consideration is unconditional because only
passage of time is required before the payment is due. The Group recognises contract
liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations
and reports these amounts as advances from customers' in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Interest income is accrued on time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the rent agreement.
Scrap sales and miscellaneous receipts are recognised on realised amounts.
4.25 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data forits ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the

year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

4.26 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either:

« In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

« In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market is accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

Afair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. The carrying values
of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

ANNUALREPORT2025 197/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

198

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

- Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements at
fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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5 ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID UP CAPITAL
Number (Rupees in '000)
Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each
61,974,886 61,974,886 issued for cash 619,749 619,749
Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each
1,239,497 1,239,497  issued as fully paid bonus shares 12,395 12,395
63,214,383 63,214,383 632,144 632,144
5.1 The SIHL has only one class of ordinary shares which carries no right to fixed income.

The shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the SIHL. All shares rank equally with regard
to the SIHL's residual assets.

572 7,585,725 ordinary shares representing 12% shareholding in the SIHL are owned by
International Finance Corporation (IFC). IFC has the right to nominate one director at the
board of directors of the SIHL as long as IFC holds ordinary shares representing 5% of
total issued share capital of the SIHL. Further, the SIHL if intends to amend or repeal the
memorandum and articles of association, affects the rights of IFC on its shares issuance
of preference shares ranking senior to the equity securities held by IFC, incur any financial
debt to any shareholder, change the nature of the business of the SIHL etc. shall seek
consent of IFC.

5.3 The SIHL has no reserved shares for issuance under options and sales contracts.
5.4 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to ensure the Group's ability not only
to continue as a going concern but also to meet its requirements for expansion and
enhancement of its business, maximise return of shareholders and optimise benefits
for other stakeholders to maintain an optimal capital structure and to reduce the cost of
capital. There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management during

the year.

Equity (Rupees in ‘000’) 14,930,019 12,511,026
Debt including lease liabilities (Rupees in ‘000) 1,808,028 1,705,258
Debt to equity ratio (Percentage) 11 12

In order to achieve the above objectives, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares through bonus or
right issue or sell assets to reduce debts or raise debts, if required.
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6 SHARE PREMIUM
This comprises of share premium of Rs. 5, Rs. 250 and Rs. 229.29 per share received on
issue of 8,000,000, 4,024,100 and 7,436,986 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each in the years
1994, 2016 and 2020, respectively. Out of the above the SIHL, during the year ended June
30, 2022 has issued bonus shares at the rate of 2% (total 1,239,497 bonus shares having
face value of Rs. 10 each) as approved in Annual General Meeting held on October 28,
2021. The balance reserve cannot be utilised except for the purposes mentioned in section
81 of the Companies Act, 2017.

2025 2024
(Rupees in '000)

7 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
Balance at beginning of the year 2,021,310 2,032,194
Revaluation surplus during the year 506,447 20,321
Transfer to non-controlling interest (136,517) (8,907)
Realisation of revaluation surplus on disposal of assets (14,517) (4,284)
Transferred to unappropriated profit in respect of

incremental depreciation / amortisation charged during
the year (21,600) (18,014)

Balance at end of the year 2,355123 2,021,310

7.1 Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment in respect of leasehold and
freehold land is not available for distribution of dividend to the shareholders of the Group
in accordance with section 241 of the Companies Act, 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
9 LONG TERM FINANCING - SECURED
From banking companies and non-banking
financial institutions
Syndicated Islamic Finance Facility 9.1 - 142,857
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-1 9.2 105,964 78,250
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-2 9.3 - 83,333
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-3 9.4 433,043 577,390
Diminishing Musharakah Facility-4 9.5 475,986 -
Islamic Refinance Facility to Combat
COVID -19 (IRFCC) 9.6 28,003 69,647
Deferred income - Government grant 861 5,341
28,864 74,988
Islamic Refinance Facility to Combat
COVID-19 (IRFCC) 9.7 13,249 22,245
Deferred income - Government grant 1,516 4,073
14,765 26,318
Refinance Facility to Combat COVID-19 (RFCC) 9.8 45,339 78,486
Deferred income - Government grant 4,648 13,329
49,987 91,815
1,108,609 1,074,951
Less: current portion 255,190 495195
853,419 579,756
9.1 This represented the syndicated islamic finance facility, arranged and lead by Meezan

Bank Limited, obtained on profit rate basis at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.85% per annum.
The facility with sanctioned limit of Rs. 2,000 million has been fully repaid on August 22,
2024. The financing was secured by pari passu charge of Rs. 2,667 million on all present
and future SIHL's movable fixed assets and land / building located at H-8/4, Islamabad.
Meezan Bank Limited has the custody of original ownership documents of the SIHL's land
located at H-8/4 Islamabad.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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9.2 This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
under Diminishing Musharakah basis from First Habib Modaraba of Rs. 161.90 million
(2024: Rs. 119.10 million). Principal amount is repayable in 60 equal monthly instalments
carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.70% (2024: 3 months KIBOR plus 0.70%) per
annum. The unavailed limit of this facility is nil (2024 nil). This also represented the long
term islamic finance facility obtained from Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited, obtained on
profit rate basis at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.80% per annum. The facility with sanctioned
limit of Rs. 470.20 million has been fully repaid on September 30, 2024. The financing was
secured by first exclusive charge of Rs. 781.30 million against equipment / machinery.

9.3 This represented the long termislamic finance facility obtained from Meezan Bank Limited,
carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.85% per annum. The facility with sanctioned
limit of Rs. 500 million has been fully repaid on October 01, 2024. The financing was
secured by first pari passu charge of Rs. 667 million on all present and future fixed assets
of the SIHL.

9.4 This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained from
Bank Alfalah Limited of Rs. 577.40 million (2024: Rs. 577.40 million). Principal amount is
repayable in 16 equal quarterly instalments carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus
0.70% (2024: 3 months KIBOR plus 0.70%) per annum. The financing is initially secured
by a ranking charge of Rs. 800 million, which has been upgraded to a first exclusive charge
on the plant and machinery being financed under the DM facility to be installed at the
hospital located at H-8/4, Islamabad. The unavailed limit of this facility is nil (2024 nil).

9.5 This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
from Meezan Bank Limited of Rs. 475.90 million (2024 nil). Principal amount is repayable
in 16 equal quarterly instalments carrying profit rate at 3 months KIBOR plus 0.50% per
annum. The financing is secured by existing first pari passu charge of Rs. 800 million on all
present and future fixed assets of the SIHL. The unavailed limit of this facility is Rs. 124.10
million (2024 nil).

9.6 This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
from Meezan Bank Limited of Rs. 200 million (2024: Rs. 200 million) for the purpose of
import / purchase of medical equipment / machinery to combat COVID-19 under State
Bank of Pakistan IRFCC scheme. Principal amount shall be repaid by January 27, 2026 in
18 equal quarterly instalments with no profit rate. The financing is secured by first pari
passu hypothecation charge of Rs. 267 million on all present and future fixed assets of
the SIHL (excluding land and building). The unavailed limit of this facility is nil (2024 nil).
Since the financing under SBP refinance scheme carries no profit rate, the loan has been
recognised at present value using the SIHL's effective profit rate along with the recognition
of government grant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

(Rupees in '000")

Balance at beginning of the year 5,341 13,313
Amortisation during the year (4,480) (7,972)
Balance at end of the year 861 5,341

9.7

This represents the outstanding balance of long term islamic finance facility obtained
from Al Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited of Rs. 45.90 million (2024: Rs. 45.90 million) for
the purpose of import / purchase of medical equipment / machinery to combat COVID-19
under State Bank of Pakistan IRFCC scheme. Principal amount shall be repaid in 9 equal
half yearly instalments with profit rate of 1% perannum. The facility is secured by exclusive
charge of Rs. 55 million over equipment / machinery against DM IRFCC. The unavailed limit
of this facility is nil (2024 nil). Since the financing under SBP refinance scheme carries the
profit rate below the market rate, the loan has been recognised at present value using the
SIHL's effective profit rate along with the recognition of government grant.

2025 2024

(Rupees in '000")

Balance at beginning of the year 4,073 7,447
Amortisation during the year (2,557) (3,374)

Balance at end of the year 1,516 4,073

9.8

This represents the outstanding balance of long term finance facility obtained from United
Bank Limited of Rs. 185.20 million (2024: Rs. 185.20 million). Principal amount shall be
repaid by September 14, 2026 in 18 equal quarterly instalments carrying profit at 1% per
annum. The financing is secured by first pari passu charge of Rs. 267 million over fixed
assets (excluding land and building) of the SIHL. The unavailed limit of this facility is nil
(2024 nil). Since the financing under SBP refinance scheme carries the markup rate below
the market rate, the loan has been recognised at present value using the SIHL's effective
profit rate along with the recognition of government grant.

2025 2024

(Rupees in'000")

Balance at beginning of the year 13,329 27,830
Amortisation during the year (8,681) (14,501)
Balance at end of the year 4,648 13,329
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
10 DEFERRED LIABILITIES
Deferred taxation 10.1 244,422 354,960
Defined contribution plan 44 846 34,434
289,268 389,394
101 Deferred taxation
Deferred tax liability 10.1.1 530,575 604,045
Deferred tax asset 10.1.2 (286,153) (249,085)
Net deferred tax liability 244,422 354,960
1011 Deferred tax liability on taxable temporary
differences:
Accelerated depreciation / amortisation allowance 530,575 604,045
10.1.2 Deferred tax asset on deductible temporary
differences:
Right of use assets net of lease liabilities (57,984) (66,580)
Specific provisions (188,105) (130,739)
Retirement benefit obligation (40,064) (51,766)
(286,153) (249,085)
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

10.1.3 Breakup and movement of deferred tax balances is as follows:
. Other .
Deferred tax liabilities / (assets) Opening State.ment comprehensive Closing
balance of profit or loss . balance
income
(Rupees in '000')
2025
Effect of taxable temporary
differences
Accelerated depreciation /
amortisation allowance 604,045 (73,470) - 530,575
Effect of deductible temporary
differences
Right of use assets net of lease
liabilities (66,580) 8,596 - (57,984)
Specific provisions (130,739) (57,366) - (188,105)
Retirement benefit obligation (51,766) 44193 (32,491) (40,064)
354,960 (78,047) (32,491) 244,422
2024
Effect of taxable temporary
differences
Accelerated depreciation /
amortisation allowance 643,508 (39,463) - 604,045
Effect of deductible temporary
differences
Right of use assets net of lease
liabilities (59,683) (6,897) - (66,580)
Specific provisions (119119) (11,620) - (130,739)
Retirement benefit obligation (66,133) 62,972 (48,605) (51,766)
398,573 4,992 (48,605) 354,960
10.1.4 Deferred tax assets and liabilities on temporary differences are measured at the rate of 39% (2024: 39%).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
11 LEASE LIABILITIES
Balance at beginning of the year 630,307 466,987
Additions during the year 207,615 291,807
Interest expense during the year 32 102,801 72,436
Termination during the year (5,223) (399)
Payment during the year (236,081) (200,524)
Balance at end of the year 11.1 699,419 630,307
Less: current portion 192,895 146,911
506,524 483,396
111 Lease liabilities are payable as follows:
Minimum lease Interest Present value

payments of minimum
lease payments
(Rupees in '000")

2025
Less than one year 242,874 49979 192,895
Between one and five years 528,383 142,038 386,345
More than five years 218,502 98,323 120,179
989,759 290,340 699,419

2024
Less than one year 173,932 27,021 146,911
Between one and five years 540,635 188,183 352,452
More than five years 250,177 119,233 130,944
964,744 334,437 630,307
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
11.2 Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss
Interest expense on lease liabilities 32 102,801 72,436
Expense relating to short term / low value lease 31 26,218 16,400
129,019 88,836
12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Creditors 121 2,469,714 2,172,401
Accrued liabilities 752,488 630,555
Advances from customers - contract liability 12.2 422,014 384,383
Medical consultants' charges 726,226 476,006
Security deposits 12.3 144,573 132,451
Compensated absences 12.4 223,374 175,903
Defined contribution plan 31,027 16,185
Retention money 22,994 47,652
Shifa International Hospitals Limited (SIHL)
Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust (the Fund) 12.5 102,728 132,734
4,895,138 4,168,270
121 This includes payables to related parties
(unsecured) as detailed below:
Tameer-e-Millat Foundation (TMF) 4186 7,285
Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University (STMU) 42,798 31,566
46,984 38,851
12.2 Advances from customers - contract liability
Balance at beginning of the year 384,383 276,239
Revenue recognised during the year (71,099) (88,650)
Advance refund during the year (64,797) -
Advance received during the year 173,527 196,794
Balance at end of the year 422,014 384,383
12.3 This includes security deposits retained from employees of Rs. 54.44 million (2024

Rs. 47.53 million) held in separate bank account and balances obtained from customers
of Rs. 90.14 million (2024: Rs. 84.92 million) that are utilisable for the purpose of the
business in accordance with agreements with customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
12.4 Compensated absences
Balance at beginning of the year 175,903 145,524
Provision made for the year 136,518 103,063
312,421 248,587
Payments made during the year (89,047) (72,684)
Balance at end of the year 12.4.1 223,374 175,903
12.4.1 Actuarial valuation of compensated absences has not been carried out since SIHL
management believes that the effect of actuarial valuation would not be material.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")
12.5 The amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position:
Present value of defined benefit obligation 12.51 769150 556,506
Fair value of plan assets 12.5.2 (666,422) (423,772)
102,728 132,734
12.51 Movement in the present value of defined
benefit obligation:
Balance at beginning of the year 556,506 387,539
Interest cost 77,364 56,442
Current service cost 98,635 72,974
Benefits paid (60,107) (78,839)
Benefits payable (3,895) (2,635)
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit obligation 100,647 121,025
Balance at end of the year 769,150 556,506
12.5.2  Movement in the fair value of plan assets:
Balance at beginning of the year 423,772 217,966
Interest income on plan assets 73,956 48,772
Contributions 215,360 242112
Benefits paid (60,107) (78,839)
Benefits payable (3,895) (2,635)
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 17,336 (3,604)
Balance at end of the year 666,422 423,772
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
12.5.3  Charge for the year:
Current service cost 98,635 72,974
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 77,364 56,447
Interest income on plan assets (73,956) (48,772)
102,043 80,644
12.5.4 Remeasurement recognised in consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income
(oCql):
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit obligation 100,647 121,025
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income (17,336) 3,604
Remeasurement loss recognised in OCI 83,311 124,629
Deferred tax relating to remeasurement of
staff gratuity fund benefit plan (32,491) (48,605)
50,820 76,024
12.5.5 Movement in liability recognised in consolidated
statement of financial position:
Balance at beginning of the year 132,734 169,573
Charge for the year 102,043 80,644
Remeasurement recognised in OCl during the year 83,311 124,629
Contributions during the year (215,360) (242,112)
Balance at end of the year 102,728 132,734
12.5.6  Plan assets comprise of:
Term deposit receipts 559,671 306,190
Ordinary shares of SIHL 12.5.61 37,279 11,503
Cash and bank balances 89,616 122,328
Payable to outgoing members (20,144) (16,249)
666,422 423,772

12.5.6.1 Number of ordinary shares of SIHL held by the Fund at year end were 78,461 shares
(2024: 78,461 shares) with market value of Rs. 475.13 (2024: Rs. 146.61) per share.

12.5.7 Latest actuarial valuation was carried out by an independent actuary on June 30, 2025
using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
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2025 2024

12.5.8  Principal actuarial assumptions used in the
actuarial valuation:
Discount rate used for interest cost in profit or loss 14.75% 16.25%
Discount rate used for year end obligation 11.75% 14.75%
Expected rate of salary growth
- Salary increase FY 2025 N/A 13.75%
- Salary increase FY 2026 onward 11.75% 13.75%
Mortality rate SLIC SLIC
2001-2005  2001-2005
set back 1 set back 1
year year
Withdrawal rates Age based  Age based
Retirement assumption Age 60 Age 60
12.5.9 Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to assumptions set out
above. The following table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting period would have increased / decreased as a result of a
change in respective assumptions by one percent.
2025 2024
Defined benefit obligation Defined benefit obligation
Effect of 1% Effectof1%  Effectof 1% Effect of 1%
increase decrease increase decrease
(Rupees in '000')
Discount rate 714,039 833,098 519,684 598,872
Future salary increase 832,486 713,577 598,872 519,075
12.510  The average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at June 30, 2025 is 8 years
(20247 years).
12.511  The expected expenses for the next year amounting to Rs. 141.06 million.
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12.5.12  Risks associated with the scheme
Final salary risk
The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is greater than what is
assumed. Since the benefit is calculated on the final salary (which will closely reflect
inflation and other macroeconomic factors), the benefit amount increases as salary
increases.
Demographic risks
a) Mortality risk
The risk that the actual mortality experience is different than the assumed mortality. This
effect is more pronounced in schemes where the age and service distribution is on the
higher side.
b) Withdrawal risk
The risk of actual withdrawals experience is different from assumed withdrawal
probability. The significance of the withdrawal risk varies with the age, service and the
entitled benefits of the beneficiary.
c) Investment risk
Therisk of theinvestment under performing and being not sufficient to meet the liabilities.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
13 MARKUP ACCRUED
Long term financing 7974 23,858
14 TAXATION - NET
Tax refund at beginning of the year (258,787) (320,936)
Income tax paid / deducted at source during the year (1,591,071) (866,606)
(1,849,858) (1,187,542)
Income tax expense / levies 33 1,912,691 928,755
Tax payable / (refund) at end of the year 62,833 (258,787)
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15 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
151 Contingencies

15.1.1 The guarantees issued by bank in favour of Sui Northern Gas Pipelines Limited (SNGPL)
and Imtiaz Group (SMC-Private) Limited of aggregate sum of Rs. 36.60 million (2024
Rs. 33.10 million) on behalf of the SIHL in its ordinary course of business. Additionally, a
bank guarantee amounting to Rs. 44.50 million (2024: nil) has been issued in favour of
the Capital Development Authority (CDA) to secure obligations under the ICT Building
Control Regulations - 2020 (Amended 2023) on behalf of SMC Islamabad. Further, a letter
of guarantee amounted to Rs. 78.30 million issued in favor of CDA by insurance company
on behalf of the SMC Islamabad to cover its obligations under the Islamabad Capital
Territory (ICT) Building Control Regulations - 2020 (Amended 2023). This guarantee
stands expired during the current year.

151.2 The SIHL is facing claims and penalties amounting to Rs. 5.9 million (2024: Rs. 22.25
million). Against these claims the SIHL has made payments under protest amounting to
Rs. 2.4 million (2024 Rs. 1.4 million). In compliance with the directions of the Islamabad
High Court (IHC), the SIHL has furnished a bank guarantee for Rs. 0.5 million (2024 Rs.
1.5 million) and, submitted a pay order of Rs. 2 million to the IHC. These claims and
penalties originated from ongoing legal proceedings and complaints currently under
litigation before the Islamabad, Peshawar and Lahore High Courts and the Supreme
Court of Pakistan.

Furthermore, on June 06, 2012, the Competition Commission of Pakistan (CCP) imposed
apenalty of Rs. 20 millionagainst each Gulf Cooperation Council's (GCC) Approved Medical
Center (GAMC), including the SIHL, on the allegations of engaging in non-competitive
practices involving territorial division and equal allocation of customers among GAMCs.
The SIHL, in conjunction with other GAMCs, is actively contesting this matter which is
presently pending adjudication before the Competition Appellate Tribunal (CAT) and the
Supreme Court of Pakistan.

Subsequently, the CAT has adjudicated the matter and through order dated August 11,
2025, reduced the penalty from Rs. 20 million to Rs. 2 million. The SIHL, in conjunction
with other GAMCs, will contest the order of the CAT by preferring an appeal before the
Supreme Court of Pakistan.

Following the CAT's order, the CCP, without serving any notice to the SIHL and in
deviation from the procedure prescribed under the Competition Act, 2010, initiated
coercive recovery proceedings. On August 12, 2025, the CCP proceeded to attach the
SIHL's accounts and recovered an aggregate amount of Rs. 4.01 million, i.e., twice the
penalty determined by the CAT. Consequently, the SIHL is in the process of filing a Writ
Petition before the IHC seeking, inter alia, a declaration that the recovery is illegal and the
refund of the unlawfully recovered amount of Rs. 4.01 million.

The SIHL's management, based on advice from respective legal counsels, remains
confident of favourable resolutions in the aforementioned matters.
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15.1.3

15.1.4
15.1.4.1

15.1.4.2

15.1.4.3

During the year the SIHL has received a demand notice from the Capital Development
Authority (CDA) regarding the payment of regularisation charges. As per the notice dated
March 21, 2025, CDA has demanded payment of Rs. 790.76 million as regularisation
charges, out of which Rs. 384.92 million has already been paid by the SIHL. The balance
amount of Rs. 405.84 million is being contested vehemently as the same is beyond the
scope of legal charges / rates invoked at the time of demand. The SIHL intends to pursue
rigorously and avail all appropriate legal remedy before competent forum. The SIHL has
also expressed its protest in clear terms to the CDA against said excessive demand.
No provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements as the SIHLs
management as per advice of the legal counsel, is confident that a favorable outcome
will be achieved.

Contingencies related to income tax and sales tax are as follows:

The tax authorities amended the assessments for the tax years 2012 to 2016, 2019, 2021
and 2023 under section 122(5A) of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance).
They raised total tax demands of Rs. 648.70 million against these years. The SIHL, being
aggrieved, appealed these amended assessments before the Commissioner Inland
Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)] or the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue [ATIR], as applicable,
on various dates from September 2018 to February 2025. These appeals are currently
pending adjudication.

The tax authorities imposed taxes of Rs. 109.60 million, Rs. 178.40 million, Rs. 27.40
million, and Rs. 29.20 million under section 161/205 of the Ordinance for the tax years
2016, 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively, based on alleged non-deduction of tax on
payments. The SIHL, being aggrieved, appealed these assessments before the CIR(A).
Regarding the tax year 2012, the CIR(A) deleted the assessment, while for the tax years
2013 and 2016, the assessment was set aside, and for the tax year 2014, the assessment
was confirmed. The SIHL, still aggrieved, filed appeals for the tax years 2013, 2014, and
2016 before the ATIR. The appeals for the tax years 2013 and 2016 were filed on November
26, 2019 and June 06, 2023 respectively, and they are currently pending adjudication.
Additionally, the ATIR has set aside the assessment for the tax year 2014 for denovo
consideration.

The tax authorities amended the assessments for the tax years 2012 to 2018 under
section 122(1)/(5) of the Ordinance. They raised an aggregate tax demand of Rs. 2,537.10
million. Being aggrieved, the SIHL appealed these assessments before the CIR(A) except
tax year 2018. The CIR(A) annulled all the assessment orders from October 15, 2018 to
October 23, 2018, resulting in the deletion of the tax demands. Dissatisfied with the
CIR(A)'s decision, the tax department filed an appeal before the ATIR from November 15,
2018 to November 27, 2019. These appeals are currently pending adjudication. For the
tax year 2018, the SIHL appealed the assessment before the ATIR on July 24, 2024.
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15.1.4.4 The tax authorities imposed sales tax under section 11 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990, on the
alleged non-payment of sales tax on sales of scrap, fixed assets, and cafeteria services for
the tax years 2016 to 2020, raising total tax demands of Rs. 225.20 million for these years.
Upon appeal, the ATIR through orders from February 16, 2021 to July 30, 2024 deleted
the sales tax charged on cafeteria services and fixed assets but confirmed the sales tax
on scrap. Furthermore, for the tax years 2016 and 2020, the department has filed sales
tax references before the High Court, which are currently pending adjudication.

15.1.4.5 In the case of amalgamated entity, SNS Islamabad, the tax authorities amended the
assessment for tax year 2021 under section 122(5A) of the Ordinance, through an order
dated August 31, 2022, creating a demand of Rs. 8.50 million by disallowing a refund
adjustment from tax year 2020. The CIR(A) annulled the order on February 10, 2023.
However, a fresh notice for reassessment was issued on May 27, 2025, and a revised order
was passed on the same grounds, alleging the refund of Rs. 8.50 million as unverified.
Being aggrieved SIHL filed an appeal before CIR(A) on July 24, 2025 which is pending
adjudication.

Management is confident that the above disallowances and levies do not hold merit and
the related amounts have been lawfully claimed in the income and sales tax returns as
per the applicable tax laws and these matters will ultimately be decided in favour of the
SIHL. Accordingly, no provision has been made in respect of above in these consolidated

financial statements.
2025 2024

(Rupees in '000")

15.2 Commitments
15.2.1 Capital expenditure contracted 160,117 294,233
15.2.2 Letters of credit - 521187
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

161 The Group's leasehold and freehold lands were revalued as at June 30, 2025, by an
independent valuer on a fair market value basis.
16.2 Had there been no revaluation the carrying value would have been as under:
Cost Accumulated Carrying
amortisation value

(Rupees in ‘000’)

Freehold land

June 30, 2024 658,928 658,928

Leasehold land

June 30, 2024 1,621,716 190,700 1,431,016
16.3 Particulars of Group's freehold and leasehold land are as follows:
2025 2024
Location Nature Area

Shifa Cooperative Housing Society,

Islamabad Expressway - Sq. yds Freehold land 1003 1003
SNHF Hospital, Sheikhupura Road,

Faisalabad - Kanal Freehold land 49.6 49.6
SMCI Hospital, F-11, Islamabad - Kanal  Leasehold land 6.7 6.7
SIHL H-8/4, Islamabad* - Kanall Leasehold land 87.8 87.8

Neuro Sciences Institute, H-8/4,
Islamabad* - Sqg. yds Leasehold land 7100 7100

*The covered area includes multi-storey buildings.

16.4 Property, plant and equipment include items with aggregate cost of Rs. 3,541.89 million
(2024: Rs. 3,200.02 million) representing fully depreciated assets that are still in use of

the Group.

16.5 Property, plant and equipment of the SIHL are encumbered under an aggregate charge
of Rs. 7,665.59 million (2024: Rs. 8,116.83 million) in favour of banking companies under
various financing arrangements as disclosed in note 9.

16.6 The Forced Sale Value (FSV) of the revalued leasehold and freehold land has been
assessed at Rs. 2,902.60 million (2024: Rs. 2,739.98 million) and Rs. 963.27 million (2024

Rs. 825.81 million) respectively.
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16.7 Immediately after acquisition, the sale deed for the land and building of the SNS
Islamabad was duly registered with the sub-registrar in Islamabad, in accordance with
the provisions outlined in the allotment letter / indenture of lease deed. Subsequently,
the SNS Islamabad initiated formal proceedings with the Capital Development Authority
(CDA) to effectuate the change of title through the registered sale deed. However, the
CDA raised objections to the transfer, leading to the initiation of a legal suit by CDA. The
aforementioned suit was dismissed by the relevant learned district judge on January 29,
2024. The CDA have filed appeal against the judgment and Decree of the District Judge
before the honourable Islamabad High Court and the SNS Islamabad has filed cross
objections against the said appeal. The matter is currently pending adjudication before
the Islamabad High Court and there are reasonable grounds to believe that the case will
be decided in favour of the SNS Islamabad. After merger (as explained in note 1.1), the
parent company as successor will be impleaded, in the place of the SNS Islamabad, in the
pending civil appeal led by the CDA before the honourable Islamabad High Court against
the order of dismissal of earlier suit led by CDA wherein objections were raised on the
transfer of said property in the name of SNS Islamabad via registered sale deed.

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
16.8 Capital work in progress
Civil work 16.8.1 3,853,250 3,387,165
Installation of equipment 251,719 92,875

4,104,969 3,480,040

16.8.1 Civil work

This represents the cost of civil work mainly comprising of cost of materials, payments to
contractors and pre construction activities cost etc. as detailed below:

2025 2024

(Rupees in'000")

SMC Islamabad Hospital 1,375,763 1,291,867
SNH Faisalabad Hospital 2,252,863 1,839,590
Others 224,624 255,708

3,853,250 3,387,165

218  Shifalnternational Hospitals Limited
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2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Softwares in use 171 36,914 -
Software under development / deployment 17.2 5,787 39,375
42,701 39,375
171 Softwares in use
Cost
Balance at beginning of the year 106,468 106,882
Addition during the year 39,375 -
Impairment loss during the year - (414)
Balance at end of the year 145,843 106,468
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at beginning of the year 106,468 106,222
Charged during the year 2,461 246
Balance at end of the year 108,929 106,468
Carrying value 36,914 -
17.2 Software under development / deployment
Balance at beginning of the year 39,375 39,375
Addition during the year 17.2.1 5,787 -
Capitalised during the year (39,375) -
Balance at end of the year 5,787 39,375
Annual amortisation rate (percentage) 25 25
17.2.1 This represents advance paid for implementation of Oracle Fusion software.
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000')
18 INVESTMENT PROPERTY - AT COST
Balance at beginning of the year 720,292 748,450
Disposed off during the year (95,420) (28158)
Balance at end of the year 18.1 624,872 720,292
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18.1

This represents freehold land comprising of 11 plots at Shifa Cooperative Housing
Society, Islamabad Expressway (SCHS), 48K-3M-182 Sq ft at Chak No. 4, near Sargodha
Road, Faisalabad of which 20K-14M-181 Sqg ft are subject to possession proceedings
and 105.02 kanal at Motorway, Mouza Noon, Islamabad. An independent valuation
was conducted to determine the fair value of the investment property. The prices
were assessed through a market survey of comparable properties in the vicinity. The
fair value was based on the independent valuer's professional judgment, using openly
available information and inquiries made in the market. Valuation was carried out by an
independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and
has recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being
valued. The fair value and forced sale value of the land located at SCHS, Sargodha Road
Faisalabad and Motorway, Mouza Noon, Islamabad are Rs. 430 million, Rs. 146.24
million, Rs. 315.06 million (2024: Rs. 360.12 million, Rs.136.89 million, Rs. 425.02 million)
and Rs. 365.50 million, Rs. 116.99 million, Rs. 252.05 million (2024: Rs. 288.09 million,
Rs. 109.51 million, Rs. 340.02 million) respectively.

During the previous year, the SIHL was informed by its former property dealer about
the sale of 49 kanal of land located at Mouza Noon, Islamabad; however, the SIHL was
provided with the sale proceeds of only 10.83 kanal. Further, in coordination with land
revenue authorities based on the SIHL's verification of land title against official record
through an independent source, the authorities, in their latest assessment to date, have
confirmed the SIHL's ownership of 105.02 kanal, of which 6.5 kanal remain under review.
Accordingly, the sales proceeds of 36.7 kanal land were recorded in other receivables.
The matter is being pursued, and the final outcome of the assessment will form the basis

for determining the appropriate course of action.
2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
19 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS
Associated Companies (unquoted)
Shifa CARE (Private) Limited (SCPL) 19.1 - -
SIHT (Private) Limited (SIHT) 19.2 740,157 424,045
740,157 424,045
191 Shifa CARE (Private) Limited (SCPL)
Balance at beginning of the year - 45,079
Impairment loss on investment - (41,528)
Share in (loss) / profit for the year - (3,551)

Balance at end of the year - -

270  Shifalnternational Hospitals Limited
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This represents investment in 4,500,050 (2024: 4,500,050) fully paid ordinary shares of
Rs. 10 each of SCPL. The above investment in ordinary shares represents 50% (2024
50%) shareholding in SCPL held by the SIHL. The share of loss in SCPL for the year
amounting to Rs. 3.44 million is not recognised as the carrying amount of investment
has been reduced to zero due to recogintion of impairment loss during the last year.

Summary of results of SCPL are as under:

2025

2024

(Rupees in'000")

Summarised statement of financial position
Non-current assets

Current assets 2,609 2,921
Current liabilities (7,997) (1,437)
Net assets (5,388) 1,484
Reconciliation to carrying amount

Opening net assets 1,484 90,157
Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,872) (88,673)
Closing net assets (5,388) 1,484
Group's share in carrying value of net assets (2,694) 742
Group's share in total comprehensive loss (3,436) (44,336)
Summarised statement of profit or loss and

comprehensive income

Revenue for the year - gross - -
Depreciation and amortisation (174) (4,008)
Finance costs - (256)
Provision for taxation - -
Loss for the year (6,872) (88,673)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,872) (88,673)

1911

The above information is based on management financial statements of SCPL.
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2025 2024

(Rupees in'000")

19.2 SIHT (Private) Limited (SIHT)
Balance at beginning of the year 424,045 -
Investment made during the year 300,000 425,000
Share in profit / (loss) for the year 16,112 (955)
Balance at end of the year 740,157 424,045
19.2.1 In line with the decision of board of directors of the SIHL in its meeting held on April 12,

2023, and on September 23, 2023, the SIHL entered into a tripartite Shares Purchase
Agreement (SPA) with Shifa Foundation and its wholly owned subsidiary SIHT (Private)
Limited (SIHT) for acquiring 50% shareholding in SIHT from Shifa Foundation.

The SPA provides that the paid up share capital of SIHT shall be increased from Rs. 100.10
million to Rs. 500.10 million representing 5,001,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 100 each over
the arrangement period. The SPA further provides that the referred acquisition of equity
interest in SIHT to be made in 9 quarterly instalments shall be completed by September
30, 2025. Accordingly, by the end of the current year a sum of Rs. 300 million (2024 Rs.
425 million) has been paid to Shifa Foundation to acquire further 937,680 shares (2024
1,328,397 shares).

At year end the SIHL has investment in 2,266,077 (2024 1,328,397) fully paid ordinary
shares of Rs. 100 each of SIHT representing 45.30% (2024 29.50%) shareholding.

777  Shifalnternational Hospitals Limited
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Summary of results of SIHT are as under:

2025

2024

(Rupees in '000')

Summarised statement of financial position

Non-current assets 181,806 179,734
Current assets 415,707 285,698
Non-current liabilities (88,558) (100,482)
Current liabilities (165,714) (120,376)
Net assets 343,241 244,574
Reconciliation to carrying amount

Opening net assets 244 574 (84,443)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 48,668 (20,983)
Equity 50,000 350,000
Closing net assets 343,242 244 574
Group's share in carrying value of net assets 72,941 42,073
Group's share in total comprehensive income / (loss) 16,112 (955)
Summarised statement of profit or loss and

comprehensive income

Revenue for the year - gross 717,519 597,996
Depreciation and amortisation (39,814) (45,827)
Finance costs (13182) (17,398)
Provision for taxation (15,646) (10,065)
Profit / (loss) for the year 48,668 (20,983)
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 48,668 (20,983)

19.2.2
20

21

The above information is based on initialled financial statements of SIHT.

LONG TERM ADVANCES TO SUPPLIERS AND CONTRACTORS

This represents advance paid to suppliers and contractors for the services and
procurement of capital nature items for the construction of the hospital in Islamabad

and Faisalabad.

LONG TERM DEPOSITS

This represents security deposits given to various institutions / persons and are
refundable on termination of relevant services / arrangements. These are unsecured

and considered good.

ANNUALREPORT2025 223



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
22 STORES, SPARE PARTS AND LOOSE TOOLS
Stores 229,584 252,158
Spare parts 13,710 7,806
Loose tools 1,303 1,380
244,597 261,344
Less: provision for slow moving items 221 20,436 17,765
224161 243,579
221 Movement of provision for slow moving items
Balance at beginning of the year 17,765 19,657
Charged / (reversal) during the year 2,671 (1,892)
Balance at end of the year 20,436 17,765
23 STOCK IN TRADE

This represents medicines being carried at moving average cost.

2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
24 TRADE DEBTS
Unsecured - considered good
Related party - Shifa Foundation 24 1 14,422 7137
Others 1,742,710 1,581,998
1,757,132 1,589,135
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) 431.3 295,676 242 946

1,461,456 1,346,189

241 Maximum amount due from Shifa Foundation at the end of any month during the year
was Rs. 24.58 million (2024: Rs. 15.80 million).

274  Shifalnternational Hospitals Limited
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in'000")
25 LOANS AND ADVANCES
Secured - considered good
Executives 12,281 10,641
Other employees 16,420 23,239
25.7 28,701 33,880
Unsecured - consultants 7123 13,870
Advance paid for acquisition of shares 25.2 304,010 -
Unsecured - suppliers / contractors 112,090 406,745
423,223 420,615
451,924 454,495
251 These advances are secured against employee terminal benefits.

25.2 This represents the first instalment paid by SIHL to Interloop Holdings (Private) Limited
(ILHPL) under a tripartite Share Purchase Agreement (SPA) dated July 10, 2025 for the
acquisition of 96,572,500 shares (40% equity interest) in SMC Islamabad, with total
consideration of Rs. 1,520.05 million payable in 5 quarterly instalments.

The above arrangement was approved by shareholders of SIHL in the Extraordinary

General Meeting held on June 5, 2025.

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000")
26 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES
Unsecured - considered good
Short term prepayments 60,329 51,511
Other receivables 261 322,796 205,342
383,125 256,853
Less: allowance for expected credit losses
against other receivables 26.2 169,680 81,394
213,445 175,459

261 This includes Rs. 59.90 million (2024: Rs. 30.33 million) due from SIHT (Private) Limited.
Maximum amount due from SIHT (Private) Limited at the end of any month during the

year was Rs. 148.88 million (2024: Rs. 133.80 million).
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2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")
26.2 Allowance for expected credit losses against
other receivables (unrelated parties)
Balance at beginning of the year 81,394 58,377
Charged during the year 88,286 23,017
Balance at end of the year 169,680 81,394
27 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investment - at amortised cost 271 47,520 226,102
Investment in Mutual Funds - at fair value
through profit or loss 27.2 1,027,993 258,889
1,075,513 484,991
271 This represents term deposit receipt (TDR) having face value of Rs. 3 million (2024 Rs.
3 million) with three months maturity and Rs. 44.50 million with one month maturity
(2024 nil). Profit payable on monthly basis at the weighted average rate of 11.17% and
5.50% per annum respectively (2024: 18.98% per annum).
27.2 This represents investment in 2,175,860 (2024: 1,973,327), 76,983,043 (2024 nil),

226

227,898 (2024: 266,892), 10,467 (2024 nil) and 6,003 (2024: 307,880) units of UBL Al-
Ameen Islamic Cash Fund, NBP Islamic Money Market Fund, HBL Cash Fund and HBL
Money Market Fund respectively. Fair value of investments was determined using quoted

repurchase price at year end.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited
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2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")
28 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash at bank in:
Current accounts:
Local currency 820,414 403,709
Foreign currency 365,160 913,410
1,185,574 1,317,119
Saving accounts:
Local currency 2,561,048 813,619
Foreign currency 284 278
281 2,561,332 813,897
28.2 3,746,906 2,131,016
Cash in hand 14,714 26,187
3,761,620 2,157,203
28.1 Balance with saving account earned profit / markup at weighted average rate of 13.43%
per annum (2024: 16.52% per annum).
28.2 Balances with banks include Rs. 144.58 million (2024: Rs. 132.45 million) in respect of
security deposits (note 12.3).
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in '000")
29 REVENUE - NET
Inpatients 17,581,470 14,796,234
Outpatients 9,780,501 8,194,000
Other services 291 810,716 761,822
28,172,687 23,752,056
Less: discount 112,414 116,591
Less: sales tax 92,612 81,887
205,026 198,478
27,967,661 23,553,578
291 This represents revenue from external pharmacy outlets, cafeteria sales, operating leases
to related parties / other parties.
29.2 The revenue-net is excluding physician share of Rs. 2,910.43 million (2024: Rs. 1,930.07

million).
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Note

2025

2024

(Rupees in '000')

30 OTHER INCOME

Income from financial assets:

Profit on bank deposits 188,369 67,878
Dividend income from mutual fund -
investment at fair value through profit or loss 30,867 54172
Un-realised gain on investments at fair value
through profit or loss 27,700 15,145
Interest income on treasury bills 50,946 34,573
297,882 171,768
Income from other than financial assets:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,500 7,965
Exchange gain on foreign currency translation 7199 -
Sale of scrap - net of sales tax 13,147 23,222
Miscellaneous 301 62,474 30,324
85,320 61,511
383,202 233,279

301

228

Thisincludes an amount of Rs. 28.27 million (2024 nil) [net of sales tax] received from DAI

Pakistan (Private) Limited under the Fleming Fund Country Grant - Pakistan, to support
the implementation of the Clinical Engagement Program for Antimicrobial Resistance
(AMR) related interventions. Further, all relevant expenses of this project have been

recorded under the respective operating expense heads.

Shifa International Hospitals Limited
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000')
31 OPERATING COSTS

Salaries, wages and benefits 311 8,885,561 7,825,621
Medicines consumed 31.2 6,700,403 6,083,422
Supplies consumed 3,023,211 2,429,431
Utilities 1,353,224 1,329,745
Depreciation / amortisation 16 1,083,652 1,064,542
Repairs and maintenance 1,251,572 1,124,550
Printing and stationery 198,330 223,548
Cleaning and washing 271,309 271,966
Fee, subscription and membership 143,085 141,693
Advertising and sales promotion 41,378 51,070
Communication 60,282 70,615
Travelling and conveyance 60,484 49,356
Legal and professional 44912 43,771
Rent 26,218 16,400
Rates and taxes 31.3 396,262 24,701
Insurance 30,623 27,555
Amortisation on intangible assets 17 2,461 246
Property, plant and equipment written off 31.4 75,709 7168
Auditors' remuneration 31.5 7,794 5,812
Charged / (reversal) of provision for slow

moving stores 2,671 (1,892)
Loss on disposal of investment property 7,340 2,708
Exchange loss on foreign currency translation - 26,469
Impairment loss on tangible / intangible assets - 4,450
Impairment loss on investment - 41,528
Project cost - 27,660
Miscellaneous 147,275 89,462

23,813,756 20,981,597

311 This includes charge for employee gratuity of Rs. 102.04 million (2024: Rs. 80.64 million),
defined contribution plan (pension) of Rs. 129.23 million (2024: Rs. 109.03 million),
compensated absences of Rs. 136.52 million (2024: Rs. 103.06 million) and bonus of Rs.
302.79 million (2024: Rs. 170.73 million).
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31.2 This includes stock in trade amounting to Rs. 6.44 million (2024 nil) written off during
the year.

31.3 This includes an amount of Rs. 384.92 million paid to the Capital Development Authority
(CDA) for building regularisation charges (note 15.1.3).

31.4 This represents property, plant and equipment written off that were determined to be
irreparable after carrying out detailed reassessment / physical verification exercise by
the management.

2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")

31.5 Auditors' remuneration
Annual audit fee 3,521 2,380
Half yearly review fee 1,840 1,570
Statutory certifications 745 850
Group reporting 450 -
Out of pocket expenses 482 344

7,038 5144
Sales tax 756 668
7,794 5,812

32 FINANCE COSTS
Markup on long term loans - secured 145,775 249,397
Interest on lease liabilities 11 102,801 72,436
Credit card payment collection and bank charges 97148 99,258

345,724 421,091
33 INCOME TAX EXPENSE / LEVIES
Current tax
- for the year 1,765,172 928,755
- prior year 147,519 -
14 & 331 1,912,691 928,755
Deferred tax (expense) / income (78,046) 4,993
1,834,645 933,748
33.1 Reconciliation between current tax charged under the Ordinance with current tax

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, is as follows:
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000')

Current tax liability for the year as per the

Ordinance
Portion of current tax liability as per tax law,

representing income tax under IAS 12 1,904,974 913,531
Portion of current tax liability as per tax law,

representing levy in term of requirement of

IFRIC 21/ 1AS 37 33.2 7,717 15,224

1,912,691 928,755
33.2 This represents portion of final tax paid as per the Ordinance, representing levy in terms

of requirements of IFRIC 21 / IAS 37.

2025 2024

34 EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED
Profit for the year - continuing operations (Rupees in ‘000") 2,257,919 1,368,030

Profit for the year - discontinued operations (Rupees in ‘000") - 2,466

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year (Number in ‘000") 63,214 63,214

Earnings per share - basic and diluted (Rupees)

- Continuing operations 35.72 21.64
- Discontinued operations - 0.04
341 There is no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share of the Group.
35 CAPACITY UTILISATION

The actual inpatient available bed days, occupied bed days and room occupancy ratio of
SIHL are given below:

2024 2024 2024
Available bed days Occupied bed days Occupancy ratio
H-8 Hospital Islamabad 180,196 183,301 114,543 113,642 63.57% 62.00%
Faisalabad Hospital 20,805 20,630 6,957 7,583 33.44% 36.76%
35.1 Reported utilisation is a result of pattern of patient turnover under different specialties.
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36 UNAVAILED CREDIT FACILITIES

Unavailed credit facilities at year end other than those disclosed in note 9 of the

consolidated financial statements are as under:
2025 2024

(Rupees in'000")

Letters of credit 193,485 200,000
Diminishing musharakah 310,482 240,561
ljarah financing 51,709 51,709
Running musharkah 500,000 500,000
Letter of guarantee 30,368 32,416

1,086,044 1,024,686

Number
37 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Group's number of employees 5,665 5,348
Group's average number of employees 5,515 5,332
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38

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

The related parties comprise of associates, directors, major shareholders, key
management personnel, SIHL Employees’ Gratuity Fund Trust and the entities over which
directors are able to exercise influence.

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The Group considers
its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, company secretary, directors and
departmental heads to be its key management personnel. There are no transactions with
key management personnel other than their terms of employment / entitlement.

Related party transactions are based on arm's length between the parties as per pricing
policy approved by the board of directors of the SIHL. Transactions and balances with the

related parties are given below:
2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")

Shifa Foundation:

Transactions
Revenue from medical and other services earned

by the SIHL 24,062 13,997
Rent expense paid by and reimbursed to the SIHL 1,373 1,215
Acquisition of 937,680 (2024: 1,328,397) ordinary

shares of SIHT (Private) Limited 300,000 425,000
Balance
Receivable - unsecured at the year end 14,422 7137

Tameer-e-Millat Foundation:

Tranactions

Supplies provided to the SIHL 81,787 102,662
Other services provided to the SIHL 38.1 28,755 35,904
Rental services received / earned by the SIHL 14,418 6,353
Balance

Payable - unsecured at the year end 4186 7,285
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000')

Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University:

Transactions

Revenue from medical and other services earned

by the SIHL 26,063 28,402
Revenue from rent earned by the SIHL 4,256 3,869
Other services provided to the SIHL 38.1 84,924 113,015
Expenses paid and reimbursed to the SIHL 20,487 21,160
Expenses paid and reimbursed by the SIHL 29,788 33,410
Balance
Payable - unsecured at the year end 42,798 31,566

SIHT (Private) Limited:

Transactions

Revenue from medical services earned by the SIHL 770,121 568,496
Expenses paid by and reimbursed to the SIHL 4,534 5,724
Other services provided to the SIHL 38.1 3,544 26,267
Balance

Receivable - unsecured at year end 59,898 30,329

Shifa Cooperative Housing Society Limited:

Transactions
Plot maintenance charges paid by the SIHL 2,571 3112

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at year end - -

Shifa CARE (Private) Limited:

Transactions
Corporate shared services provided by the SIHL - 1,924

Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at year end - -

7234  Shifanternational Hospitals Limited




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000')
International Finance Corporation:
Transactions
Dividend paid by the SIHL 18,964 22,757
Balance
Receivable / (payable) - unsecured at year end - -
SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust:
Transactions
Payment made by the SIHL 215,360 242,112
Dividend paid by the SIHL 196 235
Balance
Payable - unsecured at year end 102,728 132,734
Remuneration including benefits and
perquisites of key management personnel 38.2 529,349 396,517

38.1 This represents services of nursing education, employees' children education and media
services.
38.2 This includes employee retirement benefits amounting to Rs. 19.09 million (2024: Rs.
14.68 million).
38.3 Following is the list of related parties and their shareholding for the year ended June 30,
2025.
Percentage of
SIHLs RP’'s
Sr# Name of related party (RP) Basis of relationship ~ shareholding shareholding in
in RP the SIHL
1 Shifa Foundation Common Directorship N/A* 6.57%
2 Tameer-e-Millat Foundation Common Directorship N/A 12.44%
3 SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund Trust Benefit plan N/A 0.12%
4 Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University Common Directorship N/A 0.27%
5 Shifa CARE (Private) Limited Associate and Common
Directorship 50% Nil
6 SIHT (Private) Limited Associate and Common
Directorship 45.3% Nil
7 Shifa Cooperative Housing Society Common Directorship
Limited N/A Nil
8 International Finance Corporation (IFC)  Associate Nil 12.00%
9 Ahmed E.H. Jaffer Foundation Common Directorship N/A Nil
*N/A stands for not applicable.
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2025

2024

Note (Rupees in '000')
42 ADJUSTMENT OF NON-CASH INCOME

AND EXPENSE
Depreciation / amortisation 31 1,083,652 1,064,542
Amortisation on intangible assets 31 2,461 246
Impairment loss on tangible / intangible assets 31 - 4,450
Expected credit losses 262 &431.3 141,016 116,289
Property, plant and equipment written off 31 75,709 7168
Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment 30 (2,500) (7,965)
Gain on termination of right of use assets (1,180) (75)
Loss on disposal of investment property 31 7,340 2,708
Provision for compensated absences 31 136,518 103,063
Provision for defined contribution plan 31 129,225 109,027
Provision for bonus for employees 31 302,795 170,730
Provision for gratuity 31 102,043 80,644
Charged / (reversal) of provision for

slow moving stores 31 2,671 (1,892)
Share of (profit) / loss of associates 19 (16,112) 4,506
Impairment loss on long term investment 31 - 41,528
Gain on investments and bank deposits 30 (297,882) (171,768)
(Gain) / loss on foreign currency translation 30 & 31 (7199) 26,469
Finance costs 32 345,724 421,092

2,004,281 1,970,762
43 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk

Risk management framework

The Board meets frequently throughout the year for developing and monitoring the
Group's risk management policies. The Group's risk management policies are established
to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
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systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's
activities. The Group, through its standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined
and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and

obligations.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Group's risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk

management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

431 Credit risk

Credit risk represents the financial loss that would be recognised at the reporting date
if counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted. The Group does not have
significant exposure to any individual counter-party. To reduce exposure to credit risk,
the Group has developed a formal approval process whereby credit limits are applied to
its customers. The management also regularly monitors the credit exposure towards
the customers and makes allowance for ECL for those credit exposure. Furthermore, the
Group has credit control in place to ensure that services are rendered to customers with

an appropriate credit history.

4311 Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The

maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2025 2024

(Rupees in '000")

Long term deposits 117,961 126,050
Trade debts 1,461,456 1,346,189
Other receivables 153,116 123,948
Markup accrued 19,219 4 383
Other financial assets 1,075,513 484,991
Bank balances 3,746,906 2,131,016

6,574,171 4,216,577

240
]

The Group is also exposed to credit risk from its operating and short term investing
activities. The Group's credit risk exposures are categorised under the following headings:
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431.2 Counterparties
The Group conducts transactions with the following major types of counterparties:
Trade debts

Trade debts are essentially due from government companies / institutions, private
companies and individuals to whom the Group is providing medical services. Normally
the services are rendered to the panel companies on agreed rates and limits from
whom the Group does not expect any inability to meet their obligations. The Group
manages credit risk in trade debts by limiting significant exposure to the customers
not having good credit history. Furthermore, the Group has credit control in place
to ensure that services are rendered to customers with an appropriate credit history
and makes allowance for ECL against those balances considered doubtful of recovery.

Bank balances and investments

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in liquid securities and maintaining
bank accounts only with counterparties that have a high credit ratings and therefore
management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade debts at the reporting date by type of

customer was:
2025 2024

(Rupees in '000)

Government companies 1,004,186 845,715
Private companies 397,992 446124
Individuals 340,532 290,159
Related parties 14,422 7137

1,757,132 1,589,135
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431.3 Impairment losses
The ageing of trade debts at the reporting date was:
2025 2024
Gross debts Allowance Gross debts Allowance
for ECL for ECL
(Rupees in ‘000')
Not past due 592,897 4,566 498,244 3,178
1-2 months 463,688 13,068 357,017 12,967
3 -4 months 139,545 7,889 218,635 30,316
5-7 months 123,122 17,642 148,772 24,285
8 - 12 months 110,930 46,906 98,670 31,039
Above 12 months 326,950 205,605 267,797 141161
1,757,132 295,676 1,589,135 242,946
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade debts during the year
was as follows:
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in ‘000’')
Balance at beginning of the year 242 946 228,362
Expected credit losses 52,730 93,273
Bad debts written off - (78,689)
Balance at end of the year 24 295,676 242946
431.4  The ageing of Shifa Foundation (SF) and SIHT (Private) Limited at the reporting date was:
2025 2024
Gross debts Allowance Gross debts Allowance
/ Other for ECL / Other for ECL
receivables receivables
Note (Rupees in '000")
Shifa Foundation
1 -6 months 24 14,422 - 7137 -
SIHT (Private) Limited
1 -3 months 26.1 59,898 - 30,329 -
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4315 TheGroup maintained balancesofRs. 3,746.91 million (2024:Rs. 2,131.02 million) with Banks
and Rs. 1,027.99 million (2024: Rs. 258.89 million) with Asset Management Companies as
at June 30, 2025. Management has assessed the credit quality of the counterparties as
satisfactory. Geographical analysis and credit rating information is given below:

Credit Rating Rating 2024

Banks / financial institutions Agency Short term Long term (Rupees in ‘000)
Pakistan:
Habib Bank Limited (HBL) JCR-VIS Al+ AAA 886,697 1,046,878
Meezan Bank Limited JCR - VIS Al+ AAA 281,711 500,902
Al - Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited ~ JCR - VIS A1 AA- 1,970,886 285,440
United Bank Limited (UBL) JCR - VIS Al+ AAA 21,062 57,686
MCB Bank Limited PACRA AT+ AAA 19,260 13,854
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan

Limited JCR - VIS AT+ AA 83,241 34,444
Askari Bank Limited PACRA Al+ AA+ 14 14
Faysal Bank Limited JCR - VIS AT+ AA+ 37,032 53,778
Bank Alfalah Limited PACRA AT+ AAA 48,196 6,030
Bank Al Habib Limited PACRA AT+ AAA 384,791 122,398
National Bank of Pakistan (NBP)  JCR - VIS Al+ AAA 13,890 9,592
Habib Metropolitan Bank Limited PACRA Al+ AA+ 126 -
UBL - Al Ameen Islamic Cash Fund ~ JCR - VIS - AA+(f) 220,283 199,566
NBP Islamic Money Market Fund PACRA - AA(f) 783,072 -
HBL Cash Fund JCR - VIS - AA+(f) 24,636 59,323
HBL Money Market Fund JCR - VIS - AA+(f) 2 -

43.2  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due. The Group's approach to manage liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that
it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group's reputation. For this purpose, the Group has credit facilities as mentioned in notes
9 and 36 to these consolidated financial statements. Further, liquidity position of the
Group is monitored by the Board through budgets, cash flow projections and comparison
with actual results.
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Following is the maturity analysis of financial liabilities:

Carrying Six Six to One to Twoto  Above five
amount months twelve two years five years years
or less months

(Rupees in ‘000")

2025
Long term financing- secured 1,108,609 136,369 118,795 276,752 546,986 29,707
Deferred liabilities 44 846 - - 44 846 - -
Trade and other payables 3,948,428 3,948,428 - - - -
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 48,935 - - - -
Mark up accrued 7974 7974 - - - -
5158792 4141706 118,795 321,598 546,986 29,707
2024
Long term financing-secured 1,074,951 361,803 133,392 243,370 336,386 -
Deferred liabilities 34,434 - - 34,434 - -
Trade and other payables 3,662,078 3,662,078 - - - -
Unclaimed dividend 44730 44,730 - - - -
Mark up accrued 23,858 23,858 - - - -

4,840,051 4,092,469 133,392 277,804 336,386 -

43.3

43.31

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities is given in note 11.
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates,
markup rates and equity prices will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
The Group is exposed to currency, mark up rate and market price risk.

Foreign currency risk
Exposure to foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exist due to transactions
with foreign undertakings and cash in foreign currency bank account. The Group's exposure

to foreign currency risk is as follows:
2025 2024

(Amount in ‘000’)

Euro UsD Euro UsD
Bank balances - 1,289 - 3,285
Letter of credit - - (555) (1,460)
- 1,289 (555) 1,825
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2025 2024

(Rupees in ‘000)

Bank balances - 365,444 - 913,689
Letter of credit - - (165,397)  (406,837)
365,444 (165,397) 506,852

Following are significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate Closing rate
2025 2024 2025 2024
(Rupees)
USD 1 - Buying 27914 283.02 283.53 278.15
USD 1 - Selling 279.57 283.45 283.97 278.59
Euro 1 - Buying - 306.25 - 297.45
Euro 1 - Selling - 306.72 - 297.92

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

A 10 percent variation of PKR against USD at June 30 would have effected equity and profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular markup rates, remains constant.

Change in Foreign Exchange Effect on Effect on
Rates Profit Equity
% (Rupees in '000)

2025

Foreign currencies +10% 22,292 22,292
Foreign currencies -10% (22,292) (22,292)
2024

Foreign currencies +10% 20,829 20,829
Foreign currencies -10% (20,829) (20,829)

43.3.2 Markup rate risk

The markup rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Majority of the
interest rate exposure arises from long term financing, short term investments and
deposits with banks. At the reporting date, the markup rate profile of the Group's markup
bearing financial instruments are:
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '‘000)
Financial assets
Investment - at amortised cost 271 47,520 226,102
Bank balances 28 2,561,332 813,897
2,608,852 1,039,999
Financial liabilities
Financing - secured 9 (1,1708,609) (1,074,951)
1,500,243 (34,952)

43.3.3

The effective markup rates for the financial assets and liabilities are mentioned in respective
notes to the financial statements.

Markup rate sensitivity analysis

If markup rates had been 50 basis points higher / lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's profit for the year ended June 30, 2025 would decrease / increase by
Rs. 0.43 million (2024: Rs. 1.11 million). This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure
to markup rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Price risk

The Group's price risk arises from investments in units as disclosed in note 27.2 which are
designated at fair value through profit or loss, however, in accordance with the investment
strategy, the performance of units is actively monitored and they are managed on a fair
value basis.

Price risk sensitivity analysis

If the fair value of mutual fund investments at the year end had fluctuated by 1% higher or
lower, with all other variables held constant, the profit for the year would have been higher
or lower by Rs. 6.27 million (2024: Rs. 1.58 million), primarily due to changes in the fair
value of investments.
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43.4  Financial instrument by category

Amortised Fair value Total
cost through
profit or loss

(Rupees in '000')

Financial assets

Maturity upto one year

Trade debts 1,461,456 - 1,461,456

Deposits and other receivables 153,116 - 153,116

Markup accrued 19,219 - 19,219

Other financial assets 47,520 1,027,993 1,075,513

Cash and bank balances 3,761,620 - 3,761,620

Maturity after one year

Long term deposits 117,961 - 117,961
5,560,892 1,027,993 6,588,885

Financial liabilities

Maturity upto one year

Trade and other payables 3,948,428 - 3,948,428

Unclaimed dividend 48,935 - 48,935

Markup accrued 7,974 - 7,974

Current portion of long term

financing - secured 255190 - 255,190

Current portion of lease liabilities 192,895 - 192,895

Maturity after one year

Long term financing - secured 853,419 - 853,419

Deferred liabilities 44 846 - 44 846

Lease liabilities 506,524 - 506,524
5,858,211 - 5,858,211

ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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Amortised Fair value Total
cost through
profit or loss

2024 (Rupees in ‘000’)
Financial assets
Maturity upto one year
Trade debts 1,346,189 - 1,346,189
Deposits and other receivables 123,948 - 123,948
Markup accrued 4,383 - 4,383
Other financial assets 226102 258,889 484,991
Cash and bank balances 2,157,203 - 2157203
Maturity after one year
Long term deposits 126,050 - 126,050

3,983,875 258,889 4,242,764
Financial liabilities
Maturity upto one year
Trade and other payables 3,662,078 - 3,662,078
Unclaimed dividend 44730 - 44730
Markup accrued 23,858 - 23,858
Current portion of long term

financing - secured 495195 - 495195

Current portion of lease liabilities 146,911 - 146,911
Maturity after one year
Long term financing - secured 579,756 - 579,756
Deferred liabilities 34,434 - 34,434
Lease liabilities 483,396 - 483,396

5,470,358 - 5,470,358
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43.5

Fair value

Fair value versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown

in the consolidated statement of financial position, are as follows:

2025 2024
Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value
value value
(Rupees in ‘000’)

Assets carried at amortised cost
Long term deposits 117,961 117,961 126,050 126,050
Trade debts 1,461,456 1,461,456 1,346,189 1,346,189
Deposits and other receivables 153,116 153,116 123,948 123,948
Markup accrued 19,219 19,219 4,383 4,383
Other financial assets 47,520 47,520 226102 226102
Cash and bank balances 3,761,620 3,761,620 2,157,203 2,157,203

5,560,892 5,560,892 3,983,875 3,983,875
Assets carried at fair value
Other financial assets 1,027,993 1,027,993 258,889 258,889
Liabilities carried at amortised cost
Long term financing - secured 853,419 853,419 579,756 579,756
Deferred Liabilities 44 846 44 846 34,434 34,434
Lease liabilities 506,524 506,524 483,396 483,396
Trade and other payables 3,948,428 3,948,428 3,662,078 3,662,078
Unclaimed dividend 48,935 48,935 44730 44,730
Markup accrued 7974 7,974 23,858 23,858
Current portion of long term

financing - secured 255,190 255,190 495,195 495,195

Current portion of lease liabilities 192,895 192,895 146,911 146,911

5,858,211 5,858,211 5,470,358 5,470,358

The basis for determining fair values is as follows:

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based
on the government yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit spread.
For instruments carried at amortised cost, since the majority of the interest bearing
investments are variable rate based instruments, there is no difference in carrying amount
and the fair value. Further, for fixed rate instruments, since there is no significant difference
in market rate and the rate of instrument and therefore most of the fixed rate instruments
are short term in nature, fair value significantly approximates to carrying value.
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44 FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
Other financial assets
Fair value of investment in mutual funds (note 27.2) has been determined using quoted
repurchase price at reporting date and categorised under level 1 of fair value hierarchy.
Fair value of land
Lands owned by the Group are valued by independent valuers to determine the fair values
of lands as at reporting date. The fair value of lands subject to revaluation model fall under
level 2 of fair value hierarchy.
There were no transfer amongst the levels during the year. Further, there were no changes
in the valuation techniques during the year.
45 DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT FOR COMPANIES NOT ENGAGED IN SHARIAH NON-
PERMISSBILE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
Following information has been disclosed as required under amended part | clause VIl of
Fourth Schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 as amended via S.R.O 1278(1)/2024 dated
August 15, 2024
2025 2024
Note (Rupees in'000")
Financing as per islamic mode
Long term financing (including current portion) 9 1,058,622 983,136
Short term shariah compliant investments
Investment in Mutual Fund - at fair value
through profit or loss 27 1,003,355 199,566
Shariah compliant bank balances
Bank balances 28 2,691,664 185,244
Shariah compliant revenue
Revenue - net 29 27,967,661 23,553,578
Dividend earned on shariah compliant investments
Dividend income from mutual fund - investments
at fair value through profit or loss 30 27,690 54172
Profit earned from shariah compliant bank balances
Profit on bank balances 30 179,005 41,353
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2025 2024

Note (Rupees in '000")

Exchange gain earned from actual currency
Exchange gain / (loss) 30 & 31 7199 (26,469)
Profit paid on islamic mode of financing
Long term financing 32 145,023 248179
Source and detailed breakup of other income
Shariah compliant
Un-realised gain on investments at fair value

through profit or loss 30 25,803 15145
Others 30 286,725 156,383
Non-Shariah compliant
Un-realised gain on investments at fair value

through profit or loss 30 1,897 -

Profit on bank balances 30 9,364 25,954
Interest income on treasury bills 30 50,946 34,573
Others 30 8,467 1,224

Relationship with sharia compliant financial institutions / takaful operators

Name Relationship

Al-Baraka Bank (Pakistan) Limited Funded facility and Bank balance

Meezan Bank Limited Funded / Non-funded facility and Bank balance
Habib Bank Limited Funded / Non-funded facility and Bank balance
Dubai Islamic Bank Pakistan Limited Bank balance

Faysal Bank Limited Bank balance

Bank Alfalah Limited Funded facility and Bank balance

First Habib Modaraba Funded facility

EFU General Insurance Limited Takaful

Jubilee General Insurance Company Limited Takaful
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46 OPERATING SEGMENTS

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of single
reportable segment. All revenue of the Group is earned in Pakistan. All non-current assets
of the Group at June 30, 2025 are located in Pakistan. There is no other segment with
more than 10% of total revenue of the Group for the year.

47 NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Theboardofdirectorsofthe SIHL intheirmeetingheld on September06,2025has proposed
a final cash dividend for the year ended June 30, 2025 @ Rs. 5 per share, amounting to
Rs. 316.07 million for approval of the members in the Annual General Meeting to be held
on October 25, 2025. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30,
2025 do not include the effect of the final dividend which will be accounted for in the year
in which it is approved.

48 CORRESPONDING FIGURES

Corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified, wherever considered
necessary, for better presentation. However, following reclassification has been made
during the year.

2024
Description Note (Rupees in '000")
Reclassification from Stock in trade to Stores, spare parts
and loose tools 22 & 23 23,545

49 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors of the SIHL on September 06, 2025.

50 GENERAL

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest one thousand Pak Rupees unless otherwise
stated.

RN TS W \3‘

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING

AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

Number of

Size of holding of shares

Total shares held

shareholders From To
700 1 100 14,849
271 101 500 68,712
1,074 501 1,000 569,689
426 1,001 5,000 728,076
71 5,001 10,000 530,467
65 10,001 15,000 728,848
30 15,001 20,000 517,469
23 20,001 25,000 499,993
12 25,001 30,000 331,420
8 30,001 35,000 256,329
4 35,001 40,000 150,225
8 40,001 45,000 336,842
11 45,001 50,000 516,824
12 50,001 55,000 629,527
3 55,001 60,000 174,091
3 60,001 65,000 188,165
3 65,001 70,000 202,275
4 70,001 75,000 286,327
3 75,001 80,000 233,094
4 80,001 85,000 324,224
6 85,001 90,000 534,134
5 90,001 95,000 459,718
4 95,001 100,000 394,894
3 100,001 105,000 306,000
2 105,001 110,000 215,856
1 110,001 115,000 110,125
1 115,001 120,000 117104
4 120,001 125,000 490,847
6 125,001 130,000 766,405
1 130,001 135,000 134,527
4 135,001 140,000 553,701
1 140,001 145,000 141,576
1 145,001 150,000 145,219
3 150,001 155,000 457,262
3 155,001 160,000 471,673
1 160,001 165,000 162,792
1 165,001 170,000 165,977
1 170,001 175,000 173,706
1 190,001 195,000 193,187
1 200,001 205,000 205,000
2 205,001 210,000 414,410
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Number of Size of holding of shares Total shares held
shareholders From To
1 210,001 215,000 211,777
1 235,001 240,000 240,000
3 245,001 250,000 744,586
1 250,001 255,000 251,492
1 255,001 260,000 258,696
1 265,001 270,000 269,780
3 270,001 275,000 816,989
1 280,001 285,000 283,925
1 285,001 290,000 285,350
1 290,001 295,000 291144
2 305,001 310,000 612,612
1 310,001 315,000 310,041
1 330,001 335,000 334,098
1 335,001 340,000 339146
1 360,001 365,000 361,457
1 410,001 415,000 412,720
1 420,001 425,000 423,610
1 425,001 430,000 425,340
1 445,001 450,000 448,533
2 450,001 455,000 901,854
1 465,001 470,000 468,506
1 510,001 515,000 513103
1 540,001 545,000 543,502
1 595,001 600,000 599,993
1 600,001 605,000 603,673
1 605,001 610,000 610,000
1 620,001 625,000 621,596
1 660,001 665,000 662,158
1 705,001 710,000 707,834
1 885,001 890,000 885,205
1 940,001 945,000 941,080
1 1,390,001 1,395,000 1,394,649
1 1,480,001 1,485,000 1,480,781
1 1,810,001 1,815,000 1,810,569
1 1,920,001 1,925,000 1,922,909
1 2,355,001 2,360,000 2,355,253
1 2,995,001 3,000,000 3,000,000
1 3,785,001 3,790,000 3,785,345
1 5,210,001 5,215,000 5,212,633
1 5,385,001 5,390,000 5,385,160
1 7,585,001 7,590,000 7,585,725
2,834 63,214,383
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CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDING

AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

Categories of shareholders Number of Number of Percentage
shareholders shares held

CHARITABLE TRUSTS 13 12,094,424 1913
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 4 11,503,178 18.20
JOINT STOCK COMPANIES 19 370,222 0.59
MUTUAL FUND 40 5,418,924 8.57
OTHERS 32 997,000 1.58
INSURANCE COMPANIES 4 887,103 1.40
INVESTMENT COMPANIES 1 29,500 0.05
INDIVIDUALS 2721 31,914,032 50.49
Total 2,834 63,214,383 100.00
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DISCLOSURE IN CONNECTION WITH THE
PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING AS REQUIRED
BY THE CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

AS AT JUNE 30, 2025

‘ Categories of shareholders Number of shareholders Shares held | Percentage
Directors, Chief Executive Officer,
and their spouses and minor children * 13 5,623,476 8.90
Associated Companies, Undertakings
and related parties ** 5 19,850,730 31.40
Executives 3 4,148 0.01
Banks, Development Financial Institutions,
Non Banking Financial Institutions 4 11,503,178 18.20
Shareholders holding 10 % or more voting
interest *** 2 15,447,617 24.44
Joint Stock Companies 19 370,222 0.59
* No. of Shares held by Directors, CEO and their spouses
Dr. Habib-Ur-Rahman 412,720 0.65
Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque 268,622 0.42
Dr. Manzoor H. Qazi 1,484,549 2.35
Mr. Qasim Farooq Ahmad 2,094,494 3.31
Dr. Samea Kauser Ahmad 1,051,205 1.66
Syed llyas Ahmed 11,562 0.02
Dr. Mohammad Naseem Ansari 16,983 0.03
Dr. Mohammad Salim Khan 96,451 0.15
Shah Naveed Saeed 13,798 0.02
Mr. loan Philippe Cleaton Jones (Nominee of International Finance Corporation) - 0.00
Mr. Taimoor Shah 155,613 0.25
Mrs. Shahida Rahman W/o Dr. Habib-Ur-Rahman 13,379 0.02
Mrs. Sana Zeeshan W/o Dr. Zeeshan Bin Ishtiaque 4,100 0.01
** Shares held by related parties
Tameer-e-Millat Foundation 7,861,892 12.44
International Finance Corporation 7,585,725 12.00
Shifa Foundation 4,154,452 6.57
Shifa Tameer-e-Millat University 170,200 0.27
SIHL Employees' Gratuity Fund 78,461 0.12
Shareholders with 10 % or more voting interest
Tameer-e-Millat Foundation 7,861,892 12.44
International Finance Corporation 7,585,725 12.00
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FORM OF PROXY

39TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

l/We of
beingamember of Shifalnternational Hospitals Ltd. FolioNo./CDCA/cNo.

No. of Shares hereby appoint

of Folio No./CDC A/c No. or failing
him/her of Folio
No./CDC A/c No. who is a member of the Company as my/

our proxy in my/our absence to attend and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 39th
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 1100 hours on October 25, 2025, and

at any adjournment thereof.

As witness my hand this day of 2025.
Signed by the said

Revenue
Stamp

(Signature must agree with the
SPECIMEN signature registered with

the Company)
Witnesses:
1 Signature 2 Signature
Name Name
Address Address
CNIC/Passport No. CNIC/Passport No.
Important:

1. This form of Proxy, duly completed, signed and stamped must be deposited at the Company's Registered Office
situated at Sector H-8/4 Islamabad, not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

2. AProxy must be a member of the Company. Notwithstanding the above, a non-member may be appointed as a proxy
by a member participating in General Meetings through e-voting in the manner stipulated under the applicable laws.

3. If amember appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxy are deposited by a member with
the Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered invalid.

4. CDC account holder, sub account holder/shareholder may appoint proxy and the proxy must produce attested copy
of his/her CNIC or original passport at the time of attending the meeting.
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